The Economics of Curbing Smoking in Turkey:

A Scoping Review

Supply, Demand, Health, and Public Policy Aspects

TEPAV Tobacco Control Policy Research Team - 2020



The Economics of Curbing Smoking in Turkey: A Scoping Review

Supply, Demand, Health, and Public Policy Aspects

August 2020 Ankara, Turkey

Address: Söğütözü Cad. No: 43 Söğütözü/ANKARATelephone: +90 312 292 5500Fax: +90 312 292 5555Web: www.tepav.org.trE-mail: tepav@tepav.org.tr

Contents

| Figures | ii |
|---|-----|
| Tables | v |
| Abbreviations | vi |
| Abstract | 1 |
| Executive Summary | 3 |
| Introduction | 7 |
| A. Tobacco Industry Supply Dynamics | 9 |
| B. Demand Dynamics: Tobacco Use Patterns and Behavior | 21 |
| C. Health Effects and Related Burden | 54 |
| D. Public Policies | 66 |
| E. Overall Evaluation and Setting out the Next Policy Research Questions | 123 |
| References | 130 |
| Annex 1. Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19 (Survey Questionnaire) | 152 |
| Annex 2. Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19 (Survey Demographics) | 155 |
| Annex 3. About the Economic Policy Research Foundation of Turkey (TEPAV) | 157 |

Figures

| Figure 1 - Sales of conventional tobacco products and alternatives in the world, RSP, billion \$ (%), 2018 |
|---|
| Figure 2 - Retail sales volume of the tobacco industry in the world, total and per capita, RSP, 2004-2018 |
| Figure 3 - Comparison of per capita retail sales volume of the tobacco industry in Turkey and the world, RSP, \$, 2004-2018 |
| Figure 4 - Retail sales volume of the tobacco industry in Turkey, total and per capita constant TL, RSP, 2004-2018 |
| Figure 5 - Breakdown of retail sales of conventional tobacco products and alternatives by countries, RSP, 2018 |
| Figure 6 - Breakdown of retail sales of conventional tobacco products and alternatives by product type |
| in top 15 countries (with the highest retail sales volume), RSP, 2018 |
| Figure 7 - Top 15 countries in production of raw tobacco (thousand tons) and share of these countries in |
| the global raw tobacco production (%), 1961, 1980, 2000, 2018 |
| Figure 8 - Total production of tobacco products in Turkey, thousand tons, 2003-2019 |
| Figure 9 - Shares of local versus imported tobacco used by manufacturers in Turkey, %, 2003-2019 17 |
| Figure 10 - Economic value generated in the value chain of tobacco products in Turkey, 2017 |
| Figure 11 - Turkey's raw tobacco and tobacco product exports and imports, million \$ and global ranking, |
| 2000-2019 |
| Figure 12 - Global prevalence of tobacco use by gender, +15 population, age standardized, %, 2000- |
| 2025 |
| Figure 13 - Projected tobacco use rate by regions, +15 population, age standardized, 2020 |
| Figure 14 - Projected tobacco use rates by income levels and genders, +15 population, age standardized, |
| %, 2020 |
| Figure 15 - Estimated tobacco consumption rates by regions and types of tobacco products, +15 |
| population, age standardized, %, 2018 |
| Figure 16 - Estimated tobacco consumption rates by income levels and type of tobacco products, +15 |
| Firm 17 Countries to have noticing to the CATE country of April 4, 2020 |
| Figure 17 - Countries to have participated in a GATS survey, as of April 4, 2020 |
| Figure 18 - Benchmark countries selection process and criteria set |
| Figure 19 - Patterns of tobacco smoking, +15 population, 10rkey, %, 2008-2012-2016 |
| Figure 20 - Prevalence of tobacco smoking in benchmark countries, +15 population, %, earnest and latest vears available* |
| Figure 21 - Smoking prevalence by gender in benchmark countries ± 15 population % 2016 37 |
| Figure 22 - Daily smoking prevalence rates by gender throughout years for different data sources in |
| Turkey +15 population % 2008-2019 |
| Figure 23 - Daily tobacco smoking prevalence rate in benchmark countries by age groups ± 15 |
| population % 2016 |
| Figure 24 - Shares of various age groups that smoke in Turkey, +15 population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 25 - Daily smoking prevalence rates for youth between the ages of 15 and 17 throughout years |
| and different data sources in Turkey, %. 2008-2019 |
| Figure 26 - Share of students in Turkey aged between 13 and 15 who currently use any tobacco product. |
| %, 2003-2017 |

| Figure 27 - Starting age for smoking daily in Turkey, % of current daily smokers, 2016 |
|--|
| Figure 28 - Share of the daily tobacco smokers that began smoking under the age of 18 in benchmark |
| countries, +15 population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 29 - Starting age for smoking daily in Turkey by gender, % of current daily smokers, 2016 41 |
| Figure 30 - Reasons behind starting tobacco use for individuals by gender in Turkey, +15 population, %, |
| 2016 |
| Figure 31 - Tobacco smoking according to level of education in Turkey, +15 population, %, 2016 42 |
| Figure 32 - Daily smoking prevalence rates according to level of education in benchmark countries, +15 |
| population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 33 - Daily smoking prevalence rates according to level of education and gender in Turkey, +15 |
| population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 34 - Daily smoking prevalence rates of at least university graduates by gender among benchmark |
| countries, +15 population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 35 - Daily smoking prevalence rates according to student/non-student status of individuals in |
| benchmark countries, +15 population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 36 - Daily smoking prevalence rates of students by gender in benchmark countries, +15 |
| population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 37 - Ratio of daily tobacco smokers by regions in Turkey, +15 population, 2016 |
| Figure 38 - The distribution of time before first cigarette smoked after waking up by daily smokers in |
| benchmark countries, +15 population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 39 - Prevalence rates for different type of tobacco products in benchmark countries, +15 |
| population, %, 2016 |
| Figure 40 - Number of users for different types of tobacco products in benchmark countries, +15 |
| population, million people, and 2016 |
| Figure 41 - Prevalence rate for e-cigarettes across benchmark countries, +15 population, 2016 |
| Figure 42 - Share of individuals that have "even once" used an e-cigarette per current tobacco smoking |
| level, +15 population, Turkey, %, 2016 |
| Figure 43 - Distribution of e-cigarettes users across benchmark countries by gender, +15 population, |
| 2016 |
| Figure 44 - Number of estimated deaths attributable to each risk factor in Turkey, thousand, 2017 55 |
| Figure 45 - Number of estimated deaths attributable to tobacco use in Turkey and the world, per 100,000 |
| people, 1990-2017 |
| Figure 46 - Estimates for the top 10 risk factors that lead to the highest number of deaths and disability |
| according to DALY metric in Turkey, 2000 and 2017 |
| Figure 47 - Disaggregation of health spending by funding sources, %, 2017 |
| Figure 48 - Total tax burden on differently priced cigarettes in Turkey after introducing of the SCT, % |
| of retail price, 2002 August - 2020 June |
| Figure 49 - Real price index for the two groups of cigarettes in Turkey |
| Figure 50 - Price of a 20-cigarettes pack of the most sold brand in OECD countries, international dollars |
| at PPP, 2018 |
| Figure 51 - Affordability index for the two groups of cigarettes in Turkey |
| Figure 52 - Tax revenues from tobacco products in Turkey, billion \$, 2006-2019 |
| Figure 53 - Trends of the tax revenue items on tobacco products in Turkey, billion \$, 2006-2019 79 |
| Figure 54 - Share of tax revenues from tobacco products in Turkey, %, 2006-2019 |
| Figure 55 - Tobacco tax revenues and public health expenditure in Turkey, billion \$, 2006-2018 82 |

| Figure 56 - Share of cheapest brand price in premium brand price in OECD countries, %, 2018 84 Figure 57 - Market share of differently priced cigarettes in Turkey by retail volume of sticks, %, 2004- 2018 |
|--|
| Figure 58 - Participants' main reasons for reducing their tobacco use during COVID-19, % |
| Figure 60 - Public support for increasing taxes on tobacco products by smoking status, %, 2012 and 2016 |
| Figure 61 - Public support for prohibiting smoking in certain areas in Turkey, %, 2016 |
| Figure 62 - Estimated budget for "Maintaining the fight against tobacco and tobacco products and reducing their use" by MoH, million TL, 2019-2023 |
| Figure 63 - Share of the adults changing their smoking status in benchmark countries, % of total adult population, 2016 |
| Figure 64 - Smoking cessation attempts of current tobacco users in benchmark countries, % of current adult tobacco smokers, 2012 and 2016 |
| Figure 65 - Statements of the tobacco smokers about quitting smoking in benchmark countries, %, 2016 |
| Figure 66 - Statements of the tobacco smokers about quitting smoking in Turkey, %, 2020 |
| Figure 67 - Share of past smokers according to their methods to stop smoking tobacco %, +15 population, Turkey, 2016 |
| Figure 68 - Share of past smokers according to their methods of quitting smoking, %, Turkey, 2020100 |
| Figure 69 - Share of current smokers according to their attempted methods for trying to quit smoking, %, Turkey, 2020 |
| Figure 70 - Share of adults in the last 30 days noticing health warnings on cigarette packages in benchmark countries, %, 2016 |
| Figure 71 - Share of smokers in the last 30 days finding health warnings on their cigarette packages and |
| think about quitting in benchmark countries, %, 2012 and 2016 |
| Figure 72 - Share of adults in the last 30 days noticing information about the dangers of smoking or that |
| encourages quitting according to the source of platforms in Turkey, %, 2016 |
| Figure 73 - Share of adults knowing that smoking tobacco causes serious illnesses in benchmark countries, %, 2016 |
| Figure 74 - Share of adults knowing that exposure to second-hand smoking causes serious illnesses in |
| benchmark countries, %, 2016 |
| Figure 75 - Share of flavored cigarettes in the retail markets in terms of sold sticks, %, 2008 and 2018 |
| Figure 76 - Share of slim cigarettes in the retail markets in terms of sold sticks, %, 2007-2018 109 |
| Figure 77 - Share of current smokers who are aged between 13-15 according to their access conditions |
| to cigarettes, Turkey and Ukraine, %, 2017 |
| Figure 78 - Distribution of COVID-19 survey participants according to their demographics, % 155 |
| Figure 79 - Distribution of Turkish official population according to their demographics, +18 population, |
| %, 2019 |

Tables

| Table 1 - Sales of conventional tobacco products and alternatives by detailed categories in the world, |
|---|
| RSP, billion \$, 2013-2018 |
| Table 2 - Global prevalence of tobacco use by age groups, +15 population, age standardized, %, 2000- |
| 2025 |
| Table 3 - Global prevalence of tobacco use by age groups and gender, +15 population, age standardized, |
| %, 2000-2025 |
| Table 4 - Projected rates of tobacco use by gender and regions, +15 population, age standardized, %, |
| 2020 |
| Table 5 - Top 5 countries have the most estimated decrease in tobacco use prevalence rates, +15 |
| population, crude adjusted prevalence, %, 2000-2015 |
| Table 6 - Top 5 countries that have the highest estimated increase in tobacco use prevalence rates, +15 |
| population, crude adjusted prevalence, %, 2000-2015 |
| Table 7 - Prevalence of daily tobacco smoking among adults in Turkey according to different data |
| sources, %, 1988-2019 |
| Table 8 - Advantages and drawbacks of surveys on tobacco use in Turkey 33 |
| Table 9 - Levels of the tobacco smoking and their associated products in Turkey, 2016 |
| Table 10 - Indicators related to cigarette buying behaviors in benchmark countries, % tobacco smokers, |
| +15 population, 2016 |
| Table 11 - Burden of diseases attributed to tobacco use and second-hand smoking in Turkey, 2017 58 |
| Table 12 - Type of cigarette excise regimes by regions, 201870 |
| Table 13 - Regulation timeline of the cigarette* taxation in Turkey after 2002 with the Special |
| Consumption Tax (SCT) |
| |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of July 6, 2020 74 |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as ofJuly 6, 2020Table 15 - Comparison of tax burden on cigarettes, domestic sales volume, and total tax revenue from |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of July 6, 2020 |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of July 6, 2020 |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of July 6, 2020 |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of July 6, 2020 74 Table 15 - Comparison of tax burden on cigarettes, domestic sales volume, and total tax revenue from tobacco products in Turkey, 2006-2019 81 Table 16 - Exposition to second-hand smoking at work and home among benchmark countries, %, 2012 93 Table 17 - Indicators showing violations of restrictions on smoking in certain places among benchmark |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of July 6, 2020 74 Table 15 - Comparison of tax burden on cigarettes, domestic sales volume, and total tax revenue from tobacco products in Turkey, 2006-2019 81 Table 16 - Exposition to second-hand smoking at work and home among benchmark countries, %, 2012 93 Table 17 - Indicators showing violations of restrictions on smoking in certain places among benchmark 94 |
| Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey, as of July 6, 2020 74 Table 15 - Comparison of tax burden on cigarettes, domestic sales volume, and total tax revenue from 81 Table 16 - Exposition to second-hand smoking at work and home among benchmark countries, %, 2012 81 Table 17 - Indicators showing violations of restrictions on smoking in certain places among benchmark countries, %, 2012 and 2016 93 Table 18 - Response of daily smokers regarding the relation between COVID-19 and tobacco, and their 94 |

Abbreviations

| AFAD | T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Afet ve Acil Durum Yönetimi Başkanlığı (Republic of | | | | | |
|-------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| AFAD | Turkey Ministry of Interior Disaster and Emergency Management Authority) | | | | | |
| BACI | Base pour l'Analyse du Commerce International Database (International Trade | | | | | |
| DACI | Database at the Product-Level) | | | | | |
| CAGR | Compound Annual Growth Rate | | | | | |
| CATI | Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing | | | | | |
| CBRT | Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey | | | | | |
| CDC | Centers for Disease Control Prevention | | | | | |
| CEPII | Centre d'Études Prospectives et d'Informations Internationales | | | | | |
| COPD | Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease | | | | | |
| СРІ | Consumer Price Index | | | | | |
| DAH | Development Assistance for Health | | | | | |
| DALYs | Disability-Adjusted Life Years | | | | | |
| ENDS | Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems | | | | | |
| ENNDS | Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems | | | | | |
| EU | European Union | | | | | |
| EVALI | E-cigarette, or Vaping, Product Use-Associated Lung Injury | | | | | |
| FAO | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations | | | | | |
| FCTC | Framework Convention on Tobacco Control | | | | | |
| FDA | U.S. Food and Drug Administration | | | | | |
| FDI | Foreign Direct Investment | | | | | |
| FSFW | Foundation for a Smoke-Free World | | | | | |
| GATS | Global Adult Tobacco Survey | | | | | |
| GBD | Global Burden of Disease | | | | | |
| GDP | Gross Domestic Product | | | | | |
| GHPSS | Global Health Professions Student Survey | | | | | |
| GSPS | Global School Personnel Survey | | | | | |
| GTSS | Global Tobacco Surveillance System | | | | | |
| GYTS | Global Youth Tobacco Survey | | | | | |
| HRPs | Harm Reduction Products | | | | | |
| HS | Harmonized System | | | | | |
| HTPs | Heated Tobacco Products | | | | | |
| ICTs | Information and Communication Technologies | | | | | |
| IMF | International Monetary Fund | | | | | |
| MoH | Ministry of Health | | | | | |
| MoI | Ministry of Interior | | | | | |
| NASEM | National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine | | | | | |
| NCD | Noncommunicable Disease | | | | | |
| NRTs | Nicotine Replacement Therapies | | | | | |
| OECD | Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development | | | | | |
| PPP | Purchasing Power Parity | | | | | |

tepav | The Economics of Curbing Smoking in Turkey

| RSPs | Retail Sale Prices | | | | | | |
|-------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| RTÜK | Radyo ve Televizyon Üst Kurulu (Radio and Television Supreme Council) | | | | | | |
| SCT | Special Consumption Tax | | | | | | |
| SCTSP | Smoking Cessation Treatment Support Program | | | | | | |
| SDGs | Sustainable Development Goals | | | | | | |
| STEPS | The WHO STEPwise Approach to Surveillance | | | | | | |
| SuTP | Syrians under Temporary Protection | | | | | | |
| TAPDK | Tütün ve Alkol Piyasası Düzenleme Kurumu (The Tobacco and Alcohol Regulatory Authority) | | | | | | |
| TAPS | Tobacco Advertising, Promotion and Sponsorship | | | | | | |
| TDHS | Turkey Demographic and Health Survey | | | | | | |
| TEPAV | Türkiye Ekonomi Politikaları Araştırma Vakfı (The Economic Policy Research Foundation of Turkey) | | | | | | |
| ТНС | Tetrahydrocannabinol | | | | | | |
| THS | Turkey Health Survey | | | | | | |
| TL | Turkish Lira | | | | | | |
| ТММОВ | Türk Mühendis ve Mimar Odaları Birliği (Turkish Engineers and Architects Chambers Union) | | | | | | |
| TRNC | Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus | | | | | | |
| TUBATIS | Tütün Bağımlılığı Tedavisi İzlem Sistemi (The Tobacco Addiction Treatment Monitoring System) | | | | | | |
| TurkStat | Turkish Statistical Institute | | | | | | |
| UK | United Kingdom | | | | | | |
| UN | United Nations | | | | | | |
| UN Comtrade | United Nations International Trade Statistics Database | | | | | | |
| UNHCR | United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees | | | | | | |
| USA | United States of America | | | | | | |
| VAT | Value Added Tax | | | | | | |
| WHO | World Health Organization | | | | | | |
| YEDAM | Yeşilay Danışmanlık Merkezi (Yeşilay Counseling Center) | | | | | | |
| YLDs | Years of Lived with Disability | | | | | | |
| YLLs | Years of Life Lost | | | | | | |

Abstract

Without any doubt, smoking has severe and scientifically proven health consequences, and is one of the biggest avoidable causes of death and disability in Turkey. Almost 85 thousand deaths were attributable to tobacco use in 2017, up from 78 thousand in 2000. Almost all tobacco users in Turkey are smokers of cigarettes. If the current pattern of smoking continues in the next decade or two, more than 100 thousand people per year may die prematurely because of smoking in Turkey. Smoking-related diseases and deaths are detrimental in a developing country such as Turkey, where human capital and productivity are already low. Urgent attention is needed to stop and reverse this trend.

Turkey is an important country and a unique and intriguing case to examine for many reasons. First and foremost, the prevalence rate of smoking is persistently high in the country. The most recent statistics indicate that 28 percent of adults are daily smokers. Not only is there no declining trend in the prevalence rate of smoking, but the age at smoking initiation is quite young. Among daily smokers, 39.9 percent of women and 57.7 percent of men started daily smoking when they were younger than 18.

Secondly, according to surveys, more than 80 percent of people are aware of the harmful health effects of smoking and second-hand smoking; yet the majority of smokers (about 60 percent) are not interested in quitting. The percentage of smokers who attempted to quit within the previous year declined from 42.6 percent in 2012 to 22.6 percent in 2016. The experience in Turkey shows that, although necessary, providing information and establishing awareness have been far from sufficient in curbing smoking.

Thirdly, the statistics on the willingness to quit are in stark contrast with the fact that cessation services in Turkey are available and free to those who demand them. Still, demand for such services and success rate are low. There are 537 smoking cessation clinics in Turkey, offering both behavioral and pharmacological help since 2009. The latest statistics indicate that 16.4 percent of people who received help from cessation clinics have quit smoking. In some countries, alternative products (such as e-cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Products - HTPs) are used for smoking cessation, and sometimes offered by cessation clinics, but not in Turkey. While some other countries have chosen to regulate and tax e-cigarettes, Turkey explicitly banned the imports of e-cigarettes on February 25, 2020; vaping remains legal. Although there is no explicit ban on HTPs, such "new tobacco products" are not defined within the existing legislative framework, hence their sales are not allowed. Alternative products were never offered as a part of official cessation services or suggestions in Turkey. It should be noted that, these products have been the main subject of many scientific and policy-related discussions, and they will continue to be discussed and further evaluated.

Finally, Turkey was, in fact, among the first countries to sign and ratify the FCTC and the first country to adopt all MPOWER measures at the highest level. Despite the efforts in setting rules and regulations, and contrary to expectations, smoking prevalence in the country is not decreasing, which is alarming. Turkey is a prime example of a country where, unless measures aimed at specific target groups are taken, "one size fits all" measures are necessary but far from sufficient.

Turkey has been a prominent raw tobacco producer and exporter and has become an important cigarette exporter in the last decade. It is well known that tobacco generates a significant share of total tax revenues for many governments. Turkey collected a non-negligible 7.6 percent of its total tax revenue and 34 percent of its total excise tax revenue from tobacco products in 2019. Moreover, tobacco prices are

closely monitored by the government since they are also an important component of the consumer price index. As of July 2020, cigarettes accounted for around 1 point of 11.76 percent annual inflation in Turkey. So tobacco usage not only has severe health consequences, but is a public policy concern that requires a holistic approach when devising policies for cessation and curbing usage.

Given the unique characteristics of the country and the current situation in Turkey, there is a clear need for more research on understanding why people go on smoking, start smoking at even earlier ages, do not use cessation aids despite knowing adverse health effects, and why policies that have worked in other countries have not worked in Turkey. There are many questions that need to be answered. For example, it should be investigated why the youth initiates smoking so early, and why smoking among educated women is so common in Turkey. The COVID-19 pandemic caused a decline in income for many families. It is important to know how the pandemic changed smoking behavior. It is important to know how successful official cessation services have been, the reasons behind their low utilization, whether health professionals are smokers themselves, and whether they are up-to-date in their knowledge of cessation tools. It is important to know the extent of the illicit trade of tobacco products and their alternatives in Turkey. But first and foremost, what should be investigated is how the policies and measures that are enacted are implemented, why the bodies responsible for monitoring their implementation have not succeeded, how sanctions are applied, along with their financial and statistical comparison with benchmark countries.

In recent years, the public health community has been discussing tobacco endgame strategies that can be used to augment existing strategies. Most of the proposals have not been implemented; therefore, it is difficult to evaluate their practicality or legality. Currently, Turkey has no endgame strategy. The Strategic Plan of the Ministry of Health announces many tobacco-related targets for the year 2023. For example, the country aims to reduce by 2023 the share of those in ages 15-34 who initiate smoking before 18 down to 50 percent, the share of tobacco users in ages 15 and older to 24 percent, and the daily consumption among smokers in ages 15 and older to 12 cigarettes. To end tobacco use in the near future, it is clear that Turkey needs more ambitious targets and a sensitive plan, and it needs to apply and monitor the implementation of its plan carefully.

Executive Summary

- 1. This report is a comprehensive scoping review of the economics of curbing smoking in Turkey. It considers supply, demand, health, and public policy aspects of tobacco, tobacco products, and their alternatives in Turkey. The scoping review constitutes the first stage of a longer-term project in which the information collected in the first stage will lead to new research projects to contribute to the field. The ultimate aim of our work is to end smoking epidemic, and the economic burden associated with tobacco-attributable diseases and deaths.
- 2. The most recent official health survey in Turkey revealed that tobacco consumption prevalence rate in Turkey has increased. Announced in June 2020, the results indicate that with 28 percent of adults smoking daily, the country currently has one of the highest smoking rates among OECD countries. Turkey has a relatively young population, and the country is a large market for tobacco products with its about 19 million smokers. It is an upper-middle-income developing country pursuing to join the ranks of high-income developed countries. According to the United Nations, Turkey is located in the top group with "Very High Human Development"; yet, it has a long way to go as it is close to the bottom of the group and similar to many countries in the "High Human Development" group in terms of life expectancy at birth. Moreover, good health and well-being is one of the Sustainable Development Goals set by the United Nations. One health target under this goal is to reduce premature mortality from non-communicable diseases by one-third, closely linked to how successful the efforts on curbing the tobacco epidemics will be. The recent statistics on daily smoking prevalence show that Turkey has already diverged from the respective goal.
- 3. Turkey was, in fact, among the first group of countries to sign and ratify the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) and the first country to adopt all MPOWER measures at the highest level. Despite the efforts in setting rules and regulations and contrary to expectations, smoking prevalence in the country is not decreasing, which is alarming. Turkey is a country with different cultural characteristics than developed countries; therefore, regulations designed by developed countries may not be the best for Turkey. Unless more effective and country-specific policies are adopted, Turkey will face in its near future severe health consequences and huge health costs because of tobacco-related mortality and morbidity.
- 4. The recent developments in Turkey necessitate a closer inspection of the tobacco market in the country. In this report, we begin by investigating the supply side of the market (stages of production from a value chain perspective and foreign trade in tobacco and its products) and the demand side (detailed statistics on tobacco use prevalence across demographic groups, on starting age, quitting behavior, and so on). Then, we summarize the available evidence on the health effects of tobacco use, considering both conventional and alternative products. Next, we investigate the set of price and non-price tobacco control policies conducted so far in Turkey, with an aim to understand why the policies have not been sufficient to meet the targets in tobacco control efforts.
- 5. Our investigations so far have revealed several important messages and have led to further **questions that need to be investigated.** Below we share them.

- 6. Women in Turkey are more likely to be smokers than women in benchmark countries; moreover, among women in Turkey, education and smoking rate are positively correlated. Further, the daily tobacco smoking prevalence rate for women is increasing more rapidly compared to men. Such a pattern that emerges in cross-sectional data is worthy of further, more detailed analyses, such as by looking into how prevalence rates in some demographic subgroups have changed across older and younger cohorts, using data from earlier years. Another area to look into would be to analyze the reasons behind the trends. Smoking prevalence of women is higher in high-income countries. Then, one question would be whether the observed pattern among women is related to emancipation of women or the frustration of women in not gaining independence and recognition despite achieving higher levels of education. In Turkey, the regions with the highest tobacco smoking prevalence rates are regions with high industrial activity where skilled workers are concentrated. Further research on the lives of university graduates, where they seek work, where they are employed, where they reside, and the level of income or stress that induces them to smoke could highlight possible cessation methods.
- 7. In Turkey, the prevalence of smoking among the youth and students is at a high level of 17.9 percent, and the average age at smoking initiation is very young, considering 52.4 percent of daily smokers in Turkey began to smoke before the legal age. When smokers pile up in the younger age groups, the smoking habit becomes more persistent and harder to tackle with unless special attention is paid and additional measures are taken. We need to think more creatively on what type of alternatives would divert the attention of the youth from smoking and how we can engage schools and educators in the endeavor to keep youth away from tobacco, investigate the control measures that are in effect in schools and how these measures can be enhanced, and to assist them in smoking cessation if they have already initiated smoking. In this regard, the experience of countries in reducing (or keeping low) youth and student smoking prevalence can be useful.
- 8. Turkey's recent demographics, regarding the refugees and asylum seekers that have been hosted since 2010, necessitates their inclusion into data gathering as a distinct group, and new tobacco control policies need to consider the effects of these immigration waves. Turkey is the world's largest hosting country of forcibly displaced populations. In the case of tobacco consumption, 2015 and 2017 STEPS surveys indicate that the prevalence rate of daily tobacco consumption was higher among Syrians under Temporary Protection (SuTP) than Turkish citizens. Even though there are methodological constraints for precise comments on this particular finding, a higher prevalence rate among SuTP's indicates that current policy context should be extended to contemplate this new situation.
- **9.** Tax revenues from the sales of tobacco products should be compared to the costs borne by the government generated by tobacco-related illnesses and deaths. The financial responsibility of the government in healthcare services is quite significant in Turkey, given that 77 percent of health spending is financed by the government/public sector. Given the non-declining smoking rates, one important research task would be to compare tax revenues from tobacco products to tobacco-related health expenditures in Turkey.
- **10.** More research is needed on alternative products. In contrast to combustible tobacco products, those products are fairly new on the market, and more time is needed for clear scientific evidence

about them to build. Currently, the alternative products are not legally available in the Turkish market. However, they are available and used in the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC), which is geographically and culturally close to Turkey. Given the opportunity, the TRNC can be used as a laboratory to study several important policy-related questions on e-cigarettes, such as attitudes towards e-cigarettes, dual use of e-cigarettes with combustibles, the gateway effect of e-cigarettes, cessation benefits, and changes in perception in response to news.

- 11. There are some policy issues that should be addressed to increase the effectiveness of tax policies on curbing smoking in Turkey. For instance, cigarette prices in Turkey remain relatively low compared to OECD countries. Moreover, factors such as the rise in average income and the price dispersion between brands have limited the effectiveness of tax increases in Turkey. Another point that needs to be examined is the automatic adjustment mechanism in specific taxes. Moreover, analytical studies are needed to estimate the price elasticity of demand, cross-price elasticity of demand, and the impact of tax changes on different socioeconomic groups. The earlier studies that have asked such questions have become outdated because of not only the profound changes in the tax structure but in the socioeconomic structure of the country in the last fifteen years. Also, if Turkey allows the legal sales of alternative products in the future, further research will be needed to understand the pros and cons of different tax structures on e-cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Products (HTPs).
- 12. A transparent analytical study is needed to estimate the volume of the illicit trade in Turkey to improve the efficiency of tax policies using data-grounded insights. Currently, a considerable amount of tax revenue is collected from the sales of tobacco products. Turkey's past experience indicates that tax increases did not result in a rise in illicit trade. To address the ongoing concerns about the future impact of tax increases on tax avoidance activities and smuggling, a new analytical study is needed to estimate the size of illicit trade in Turkey using a transparent methodology.
- 13. More research is needed to understand how to better monitor tobacco use and prevention policies, as well as how to improve compliance with clean air rules and regulations. More scientific studies are needed to determine the economic impact of tobacco control policies and gains associated with declines in tobacco-related mortality and morbidity due to these policies. Also, more work is needed on the calculation of disbursements for tobacco control programs and cost-effectiveness analyses of different prevention programs. Interdisciplinary and international collaborations are also expected to be fruitful. Studies on monitoring special subgroups (such as women, children, youth, teachers, health professionals) are also highly needed. Although laws are enacted to protect people from passive smoking in public places in Turkey, there are serious problems related to their implementation. on the effects of clean air rules and regulations, more research is needed to compare the blueprints of implementation of these rules and regulations in Turkey with countries which have been more successful in that respect. In other words, more work is needed to understand why the policies that have worked in other countries have not worked in Turkey.
- 14. More research is needed to understand the low uptake of smoking cessation services. Turkey has been implementing several policy tools ranging from brief advice by health professionals to media campaigns, national toll-free quitlines, web pages, cessation clinics with free NRTs

regarding the promotion of tobacco cessation and tobacco dependence treatment in the last decade. However, in practice, the majority of the smokers who are able to quit smoking do so without assistance. Clearly, the functioning of the system is less than perfect. Therefore, there is a clear need for more research on cost-effectiveness of cessation assistance in Turkey, on the reasons behind successes and failures, and on the attitudes, knowledge, and practices of health professionals in Turkey regarding smoking and cessation. Since more than half of the current smokers do not want to stop using tobacco products, there is a need for innovative policies to ensure that new generations do not start tobacco usage at all, in order to be able to decrease addiction rates in the future. In addition, there may be a need for special cessation programs targeting minors in Turkey.

- 15. Turkey still needs extra effort to convey warnings about the dangers of tobacco use, particularly in the case of passive smoking. Considering that 10 percent of adults do not agree with the adverse health consequences of tobacco use, Turkey still needs extra effort to convey the warnings about the dangers of tobacco use. More importantly, additional policy effort is needed to raise awareness about the adverse impacts of exposure to second-hand smoking in Turkey since 15.6 percent of adults are unaware of the particular adverse health consequences of passive smoking. From another perspective, an overwhelming majority of smokers stated that they do not want to quit despite being aware of the adverse health consequences of tobacco use. However, what is not clear is whether such statements are merely reiterations of what people have been told or whether people actually know the expected future health costs of smoking and base their decisions on it.
- 16. More policy effort is needed to limit the access of minors to tobacco products in Turkey. In the case of enforcing bans, Turkey has a very weak performance in limiting the minors' access to tobacco products according to Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) 2017 findings. Similar to policies implemented for protecting people from second-hand smoking, more studies are needed to analyze reasons behind the possible failures in the implementation of enforced laws regarding minors.
- 17. Despite the availability of such a comprehensive international legal tool as the World Health Organization (WHO) FCTC and MPOWER for the development and enactment of tobacco control policies, the effectiveness of their implementation in the countries that adopted them have not all been up to expectations. Turkey is the prime example of this since it is the first country to have adopted not only all the MPOWER measures, but with full compliance. The reasons for the varying performance behind the tobacco control policies implemented in the countries that have adopted these policies can be attributed to the complexity of tobacco control policy design, as well as the characteristics of the country for which these policies are developed. The Turkish case has been assessed throughout the report. More research on the economics of curbing smoking in Turkey is needed to investigate the particular problems regarding compliance with and enforcement of adopted rules and regulations.

Introduction

- **18.** Tobacco control policies require comprehensive policy design processes that take into consideration the perspectives of different stakeholders. Tobacco is one of the most widely consumed products in the world. Consumers with different product choices and consumption behaviors are at the center of the tobacco control policy design process with their demands and purchases. On the supply side, the tobacco industry is another major stakeholder that contributes to this process by offering various products and determining the final prices. In addition to producing the final products, the tobacco industry is linked to the other stages of the value chain, such as agriculture, manufacturing, and trade activities. Accordingly, tobacco and tobacco products are an employment and income source for the people of many countries.¹ Furthermore, the adverse health consequences of tobacco consumption on direct users and those who are indirectly exposed to tobacco smoke, make tobacco use a public health issue for the governments. Therefore, governments have devised various tobacco control policies to curb tobacco consumption, mostly in the form of price and non-price regulations.
- 19. This report analyzes tobacco use trends and tobacco control policies in Turkey in detail and attempts to point out possible missing links that could contribute to policymaking processes to combat tobacco addiction in Turkey. Tobacco consumption behavior and tobacco control policies are shaped by the unique (i) supply, (ii) demand, (iii) health, and (iv) public policy dimensions of the countries. In this regard, the current state of knowledge about the markets, regarding supply and demand sides, as well as health and public policy aspects of production and consumption of tobacco products, and their alternatives should be studied together, taking into account their interrelationship. Correspondingly, in this report, we evaluate the progress made so far in Turkey's current tobacco control policies and the tools employed, considering all four dimensions, in order to provide a better and complete understanding of the challenges and gaps in research and policy design. Although Turkey is the main focus of this report, to appraise Turkey's relative position, the dynamics in the world and in selected benchmark countries are also studied.
- 20. This report is organized into five chapters. First, the supply-side information regarding the overall industry with its tobacco input, manufacturing, local and international trade activities, and investment ties are elaborated under the heading of "Tobacco Industry Supply Dynamics." This chapter provides analyses on the magnitude of the tobacco industry and its overall value chain in Turkey, covering agriculture, manufacturing, and trade activities. The second chapter, "Demand Dynamics: Tobacco Use Patterns and Behavior," lays out the tobacco prevalence rates and product choices of consumers in Turkey in comparison with the world average and selected benchmark countries. In the third chapter, "Health Effects and Related Burden," the standing arguments taken by different stakeholders on health-related aspects of tobacco and tobacco products are summarized, considering the issue in the context of public policy. In chapter four, "Public Policies," we evaluate the policy toolbox to control and curb tobacco use in Turkey with a brief information on the global practices. Moving forward, the fifth chapter titled "Overall Evaluation and Setting out the Next Policy Research Questions" synthesizes the information obtained up to this stage and lists possible questions to be studied to contribute to the policymaking efforts in Turkey in the future.

- 21. Following the conclusion of the report, several annex files are shared to provide additional information. Initially, the study was planned to cover information gathering, and analyses on Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC) as a complementarity case study. For that aim, multiple field research activities were planned to compensate for the lack of public information in TRNC in this research topic. Yet, with the travel restrictions due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the planned research based on face-to-face interviews and focus group meetings could not be carried out. Instead, as COVID-19 had a major impact on the people in most countries, including Turkey, we have resorted to address the question of how it has affected the tobacco use habits in Turkey. Since the first confirmed COVID-19 case in March 2020 in Turkey, many households have lost at least part of their income because of economic activity contraction. Statements by the international organizations and national governments on the likely adverse impacts of tobacco use on the course of the COVID-19 pandemic raise additional health concerns for tobacco users within this particular period.² Furthermore, such adverse developments are believed to have increased the level of stress and anxiety that people feel. In order to assess the change in tobacco consumption behavior under these current conditions, TEPAV has conducted a survey. As standing out survey findings are presented in Chapter D to provide supportive information, the survey questionnaire and the background information are presented in Annex 1 and Annex 2.
- 22. This report has been prepared by the Economic Policy Research Foundation of Turkey (TEPAV) Tobacco Control Policy Research Team, with the grant support provided by the Foundation for a Smoke-Free World (FSFW).ⁱ The research effort has been intensified on identifying the gaps in data and information in Turkey in the field of tobacco control policies. Since TEPAV is a non-profit, nonpartisan think tank, the findings and comments shared throughout the study only reflect TEPAV's research, not the opinions of the FSFW. "Annex 3. About the Economic Policy Research Foundation of Turkey (TEPAV)," presents TEPAV's works experience and history.

¹ Satel, "Could China Ban Cigarette Smoking?"; Jha, De Bayer, and Heller, "Death and Taxes Economics of Tobacco Control."

² World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Statement: Tobacco Use and COVID-19"; World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "Resources for Tobacco Use Control as Part of COVID-19 Response"; GOV.UK, "Guidance COVID-19: Advice for Smokers and Vapers"; Aslan, "Günün Konusu: Tütün Kullananların COVID-19 Riski"; Marquizo, "Tobacco Control During the COVID-19 Pandemic: How We Can Help."

ⁱ TEPAV Tobacco Control Policy Research Team members are Asena Caner, Sibel Güven, Ayşegül Taşöz Düşündere, Taylan Kurt, Elif Yılmaz, Egecan Alan Fay, and Hakan Özkavukçu. The report were funded with a grant from the Foundation for a Smoke-Free World, a U.S.-based nonprofit 501(c)(3) private foundation with a mission to end smoking during this generation. The Foundation accepts charitable gifts from PMI Global Services Inc. (PMI); under the Foundation's Bylaws and Pledge Agreement with PMI, the Foundation is independent from PMI and the tobacco industry. The contents, selection, and presentation of facts, as well as any opinions expressed are the sole responsibility of the authors and under no circumstances shall be regarded as reflecting the positions of the Foundation for a Smoke-Free World, Inc. and TEPAV.

A.Tobacco Industry Supply Dynamics

A.1.Summary

This chapter explains the local and global supply dynamics of the tobacco industry. The 23. overall worldwide retail market of tobacco industry is investigated by considering the products offered and the targeted markets for these products. These analyses also unveil the pattern of prevalence rates in different countries. Detailed information on the Turkish tobacco industry is provided by taking the overall value chain into consideration.³ In designing economic policies for the country as a whole, the tradeoffs between public health, creating employment, generating and sustaining government revenue to undertake necessary investments shape the overall policy design in Turkey. Considering that the tobacco industry had a value of 13.5 billion dollars in Turkey, the supply-side is an important dimension of the policy design process.⁴ Most of the value generation is from the tax collection in the Turkish tobacco industry value chain. Since the related taxes are collected after sales rather than during production, protecting the whole production chain becomes less crucial. The reason is that a similar amount of income can be collected just by importing rather than by producing locally. However, the employment-generation capabilities of tobacco production, and the positive contribution to trade balance by exporting higher valueadded tobacco products rather than raw tobacco itself are the two key aspects in the design of tobacco control policies.

A.2. Characteristics of the Industry

Even though there is no universally agreed-upon definition of "tobacco products" and the 24. "tobacco industry," the tobacco industry is considered to be including both "conventional tobacco products" and "alternative products" in this study, considering the current legislative framework in Turkey. The definition of the "tobacco products" term may vary across countries. For instance, while some countries classify electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) under conventional tobacco products, some nations do not.⁵ In particular, Turkish authorities state that "new-generation products" such as e-cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Products (HTPs) are tobacco products but not covered under the definition of "any other tobacco product" category in the current legislation. Hence, conventional tobacco products and these new products are treated differently in the Turkish legal framework such that these new-generation products are not subject to the existing law and regulations that allow the production and distribution of conventional tobacco products in Turkey, but rather they are subject to newly enacted specific policies.⁶ As a result, the terminology to be used throughout this study has been chosen to be in line with this legal definition. In other words, throughout the study, "tobacco products" will mainly refer to cover conventional tobacco products such as (i) smoked tobacco products in the form of manufactured cigarettes and hand-rolled cigarettes, and other products such as pipes, cigars, cigarillos, cheroots, waterpipes, and (ii) smokeless tobacco products such as moist snuff, chewing tobacco, and others. The relatively new products such as e-vapor products or e-cigarettes and HTPs are classified as "alternative products" in the analyses of differences in levels and trends regarding the conventional and new unconventional products.

25. Although the global conventional tobacco industry has been transformed to include

alternative products, the industry is still thriving mostly on the sales of conventional products in the form of smoked tobacco products, with cigarettes being the most popular product. Analysis of Retail Sale Prices (RSPs) reveals that conventional smoked and smokeless tobacco products constitute 97 percent of global sales of the tobacco industry. In comparison, the market share of the alternative products is merely 3 percent. In particular, 88 percent of total sales are associated with conventional cigarettes. Other smoked or smokeless conventional tobacco products constitute a 9 percent market share, as depicted in Figure 1.

Figure 1 - Sales of conventional tobacco products and alternatives in the world, RSP, billion \$ (%), 2018



Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics⁷, TEPAV calculations

The tobacco industry worldwide is growing, albeit at a slow rate, despite the measures taken 26. globally to fight against tobacco addiction (see Table 1). Although there are some fluctuations over the years, the tobacco industry annually has had an approximately 800 billion dollars retail market size within the last five years. In 2018, the estimated retail sales volume was 814 billion dollars. Meanwhile, the annual retail volume of cigarettes was around 700 billion dollars over the previous five years. In 2018, this figure was 714 billion dollars. Cigars and fine-cut tobacco followed cigarettes with 25 billion dollars and 24 billion dollars, respectively. While retail volume of moist snuff was 12 billion dollars, it was 6.5 and 1 billion dollars for pipe tobacco, cigarillos, and chewing tobacco, respectively. The total retail volume of e-cigarettes was 15.7 billion dollars. In comparison, HTPs had 11.9 billion dollars retail volume. While the growth rate was -0.1 percent for conventional tobacco products, e-cigarettes had a 30 percent growth rate, and HTPs had more than 300 percent growth rate between 2013 and 2018. Even though there is a limited decline in the retail volume of conventional tobacco products, when accompanied with the extreme growth figures of alternative products, it can be concluded that the overall tobacco industry grew on average by 0.5 percent annually during the last five years.

| | Main group | Detailed group | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | CAGR (2013- 2018) |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|-------------------------|
| ts | Smoked tobacco: Cigarettes | Cigarettes | 730.71 | 741.70 | 703.62 | 681.64 | 692.94 | 713.66 | -0.5% |
| produ | Smoked tobacco: | Cigars | 15.82 | 16.56 | 17.43 | 17.94 | 20.15 | 25.23 | 9.8% |
| acco] | cigarillos | Cigarillos | 4.58 | 4.63 | 4.09 | 4.11 | 4.393 | 4.67 | 0.4% |
| al tob | Smoked tobacco, | Pipe tobacco | 4.62 | 4.98 | 4.84 | 5.12 | 5.74 | 6.10 | 5.7% |
| ention | others | Fine-cut tobacco | 22.87 | 23.96 | 21.31 | 21.62 | 22.48 | 24.05 | 1.0% |
| Conve | Smokeless | Chewing tobacco | 1.67 | 1.57 | 1.32 | 1.20 | 1.13 | 1.05 | -8.9% |
| | tobacco | Moist snuff | 9.72 | 10.11 | 10.31 | 10.88 | 11.52 | 11.97 | 4.2% |
| Total of | f conventional tobac | co products | 789.99 | 803.51 | 762.92 | 742.51 | 758.35 | 786.72 | -0.1% |
| E-vapor products | Closed vaping systems | 1.51 | 1.98 | 2.31 | 2.92 | 4.03 | 7.03 | 36.0% | |
| nativ. | (E-cigarentes) | Open vaping systems | 2.68 | 4.90 | 6.08 | 6.91 | 7.47 | 8.67 | 26.4% |
| Alter | Heated tobacco | Tobacco heating devices | 0.003 | 0.010 | 0.036 | 0.10 | 0.48 | 0.95 | 212.4% |
| | products | Heated tobacco | 0.001 | 0.005 | 0.119 | 1.20 | 5.16 | 10.92 | 519.2% |
| Total of alternative products | | 4.19 | 6.89 | 8.54 | 11.13 | 17.14 | 27.56 | 45.7% | |
| Total of the tobacco industry | | 794.19 | 810.40 | 771.47 | 753.65 | 775.50 | 814.28 | 0.5% | |

| Table 1 - Sales of conventional t | tobacco products | and alternatives l | by detailed | categories in |
|------------------------------------|------------------|--------------------|-------------|---------------|
| the world, RSP, billion \$, 2013-2 | 2018 | | | |

Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, TEPAV calculations

27. In addition to short-term growth performance, the tobacco industry has experienced an almost continuous medium-term growth trend between 2004 and 2018. Figure 2 depicts the growth performance of the tobacco industry. The evolution of both total and per capita retail sales are shown in order to partially exclude the change in population size over the years. As shown in Figure 2, the industry continues to grow in per capita terms as well as in total. The total retail sales volume of the industry has risen up to 814 billion dollars from 461 billion dollars between 2004 and 2018. Moreover, the global per capita retail sales volume of 107 dollars today is much higher than the 72 dollars in the early 2000s.



Figure 2 - Retail sales volume of the tobacco industry in the world, total and per capita, RSP,

Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, World Bank, TEPAV calculations

In Turkey, the sales volume of the tobacco industry is growing in tandem with the world. 28. The retail sales volume of the tobacco industry in Turkey has increased from 8 billion dollars to almost 13 billion dollars between 2004 and 2018. This change indicates that, the Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of tobacco industry's retail sales is 3.4 percent in Turkey. For comparison, the world average was 4.2 percent in the same period. Even though Turkey has a slightly lower growth rate than the world average in the medium term, retail sales per capita in Turkey at 158 dollars is much higher than the global figure of 107 dollars. Clearly, consumption of tobacco products per capita is higher in Turkey compared to the world average. In fact, this has been true in all years from 2004 to 2018, as shown in Figure 3. Turkey experienced rapid exchange rate depreciation against the dollar during the last couple of years. Therefore, in order to get a complete picture of the growth of tobacco industry in Turkey, the graphs based on current dollar denomination should be supplemented with a depiction of the time series in terms of constant Turkish Lira (TL). In Figure 4, the total retail sales of the tobacco industry in Turkey are presented in constant TL. It is observed that, with the exception of short-term stagnation periods, Turkey experienced a substantial growth in the consumption of tobacco products as depicted in Figure 4, taking both purchasing power and population dynamics into account.





Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, World Bank, TEPAV calculations



Figure 4 - Retail sales volume of the tobacco industry in Turkey, total and per capita constant

Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, TurkStat, World Bank, TEPAV calculations

29. The sales of the tobacco industry are concentrated in a small number of countries, including Turkey. To illustrate, out of a total of 189 countries, only 15 countries (including Turkey) purchased 79 percent of all tobacco products and alternatives, when RSPs are taken into consideration. According to the retail sales volume of cigarettes, the most sold product in the industry, the top 15 markets in descending order are China, the United States of America (USA), Japan, Germany, Indonesia, Italy, Russia, the United Kingdom (UK), France, South Korea, Turkey, Spain, India, Canada, and Australia. As depicted in Figure 5, the top 15 countries are also the main markets for smoked tobacco products other than cigarettes. More than half of the sales of smoked tobacco products other than cigarettes take place in four countries, namely the USA, China, Germany, and the UK. On the other hand, in this group of products, the Netherlands, Saudi Arabia, Belgium, Cuba, and Greece are listed among the top markets even though these countries are not the main markets for cigarettes. Smokeless products are more common in the USA, Sweden, and Norway. More interestingly, in the case of e-cigarettes, the USA and the UK are the primary markets with a combined total market share of 59 percent. In the case of HTPs, Japan and South Korea stand out with a combined market share of 79 percent. In Turkey, cigarettes are the main source of tobacco addiction with minimal retail market volumes of other products.



Figure 5 - Breakdown of retail sales of conventional tobacco products and alternatives by countries, RSP, 2018

Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, TEPAV calculations

30. Unlike in most countries, an overwhelming 99.8 percent of the tobacco industry's sales are cigarettes in Turkey. With total sales volume of 13.0 billion dollars in tobacco products and alternatives, Turkey is the 14th largest market for the tobacco industry. The consumption baskets of the top 15 countries (by total retail sales of tobacco products and alternatives) are shown in Figure 6. Accordingly, the basket share of cigarettes varies between 77 percent and 95 percent in most countries. In Turkey, the retail sales share of cigarettes in all tobacco industry products is 99.8 percent, indicating that other products are not at all common. The product composition in Indonesia (with cigarettes constituting 99.2 percent) is similar to that in Turkey. In other countries such as the USA, the UK, Japan, and France, other types of products are used besides cigarettes. Many factors may cause this variation across countries, but in Turkey, the current legislation may be a prominent factor in product choices. For the sale of e-cigarettes containing nicotine, a license was required in the past legislation of Turkey. This former regulation did not strictly outlaw the sales of e-cigarettes. However, none of the applications made for such a license was accepted in the past, which made the legal sales of e-cigarettes practically (de facto) impossible within this legal framework.⁸ With a new regulation on February 25, 2020, while vaping remains legal, importing e-cigarettes is now explicitly banned in Turkey. The ban covers different products used in e-cigarettes, including spare parts and smoking liquids, as well as electronic waterpipes.9 Furthermore, in Turkey, there are no specific laws directly banning HTPs. Nevertheless, the earlier official statements specifically pointed out that since the "new tobacco products" are not defined within the existing legislative framework, their sales are not allowed in Turkey.¹⁰ For this reason, no recorded official retail sales volume of these new products is available in Turkey.

Figure 6 - Breakdown of retail sales of conventional tobacco products and alternatives by product type in top 15 countries (with the highest retail sales volume), RSP, 2018

| Total retail market size, billion \$ | Rank | Country | Product breakdown, % |
|--|------|-----------|-----------------------|
| 236.4 | 1 | China | 95.7 <mark>4.0</mark> |
| 124.7 | 2 | USA | 76.4 10.5 5.5 7.6 |
| 34.4 | 3 | Japan | 77.4 22.4 |
| 31.7 | 4 | Germany | 78.6 18.5 |
| 25.5 | 5 | UK | 74.1 16.2 9.5 |
| 24.9 | 6 | Indonesia | 99.2 |
| 23.6 | 7 | Italy | 87.0 |
| 23.5 | 8 | France | 78.4 17.3 4.2 |
| 21.0 | 9 | Russia | 95.4 |
| 15.6 | 10 | S. Korea | 88.7 10.7 |
| 14.7 | 11 | Spain | 85.3 13.7 |
| 14.2 | 12 | Australia | 82.4 17.2 |
| 13.4 | 13 | Canada | 88.6 6.0 3.8 |
| 13.0 | 14 | Turkey | 99.8 |
| 12.7 | 15 | India | 95.4 3.8 |

Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, TEPAV calculations

A.3. Contributions to Employment and Value Added

31. The value chain of the tobacco industry starts with tobacco production, followed by the manufacturing of tobacco products, import, export, wholesale and retail trade of tobacco and tobacco products, and taxes from the supply-side perspective. The value chain of conventional tobacco products can be summarized in three primary stages: agricultural, manufacturing, and trade activities. The first stage of the value chain, agricultural activities,

consists of the cultivation of raw tobacco and its initial processing. The second stage is manufacturing, where raw tobacco is processed into tobacco products to be consumed by final users. The third stage is the sale of these products involving domestic and international wholesale and retail activities. At each stage of the value chain, inputs (including labor), either procured domestically or imported, add value to the products. At the end of each stage, some of the products are used domestically while the rest is exported. To sum up, the supply-side of the tobacco market has different phases within a value chain that covers agricultural, manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade activities as well as being related to government revenue through taxes and the balance of payments of the country via international trade.

32. Considering the agricultural activities stage of the value chain, although Turkey has been a major producer of raw tobacco in the world until the 2000s, total tobacco leaf production and the land allocated to tobacco farming has steadily decreased in Turkey. Both farming of tobacco and manufacturing of tobacco products in Turkey are subject to regulations. Tobaccorelated farming activities in Turkey are mostly carried out under the "contract production model" in the current legal framework.^{ii 11}As can be seen in Figure 7, the amount of tobacco production in Turkey constitutes 1.3 percent of the global production of 6 million tons, in 2018, placing Turkey as the 15th largest producer of raw tobacco in the world. Notably, Turkey's share of global raw tobacco production was once around 4 percent in 1980, but the decline after the 2000s caused it to fall to 1.3 percent in 2018. The amount of land allocated to tobacco also declined in the last decades. In particular, Turkey allocated 93 thousand hectares in 2018 with a significant decline from 237 thousand hectares in 2000. Despite the decline, Turkey ranked the 8th in the world in 2018, according to the size of the land devoted to the production of raw tobacco. Given the abundant agricultural land in Turkey, the country allocates only 0.5 percent of its total arable land to tobacco growing activities, in stark contrast to countries such as Lebanon, Macedonia, Zimbabwe, and Malawi that have a high dependency on tobacco production for their income generation. Therefore, it can be said that Turkey's economic reliance on raw tobacco production has reduced.¹²

ⁱⁱ In Turkey, 87 percent of total tobacco production was produced with the contract production model in 2019.



Figure 7 - Top 15 countries in production of raw tobacco (thousand tons) and share of these countries in the global raw tobacco production (%), 1961, 1980, 2000, 2018

Source: FAO, TEPAV calculations

- **33.** Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) inflows played a crucial role in tobacco manufacturing activities in Turkey. In addition to tobacco farming, tobacco manufacturing has a long history in Turkey. The first tobacco factories in Turkey were established in the 1880s during the Ottoman Empire.¹³ In the following years, tobacco industry was a state monopoly in Turkey. The institutional structure of this monopoly was changed several times over the decades. More recently, during the 1980s, restrictions on imports were eased, and then in the 1990s, local and foreign private enterprises were given the right to manufacture cigarettes in Turkey. In the mid-2000s, the state enterprise was privatized. According to official statistics, between 2003 and 2019, the amount of FDI made in the food, beverage, and tobacco sector in Turkey was 9.2 billion dollars.¹⁴ Even though the official statistics do not provide a breakdown of this investment flow with its sub-categories, it was estimated that in the same period, at least 300 million dollars of FDI was associated with tobacco manufacturing.¹⁵
- 34. The total production of tobacco products in Turkey has increased in volume between 2003 and 2019, and it has also diversified as the share of different product segments has increased. Tobacco products manufactured in Turkey range from cigarettes, waterpipe tobacco, pipe tobacco, cigars/cigarillos, and cut rag for hand-rolling. While 103 thousand tons of tobacco products were produced in Turkey in 2003, production has increased to 148 thousand tons in 2019 (see Figure 8). In line with global consumption trends, cigarettes stand out as the most popular product in the production of the tobacco industry in Turkey. But, this trend has begun to change in recent years. For example, 99.9 percent of the production of tobacco products in 2019. Regarding the major product segments in 2019, it is observed that 139 thousand tons of cigarette and 8

thousand tons of waterpipe tobacco is produced in Turkey.



Source: T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı¹⁶, TEPAV calculations Note: It was assumed that 1 cigarette stick consists of 0.85 grams of tobacco. Tobacco products is defined to include cigarettes, waterpipe tobacco, pipe tobacco, cigars/cigarillos, and cut rag for hand-rolling.

35. Over time, the share of domestically grown tobacco in the production of domestic cigarettes has decreased significantly. The increase in the manufacturing of tobacco products suggests a rise in the demand for raw tobacco products. On the other hand, the tobacco industry in Turkey gradually expanded the utilization of imported tobacco in their production. While the percentage of domestically grown tobacco in the production of domestic cigarettes for the local market was 42 percent in 2003, it declined rapidly to 12 percent as of 2019 (see Figure 9).





Source: T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, TEPAV visualizations

36. Overall, the value chain of tobacco and tobacco products in Turkey was worth 13.5 billion dollars in 2017; taxes are the largest portion of the chain with an almost 93 percent share (see Figure 10). In Figure 10, the economic value-added generated at different stages of the tobacco value chain in Turkey is portrayed. While manufacturing is the stage where the most substantial economic value is created, the biggest part of the total economic impact appears to be public revenues from tax receipts. In 2017, the tax receipts from the sales of tobacco products were 12.6 billion dollars; in other words, 93 percent of the total value chain is government revenue.



Source: IMF¹⁷, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı¹⁸, T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı¹⁹, TurkStat²⁰, TEPAV calculations

Note: Due to lack of data, value of raw tobacco production in 2018 is employed instead of 2017. The value of imported tobacco is not included, and the inputs of the raw tobacco production are not separately analyzed. Value-added at factor costs by economic activities are taken into consideration for tobacco manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade activities. Retail sales include the retail trade of tobacco products in stores specialized in selling a particular commodity. The Value Added Tax (VAT) component is measured based on domestic sales of the cigarettes, but Special Consumption Tax (SCT) covers domestic sales of all tobacco products.

- 37. While the manufacturing stage contributes the highest value-added in the value chain of tobacco industry in Turkey, agricultural activities contribute most to employment creation. Even though there were 58 thousand raw tobacco producers with contracts in Turkey in 2017, there are no official public statistics on the total size of the labor force earning a living from tobacco cultivation.²¹ Yet, by combining the number of contracted producers with the number of employees working in the manufacturing, retail and wholesale stages, the total number of employees working in the tobacco industry is estimated to be 105.8 thousand in Turkey in 2017.²² Despite the limitations in information, it can be stated that a considerable proportion of the employment generation in tobacco industry originates from agricultural activities. The agrarian employment (estimated to be more than 58 thousand), as opposed to manufacturing or trade (48 thousand in total), is still the backbone of employment creation in the tobacco industry in Turkey. However, with the reduction of agricultural activities and the increase in imported raw tobacco content in manufacturing in recent years, employment generation capacity of the industry has significantly declined. For comparison to 2017, the number of contracted tobacco farmers back in 2002 was 405 thousand.²³
- 38. Being a net exporter, the tobacco industry in Turkey has contributed to the efforts of keeping foreign trade deficit under control within the last decade. While Turkey exported 261 million dollars' worth of raw tobacco in 2019, the import value of Turkey in the same year was 397 million dollars. Although Turkey produced a foreign trade surplus in raw tobacco trade during 2000-2014, with the increase of imports and decrease in its exports between 2015 and 2019, Turkey has experienced a foreign trade deficit in raw tobacco trade. However, when Turkey's

export performance is compared to that of the world average, Turkey is still the 8th largest exporter of raw tobacco in the world, even though it was the 4th largest exporter in 2000. On the other hand, owing it to the increase in the export of tobacco products after 2004, Turkey is listed as a net exporter in the tobacco and tobacco products sector. While Turkey exported 646 million dollars' worth of tobacco products in 2019, it also imported 157 million dollars' worth of tobacco products in 2019, it also imported 157 million dollars' worth of tobacco products in 2019 in the tobacco products sector, which has been witnessing a steady increase in foreign trade surplus after 2004. In total, Turkey had a foreign trade surplus of 352 million dollars in combination of raw tobacco and manufactured tobacco products, in 2019.





Source: CEPII²⁴, TurkStat²⁵, UN Comtrade²⁶, TEPAV calculations

Note: Raw tobacco has been defined in a way which shall cover the products with the code of 2401 at the 4 digits in compliance with the Harmonized System (HS) in a way which shall cover unprocessed tobacco and tobacco wastes. Tobacco products have been defined in a way which shall cover the products with the codes of 2402 and 2403 at 4 digits in compliance with HS in a way which shall cover cigars, cheroots, cigarillos, cigarettes containing tobacco or of tobacco substitutes, reconstituted tobacco, products of other tobacco, substitute, extract, essence.

³ Zhang, "Economics of Tobacco Toolkit, Tool 5 : Understand and Evaluate the Impact of Tobacco Control Policies on Employment."

⁴ International Monetary Fund (IMF), "International Financial Statistics Exchange Rates"; T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, "Sigara Üretimi, İthalatı, İç Satışı ve İhracatı"; T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı (GİB), "Bütçe Gelirleri"; Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Bitkisel Üretim İstatistikleri"; Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Yıllık Sanayi ve Hizmet İstatistikleri."

⁵ Munafò, "Are E-Cigarettes Tobacco Products?"

⁶ T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı Gümrükler Genel Müdürlüğü, Yeni Nesil Tütün Mamülü; T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı, "Ticaret Bakanlığı 2019 Yılı Faaliyet Raporu."

⁷ Euromonitor International, "Passport Statistics."

⁸ ECigIntelligence, "Bans for RRP Products around the World Data."

⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2149 Sayılı 25.02.2020 Tarihli Elektronik Sigara ve Benzeri Cihazlar ile Bazı Tütün Mamulleri ve Tütün Mamulünü Taklit Eder Tarzda Kullanılan Mamullerin İthaline İlişkin Karar.

¹⁰ T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı Gümrükler Genel Müdürlüğü, Yeni Nesil Tütün Mamülü; T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı, "Ticaret Bakanlığı 2019 Yılı Faaliyet Raporu"; T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, 4733 Sayılı Tütün, Tütün Mamülleri ve Alkol Piyasasının Düzenlenmesine Dair Kanun.

¹¹ TMMOB Ziraat Mühendisleri Odası, "Tütün Raporu - 2018"; T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, 4733 Sayılı Tütün, Tütün Mamülleri ve Alkol Piyasasının Düzenlenmesine Dair Kanun.

¹² Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), "FAO Database."

¹³ Yurtoğlu, "Türkiye Cumhuriyeti'nde Tütün Tekeli ve Sigara Fabrikalarının Tarihsel Gelişimi (1923-1950)."

¹⁴ Türkiye Cumhuriyet Merkez Bankası (TCMB), "Ödemeler Dengesi İstatistikleri."

¹⁵ FdiMarkets, "FDI Database."

¹⁶ T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, "Tütün Mamulleri İstatistikleri."

¹⁷ International Monetary Fund (IMF), "International Financial Statistics Exchange Rates."

¹⁸ T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı (GİB), "Bütçe Gelirleri."

¹⁹ T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, "Sigara Üretimi, İthalatı, İç Satışı ve İhracatı."

²⁰ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Bitkisel Üretim İstatistikleri"; Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Yıllık Sanayi ve Hizmet İstatistikleri."

²¹ T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, "T.C. Tütün ve Alkol Piyasası Düzenleme Kurumu Faaliyet Raporu 2017."

²² T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı; Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "TÜİK Database."

²³ TMMOB Ziraat Mühendisleri Odası, "Tütün Raporu - 2018."

²⁴ CEPII, "BACI International Trade Database at the Product-Level."

²⁵ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Dış Ticaret İstatistikleri."

²⁶ United Nations Comtrade, "UN Comtrade Database."

B.Demand Dynamics: Tobacco Use Patterns and Behavior

B.1.Summary

Based on our findings on the demand side of the market in Turkey, it is clear that to end 39. smoking we need more effective policies that target certain demographic groups (such as the groups with higher and/or increasing rates of smoking prevalence) and to better understand the perception among Turkish people regarding alternative methods of cessation. Our analyses have generated some findings that present surprising and persistent contrasts, especially when evaluated from an international perspective. For example, we find that women in Turkey are more likely to be smokers than women in benchmark countries. Moreover, better educated women in Turkey are more likely to be smokers than less educated women, which indicates that providing people with education is not sufficient. Such a pattern that emerges in descriptive statistics is worthy of further, more detailed analysis. Another striking finding is the high prevalence of smoking in the youth and students, in addition to the very young age when many people start smoking in Turkey. Such findings indicate a need to scrutinize the tobacco control policies as they actually apply to the youth and to students. We need to think more creatively on how we can engage families, schools, and educators in the endeavor to keep youth away from tobacco and to assist them in smoking cessation if they have already initiated smoking. Given the highly addictive nature of smoking, and the enormous difficulty of quitting for many smokers, it is preferable that the youth abstain from smoking than try to quit.

B.2. Demographics of Tobacco Use in the World

- **40.** The main source of information on the consumption of tobacco and tobacco products is national-level household surveys. In these surveys, the consumption of tobacco products is measured either directly by asking general questions, such as "Do you currently use any tobacco product, smoked or smokeless?" or by combining individual responses to targeted questions regarding different types of smoked or smokeless tobacco products. The challenge in generating statistics that are comparable across countries is that many countries do not conduct household surveys on a regular basis and, when they do, they do so with different underlying protocols. Therefore, for assessing the overall trend of tobacco use in the world, various statistical methods must be employed to combine these distinct, but not standardized sets of surveys in order to provide accurate estimations and comparisons. In this section, we provide our findings and the analytical tools that are available for comparatively analyzing tobacco consumption behavior in Turkey.
- **41.** Estimations reveal that the overall prevalence of tobacco use among adults is declining globally, from 33.3 percent in 2000 to 22.8 percent in 2020; furthermore, historically men are more likely to smoke. In two decades, the prevalence of tobacco use has declined by over 10 percent from 33.3 percent in 2000. As depicted in Figure 12, in 2000 tobacco use prevalence for men was 50.0 percent, which dropped to 37.5 percent in 2020. Likewise, the prevalence of tobacco use for women is declining. In 2000, 16.7 percent of adult women were using tobacco; in 2020, this figure is 8.0 percent. Furthermore, according to the World Health Organization (WHO) report on trends in the prevalence of tobacco use, it is projected that the prevalence will decrease from

22.8 percent to 20.9 percent in 2025. Worldwide projections indicate that there are 1.3 billion tobacco users in 2020, with a 71 million reduction in the number of users in the last two decades. Moreover, it is projected that the number will decrease by another 27 million between 2020 and 2025. However, these projections show that, given the current trend, the 30 percent reduction target, set according to Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 3.1.a. by WHO as part of the Noncommunicable Disease (NCD) targets, may not be achieved between 2010 and 2025.²⁷

| 50.0 | 16.1 | | | | | |
|------|------|------|------|------|-------------|--------------|
| | 46.4 | 43.2 | 40.3 | 37.5 | 25.1 | Men |
| 33.3 | 30.1 | 27.3 | 24.9 | 22.8 | 55.1 | Both genders |
| 16.7 | 13.7 | 11.4 | 9.5 | 22.0 | 20.9 | Women |
| 2000 | 2005 | 2010 | 2015 | 2020 | 6.7 2025 | |

Figure 12 - Global prevalence of tobacco use by gender, +15 population, age standardized, %, 2000-2025ⁱⁱⁱ

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

Note: Data for the years between 2000-2015 is fitted/estimated whereas 2020 and 2025 data is projected.

42. Among age groups, 45-54 year olds have the highest prevalence in global statistics. The prevalence of tobacco use by adults among those between 45 and 54 years of age is estimated to be 28.8 percent in 2020, which is the highest rate among all age groups. As shown in Table 2, this age group has had the highest prevalence rate in years 2000 to 2015 and is projected to have the highest rate until 2025. Moreover, the prevalence rates in ages 35 to 75 are greater than the world average in all years shown in the table. Another noteworthy pattern is that between 2000 and 2020, the prevalence of tobacco use decreased in all age groups and the decline is expected to continue in all age groups from 2020 to 2025. In addition, prevalence rates have been consistently higher for men than for women in each age group (see Table 3).

ⁱⁱⁱ In general, crude prevalence rates take into account the underlying population sizes, while the agestandardized estimates take in a standard population distribution across calculations. This way, agestandardized estimations across countries and time are based on the same age distribution structure so that a more comparative picture of the characteristic in question is possible. In particular, in this sub-chapter covering the analyses of WHO's global report on trends in the prevalence of tobacco smoking, WHO Standard Population is employed to analyze global tobacco use dynamics throughout time.

| Age group | 2000 | 2005 | 2010 | 2015 | 2020 | 2025 |
|-----------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| 15-24 | 22.6 | 20.3 | 18.6 | 17.0 | 15.5 | 14.2 |
| 25-34 | 31.7 | 28.9 | 26.1 | 23.9 | 22.0 | 20.1 |
| 35-44 | 38.6 | 35.0 | 32.0 | 29.2 | 26.5 | 24.5 |
| 45-54 | 41.4 | 37.5 | 34.0 | 31.3 | 28.8 | 26.3 |
| 55-64 | 39.8 | 35.5 | 32.1 | 29.3 | 26.8 | 25.0 |
| 65-74 | 34.4 | 30.9 | 27.7 | 25.0 | 23.0 | 21.2 |
| 75-84 | 27.8 | 24.6 | 22.3 | 20.2 | 18.4 | 16.8 |
| 85 + | 19.4 | 18.3 | 15.9 | 14.3 | 13.0 | 11.9 |
| Total | 33.3 | 30.1 | 27.3 | 24.9 | 22.8 | 20.9 |

Table 2 - Global prevalence of tobacco use by age groups, +15 population, age standardized,%, 2000-2025

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

Note: Data for the years between 2000-2015 is fitted/estimated whereas 2020 and 2025 data is projected. In each year, the age groups with higher than average prevalence rate are shaded in gray.

Table 3 - Global prevalence of tobacco use by age groups and gender, +15 population, age standardized, %, 2000-2025

| Age group | Gender | 2000 | 2005 | 2010 | 2015 | 2020 | 2025 |
|-----------|--------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| 15-24 | Men | 35.3 | 32.4 | 30.1 | 27.6 | 25.4 | 23.6 |
| | Women | 9.3 | 7.7 | 6.5 | 5.6 | 4.8 | 4.2 |
| 25-34 | Men | 50.0 | 46.1 | 42.2 | 39.3 | 36.6 | 33.5 |
| | Women | 12.9 | 11.1 | 9.4 | 7.8 | 6.7 | 5.8 |
| 35-44 | Men | 59.0 | 55.2 | 51.7 | 47.7 | 43.9 | 41.3 |
| | Women | 17.7 | 14.3 | 11.8 | 10.2 | 8.7 | 7.3 |
| 45-54 | Men | 61.0 | 57.1 | 53.3 | 50.5 | 47.5 | 44.0 |
| | Women | 21.7 | 17.8 | 14.7 | 11.9 | 9.9 | 8.5 |
| 55-64 | Men | 55.6 | 51.8 | 49.0 | 46.1 | 43.4 | 41.7 |
| | Women | 24.6 | 19.9 | 15.8 | 13.0 | 10.7 | 8.8 |
| 65-74 | Men | 46.9 | 44.0 | 41.0 | 38.4 | 37.0 | 35.1 |
| | Women | 23.6 | 19.5 | 16.0 | 13.0 | 10.5 | 8.7 |
| 75-84 | Men | 39.2 | 36.1 | 33.8 | 31.8 | 29.9 | 28.3 |
| | Women | 20.2 | 16.7 | 13.9 | 11.7 | 9.7 | 8.1 |
| 85+ | Men | 31.1 | 29.6 | 26.9 | 25.0 | 23.4 | 22.0 |
| | Women | 14.1 | 13.0 | 10.6 | 8.8 | 7.5 | 6.4 |

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

Note: Data for the years between 2000-2015 is fitted/estimated whereas 2020 and 2025 data is projected. The cells with the lowest values are shaded in light gray. The shade of color turns from light gray to dark gray as the prevalence rate increases.

43. The prevalence of tobacco use is much higher than average in South-East Asia, Western Pacific, and Europe while it is the lowest in Africa. Currently, the world average for tobacco use prevalence is predicted to be 22.8 percent in the population of individuals who are at least 15 years old. Grouping countries by region (the Americas, Africa, Europe, Eastern Mediterranean, South-East Asia, and Western Pacific), we observe that three regions have a higher prevalence rate than the world average. In descending order, they are South-East Asia (27.9 percent), Western

Pacific (25.7 percent), and Europe (25.6 percent). The Eastern Mediterranean has a prevalence rate of 18.6 percent, followed by the Americas (17.5 percent). The lowest prevalence rate in the six regions is observed in Africa with a remarkably low rate of 12.3 percent (see Figure 13). In total, out of 1.3 billion tobacco users, with 425 million users, the Western Pacific is the region with the highest number of tobacco users. The second region with the highest number of tobacco users is South-East Asia, with 416 million users. Europe comes the third, with 182 million users trailed by the Americas with 137 million users.



Figure 13 - Projected tobacco use rate by regions, +15 population, age standardized, 2020

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

44. Although the prevalence rates for women vary from one region to another, the rates are higher in more economically developed regions. For men, the average tobacco smoking rate is 37.5 percent globally, which indicates that out of 1.3 billion tobacco smokers in the world, about 1.1 billion are men. Tobacco use prevalence for men is higher than the global average in the Western Pacific (47.9 percent) and in South-East Asia (46.0 percent) regions. For women, on the other hand, the global average is relatively low at 8.0 percent, corresponding to approximately 235 million women tobacco users in the world. There are only two regions where the prevalence rate for women is above the global average, and these are Europe (18.7 percent) and the Americas (12.0 percent). Interestingly, in the Americas, where the prevalence rate for men is below the global average for men, the prevalence rate for women is above the global rate for women. Following Europe and the Americas, the third highest prevalence rate for women is in South-East Asia at 9.7 percent. In the other three regions, women have prevalence rates of less than 4 percent. Considering both men and women, the prevalence rates are above the global average only in Europe and South-East Asia. In addition, the sharpest contrast between the prevalence rates for men and women is found in the Western Pacific, where 47.9 percent of men use tobacco products, yet only 3.1 percent of women use tobacco products (see Table 4). From another perspective, in a total of 235 million women tobacco users worldwide, 69 million are in South-East Asia, 66 million are in Europe, and 48 million are in the Americas. For women, the prevalence rate is meager in the Western Pacific region, which has 31 million women tobacco users.

Table 4 - Projected rates of tobacco use by gender and regions, +15 population, age standardized, %, 2020

| | Both genders | Men | Women | Difference between men and women |
|-----------------------|--------------|------|-------|-------------------------------------|
| All | 22.8 | 37.5 | 8.0 | 29.5 |
| South-East Asia | 27.9 | 46.0 | 9.7 | 36.3 |
| Western Pacific | 25.7 | 47.9 | | 44.3 |
| Europe | 25.6 | 32.5 | 18.7 | |
| Eastern Mediterranean | 18.6 | 33.3 | | 29.4 |
| Americas | 17.5 | 23.1 | 12.0 | |
| Africa | 12.3 | 20.7 | | |
| | | | | |

Higher than the world average Lower than the world average

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

In high-income countries, the prevalence rates for men are very similar to the rates for 45. women. Comparing the overall prevalence rates in high and middle-income countries, we observe that they are very close to each other and also higher than the world average. They vary between 23.7 percent and 24.4 percent. On the contrary, in low-income countries, the prevalence rate is projected to be 14.6 percent, which is lower than the world average. A breakdown by gender reveals another pattern. In high-income countries, the prevalence rate among men is 29.1 percent, which is lower than the world average. Yet, the prevalence rate among women in high-income countries is 18.1 percent, which is much higher than the world average of 8.0 percent. Due to the high prevalence rate of women in high-income countries, these countries have the narrowest gender gap in the prevalence rates across income groups. In the case of men prevalence rates, upper-middle-income and low-middle-income countries have notably the highest prevalence rates with 41.9 and 41.0 percent, respectively, and the world average is exceeded only in these two groups of countries (see Figure 14). We also note that the prevalence rates have been decreasing in all income groups throughout 2000 and 2020.





Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

46. The most common tobacco products consumed are cigarettes in all region and income

groups; however, products other than cigarettes are also common in South-East Asia. Based on the hypothetical age-standardized rates, the global prevalence rate of tobacco use in 2018 is estimated to be 23.6 percent, while the prevalence rates of smoked tobacco and cigarettes are 18.9 percent and 16.1 percent, respectively. According to the prevalence rates of different product types, the most popular tobacco product is cigarettes. However, deriving global trends in any other kind of tobacco product from these estimates is technically not possible since the level of dualuse is unknown. When the difference in the prevalence rates of tobacco products and cigarettes is calculated, it can be inferred that in South-East Asia, tobacco products other than cigarettes are more widely used compared to other regions, as seen in Figure 15. In addition, as depicted in Figure 16, cigarettes stand out as the most popular tobacco products in all income groups. In the group of lower-middle-income countries, the identified pattern among the South-East Asian countries yields a higher difference between the prevalence rates of "any tobacco products" and "cigarettes". Since the introduction of the new products such as e-vapor products and HTPs is quite recent, there is a lack of survey data on these products to allow us to estimate global trends. In this regard, to be able to evaluate tobacco use and product preferences in detail in the future, the existing surveys will need to be expanded to collect more data on the demand for these new products.





Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations
Figure 16 - Estimated tobacco consumption rates by income levels and type of tobacco products, +15 population, age standardized, %, 2018



Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

- 47. Although the analysis of trends by regions and income groups provides a general perspective on tobacco consumption, we should note that trends are not the same in each country in a given region or income group. Some featured findings are summarized below:²⁸
 - Nauru (52.3 percent), Kiribati (51.2 percent), Tuvalu (48.1 percent), Myanmar (44.2 percent), and Chile (43.0 percent) are the countries with the highest rates of tobacco use. Although the low-income countries have the lowest prevalence rates in all income groups, Myanmar, a low-income country, has the 4th highest prevalence rate in the world. These five countries have high prevalence rates among men, and have high prevalence rates among women also.
 - The prevalence rates for women are higher than the rates for men in only three countries in the world: The prevalence rate for women is 28.1 percent in Sweden, 18.6 percent in Denmark, and 52.5 percent in Nauru.
 - Nauru (52.5 percent), Chile (38.1 percent), Serbia (36.9 percent), Lebanon (35.4 percent), and Kiribati (34.8 percent) are the top 5 countries with the highest prevalence rates for women.
 - In the case of men prevalence rates, the top 5 countries are Indonesia (70.7 percent), Myanmar (69.7 percent), Kiribati (68.7 percent), Tuvalu (66 percent), and Timor-Leste (63.3 percent). Interestingly, in Indonesia and Timor-Leste (two lower-middle-income countries), even though the prevalence rates for men are much higher than their regional averages, there is a considerable gender gap in the prevalence rates as the rates for women are 5 percent and 10 percent in Indonesia and Timor-Leste, respectively.
 - The highest numbers of tobacco users are in China (306 million), India (116 million), Indonesia (61 million), USA (51 million), Russia (31 million), Brazil (28 million), Bangladesh (25 million), Japan (21 million), Pakistan (21 million), and Turkey (19 million).
 - Countries with the lowest prevalence rates are mostly low and lower-middle-income countries. In ascending order Ghana (3.3 percent), Ethiopia (4 percent), Nigeria (4.7

percent), Sao Tome and Principe (5 percent), and Benin (6.4 percent) are the five countries with the lowest prevalence rates. While, Ghana, Ethiopia, Nigeria, and Sao Tome and Principe are listed among the countries with the lowest men prevalence rates, a different set of states have the lowest women prevalence rates such as Azerbaijan, Egypt, North Korea with prevalence rates less than 0.4 percent even though they have prevalence rates of more than 38 percent among men. Ghana is among the five countries with the lowest prevalence rate for both men and women.

- The five countries with the highest disparity of tobacco prevalence rate for men and women are Indonesia, Timor Leste, Armenia, Lesotho, and Myanmar.
- In years 2000 to 2015, a remarkable reduction is observed in tobacco prevalence rates in certain countries. In this period, Nepal (24.1 percent), Peru (22.4 percent), Norway (21.5 percent), Argentina (21.4 percent), and Sweden (20.3 percent) witnessed substantial decreases in their prevalence rates. Peru had a considerable decline in its prevalence rate, mostly because of a decline in its men prevalence rate. Yet, Nepal, Sweden, and Norway have experienced a sharp decrease in their women prevalence rates (see Table 5).
- The countries where the most substantial increases in the prevalence rates of tobacco use took place are five European countries for women, but African and Asian countries for men. Between 2000 and 2015, the prevalence rate for women increased the most in Croatia, Portugal, Slovakia, Russia, and Cyprus. For men, the five countries with the highest increase were Lesotho, Congo, Niger, Egypt, and Indonesia (see Table 6).

| | Men | | | Women | | | Both genders | | |
|-------------|------|------|--------|-------|------|--------|--------------|------|--------|
| | 2000 | 2015 | Change | 2000 | 2015 | Change | 2000 | 2015 | Change |
| Nepal | 67.8 | 48.8 | -19.0 | 44.4 | 16.4 | -28.0 | 55.8 | 31.7 | -24.1 |
| Peru | 54.4 | 19.2 | -35.2 | 14.1 | 4.5 | -9.6 | 34.1 | 11.7 | -22.4 |
| Norway | 43.9 | 21.7 | -22.2 | 40.7 | 20.0 | -20.7 | 42.3 | 20.8 | -21.5 |
| Argentina | 53.2 | 31.1 | -22.1 | 37.7 | 17.1 | -20.6 | 45.2 | 23.8 | -21.4 |
| Sweden | 48.3 | 30.5 | -17.8 | 54.4 | 31.7 | -22.7 | 51.4 | 31.1 | -20.3 |
| Comoros | 39.4 | 29.2 | -10.2 | 39.6 | 10.7 | -28.9 | 39.5 | 20.0 | -19.5 |
| Nauru | 68.1 | 54.3 | -13.8 | 76.5 | 55.7 | -20.8 | 72.3 | 55.0 | -17.3 |
| South Korea | 64.8 | 40.9 | -23.9 | 7.0 | 5.8 | -1.2 | 35.6 | 23.1 | -12.5 |
| Guyana | 46.1 | 24.3 | | 5.1 | 2.5 | -2.6 | 25.5 | 13.4 | -12.1 |

Table 5 - Top 5 countries have the most estimated decrease in tobacco use prevalence rates,+15 population, crude adjusted prevalence, %, 2000-2015

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

Note: In each column, top 5 countries are shaded in gray. Changes are point differences.

| | Men | | | Women | | | Both genders | | |
|-----------|------|------|--------|-------|------|--------|--------------|------|--------|
| | 2000 | 2015 | Change | 2000 | 2015 | Change | 2000 | 2015 | Change |
| Lesotho | 35.7 | 50.2 | 14.5 | 10.5 | 5.1 | -5.4 | 22.3 | 27.3 | 5.0 |
| Congo | 18.2 | 27.5 | 9.3 | 3.9 | 2.2 | -1.7 | 11.0 | 14.8 | 3.8 |
| Oman | 17.7 | 18.7 | 1.0 | 1.1 | 0.8 | -0.3 | 10.9 | 13.4 | 2.5 |
| Moldova | 43.6 | 44.5 | 0.9 | 5.1 | 5.5 | 0.4 | 23.2 | 23.9 | 0.7 |
| Niger | 13.6 | 15.8 | 2.2 | 2.2 | 1.0 | -1.2 | 7.8 | 8.4 | 0.6 |
| Egypt | 40.3 | 41.6 | 1.3 | 0.9 | 0.4 | -0.5 | 20.5 | 21.0 | 0.5 |
| Croatia | 41.0 | 36.7 | -4.3 | 25.1 | 29.2 | 4.1 | 32.6 | 32.8 | 0.2 |
| Portugal | 34.0 | 30.5 | -3.5 | 12.9 | 16.0 | 3.1 | 22.9 | 22.8 | -0.1 |
| Slovakia | 43.7 | 38.7 | -5.0 | 19.7 | 22.7 | 3.0 | 31.2 | 30.4 | -0.8 |
| Indonesia | 65.7 | 70.1 | 4.4 | 14.6 | 5.9 | -8.7 | 40.0 | 38.0 | -2.0 |
| Russia | 56.1 | 43.8 | -12.3 | 11.5 | 13.1 | 1.6 | 32.0 | 27.0 | -5.0 |
| Cyprus | 63.2 | 51.3 | -11.9 | 21.0 | 21.9 | 0.9 | 42.1 | 36.9 | -5.2 |

Table 6 - Top 5 countries that have the highest estimated increase in tobacco use prevalence rates, +15 population, crude adjusted prevalence, %, 2000-2015

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition", TEPAV visualizations

Note: In each column, top 5 countries are shaded in gray. Changes are point differences.

B.3. Demographics of Tobacco Use in Turkey

- 48. For the detailed analysis of consumption of tobacco products in Turkey, we rely on micro data collected by nationally representative surveys. Shared studies in the previous sub-chapter that aim to understand the general trend in the world are based on estimations derived from various country-level national surveys.^{iv 29} Compared to most other data sources, national-level surveys monitoring tobacco use in different countries are conducted with varying sampling conditions over the course of varying years- in other words a lack of timely updated country-level standardizations. Due to the existing data limitations, data gathered from national surveys are extended with distinctive estimation methods in order to yield a relevant global outcome, enabling a wide range of international comparisons. In this particular study, we use micro data from national surveys in order to analyze the patterns of tobacco use in Turkey in further detail. Our aim is to avoid misinterpretations that can be caused by data imputations as it was the case in the global estimations. Our search for nationally representative surveys in Turkey resulted in the following: the Turkey Health Surveys (THS) by Turkish Statistical Institute (TurkStat), Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS), and Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS), STEPwise approach to Surveillance (STEPS), and Hacettepe University Turkey Demographic and Health Surveys (THDSs). A short description of each data source is given below:
 - <u>Turkey Health Surveys (THSs)</u>: These surveys collect information about tobacco consumption status of individuals who are at least 15 years old in Turkey. Specifically, the status of tobacco use by gender and age groups and the reasons behind starting tobacco use are available in these surveys for 2010, 2012, 2014, 2016, and 2019.³⁰ Micro data are available upon request and purchase.^v Using these data, further cross

^{iv} An example study is World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Smoking 2000-2025 Second Edition"

^v Micro data for 2019 is not available as of July 2020.

analyses can be conducted on the duration of smoking, starting age, attempts for cessation, and exposures to second-hand smoking in indoor areas.³¹

- Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS): As part of the Global Tobacco Surveillance System (GTSS), GATS is a global standard for systematically monitoring adult tobacco use and key tobacco control indicators and programs. GTSS aims to enhance the capacity of countries to design, implement, and evaluate tobacco control interventions, and monitor key articles of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) and the WHO MPOWER technical package. Since GATS is a globally standardized survey (unlike the domestic THS), information on numerous countries are available which allows us to benchmark the position of Turkey.³² In particular, GATS's survey results and micro data are available for 30 countries that are "low and middle-income countries with the highest burden of tobacco use".³³ Unfortunately, through the online data interface of TurkStat, the only available information for GATS is a press release for the 2012 survey, even though the surveys were conducted in 2008, 2012, and 2016 for Turkey.³⁴ A similar problem of missing information is also noticed for the WHO website, as there is no up-to-date information regarding the 2016 GATS of Turkey.³⁵
- Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS): Similar to GATS, the GYTS is another component of GTSS. The survey focuses on youth between ages 13 to 15, and collects information in schools. In Turkey, the surveys were conducted in 2003, 2005, 2009, 2012, and 2017.³⁶ In addition to GATS and GYTS, there are two more surveys within the GTSS: Global School Personnel Survey (GSPS) and Global Health Professions Student Survey (GHPSS).³⁷ The GSPS surveys teachers and administrators from the same schools that involve in the GYTS. However, the GSPS surveys have never been conducted before in Turkey. Lastly, the GHPSS focuses on 3rd-year students pursuing degrees in dentistry, medicine, nursing, and pharmacy, and was only carried out in Turkey for the year 2010.³⁸
- STEPwise approach to Surveillance (STEPS): This is a simple, standardized survey for collecting, analyzing, and disseminating data in WHO member countries on NCDs and their risk factors.³⁹ GATS covers information on background characteristics, tobacco use, type of tobacco products, e-cigarettes, effects of second-hand smoking, and the economics, media, and knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions on tobacco smoking. STEPS, on the other hand, does not focus specifically on tobacco smoking but covers many NCDs.⁴⁰ Even though STEPS surveys were conducted for 2015 and 2017 in Turkey, these micro datasets were unavailable on relevant institutional websites, and other online searches brought in no results.⁴¹ Hence, detailed cross analyses could not be conducted on STEPS surveys; nevertheless, the reported tabulation may be interpreted. One remark is that the 2015 survey is not representative of the general adult population of Turkey, but it focuses on Syrian refugees living in Turkey instead.⁴²
- <u>Turkey Demographic and Health Surveys (TDHSs)</u>: Although not deliberately designed to monitor tobacco use, the Turkey Demographic and Health Surveys (TDHSs), carried out by Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies since

1993, are nationwide field surveys that cover questions regarding tobacco use in some years.⁴³ TDHSs are a unique dataset because of its coverage over a wide range of years. Yet, these surveys are of limited use in the analysis of tobacco use due to their primary focus on the overall population and fertility dynamics, and their sampling of women only.

49. The estimated prevalence rates differ across surveys, yet the general tendencies and trends regarding tobacco use in Turkey across data sources are similar enough so that it is safe to conclude that there is no decreasing trend. As tobacco control policies have been formulated and enacted in various countries after the 2000s across the world, prevalence rates from an earlier date provide a starting point for analyzing the impact of these policies. Beginning with the earliest datasets gathered from GATS, STEPS, and THS, past survey results are compiled alongside the estimates reported in the literature. In Table 7, prevalence rates of daily tobacco smoking among adults in Turkey are summarized from these sources in years for which data are available, spanning the period from 1988 to 2019. As seen in Table 7, historically, tobacco use in Turkey has been common among adults. The first nationwide study, conducted in 1988, disclosed that the overall smoking prevalence among those 15 years or older was 43.6 percent. In 1993 and 2003, tobacco smoking rates were 33.6 percent and 33.8 percent among those 18 years of age or older. According to GATS, daily tobacco smoking prevalence rates of 27.4 percent, 23.8 percent, and 28.6 percent were recorded in 2008, 2012, and 2016 respectively, among those aged 15 years or older. STEPS data suggest that the daily prevalence rate of tobacco smoking among adults was 29.2 percent in 2017. In the THS data, 25.4 percent, 23.2 percent, 27.3 percent, 26.5 percent, and 28.0 percent prevalence rates were identified for the years 2010, 2012, 2014, 2016, and 2019. Although an assessment is complicated by methodological differences across datasets, a comparison of the different waves of a given survey can give us a hint about the time trend. Until 2012, a decline in the prevalence rate is observed in both GATS and THS. From that year on, no time trend is visible in the prevalence rates. Nevertheless, with a 28.0 percent prevalence rate of daily use in 2019, it is clear that the current rate is much higher than it was in the past. With this latest information, it is estimated that there are almost 18 million adult daily smokers in Turkey. Furthermore, among OECD countries, Turkey has the second highest smoking rate, with 28.0 percent of persons over 15 years of age declaring themselves to be daily smokers.⁴⁴

| Years | Literature | GATS | STEP | 5 THS |
|--------------------|------------|------|------|-------|
| 1988 ⁴⁵ | 43.6* | | | |
| 1993 ⁴⁶ | 33.6* ** | | | |
| 200347 | 33.8** | | | |
| 2008 | | 27.4 | | |
| 2010 | | | | 25.4 |
| 2012 | | 23.8 | | 23.2 |
| 2014 | | | | 27.3 |
| 2016 | | 29.6 | | 26.5 |
| 2017 ⁴⁸ | | | 29.2 | |
| 2019 | | | | 28.0 |

Table 7 - Prevalence of daily tobacco smoking among adults in Turkey according to differentdata sources, %, 1988-2019

Source: CDC, TurkStat, WHO, TEPAV compilations and calculations

Note: * The quoted source does not specify whether the rate is for daily smokers or for daily and occasional smokers altogether.

** In 1993 and 2003 the statistics are for adults older than 18 years old; in the rest of the years listed in the table the statistics are for adults older than 15 years old.

The cells with the lowest values in each column are shaded in dark green. The shade of color turns from dark green to light green, from light green to yellow, from yellow to red tones as the prevalence rate increases within the respective column.

- 50. Turkey's recent demographics, regarding the refugees and asylum seekers that have been hosted since 2010, necessitates their inclusion into data gathering as a distinct group, and new tobacco control policies need to consider the effects of these immigration waves. Turkey's official population statistics indicate that there are 83.2 million citizens as of the end of 2019.⁴⁹ In addition to citizens, the immigration phenomenon in Turkey's population dynamics has become apparent in recent years following the refugee problem that emerged as a result of the civil war in Syria after 2010. Notably, there are 3.6 million registered Syrian refugees residing under temporary protection in Turkey.⁵⁰ Combined with Syrians under Temporary Protection (SuTP) and other refugees and asylum seekers, mostly from Iraq, Afghanistan, and Iran, there are almost 4 million refugees and asylum seekers residing in Turkey.⁵¹ Accordingly, these 4 million people make Turkey the world's largest hosting country of forcibly displaced populations.⁵² In the case of tobacco consumption, 2015 and 2017 STEPS surveys indicate that the prevalence rate of daily tobacco consumption was higher among SuTP than Turkish citizens. In particular, according to STEPS surveys, shares of tobacco smokers are 34.0 percent and 31.5 percent among SuTP and Turkish citizens, respectively.⁵³ Since micro data for STEPS surveys are not available, and the tabulated results for 2015 and 2017 are not given for the same age breakdowns, there are methodological constraints for precise comments on the previous finding, yet a higher prevalence rate among SuTP indicates that current policy context should be extended to contemplate this new situation.
- 51. Considering the advantages and the drawbacks of the available data sources, we have decided to conduct detailed analyses using GATS micro datasets for this study. In the case of tobacco use in Turkey, the fundamental source of information is survey data. The first-hand survey-based data sources in Turkey are compared in Table 8, with respect to their time coverage, the availability of micro data, the sampling approach, the degree of detail in the questionnaires,

and the number of countries for which micro data from standardized surveys are available. The STEPS standardized survey is conducted in 114 countries. However, it is a fairly new data source in comparison to other alternatives and it has been conducted in Turkey in only one year. This renders impossible to track the impact of changes in tobacco control policy over time. In terms of time coverage, the THDSs is the best alternative that covers the most extensive period. Yet, the main focus of the THDSs is not health or tobacco consumption, rather it is demographics and population dynamics. There is a limited number of background questions on smoking behavior; moreover, the sample covers only women. The THS is another option with multiple years of information and with the most up-to-date data for Turkey. Nevertheless, micro data for 2019 is not available from THS as of July 2020 and this is a survey designed specifically to be conducted nationally and not internationally as GATS or STEPS. Accordingly, the THS does not allow international comparisons. Finally, GATS, with its multiple years of coverage and its standardized approach, allows comparing Turkey's performance with other countries. However, using GATS naturally limits the number of potential benchmark countries since it is only conducted in 30 countries, whereas other international alternative sources of information, such as STEPS, spans 114 countries.

| Source | Years | Micro data availability | Sampling coverage | Degree of detail | Number of countries | Advantages |
|--------|--|---------------------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---|
| GATS | 2008, 2012, 2016 | Yes | Adults, both gender | High | 30 countries | Wide time span Allowing cross analyses Wide coverage Detailed content Existence of benchmark countries |
| STEPS | 2017 | No | Adults, both gender | High | 114 countries | Wide coverage Detailed content Existence of benchmark countries |
| TDHS | 1993, 2003, 2008, 2013, 2018 | Yes (upon request) | Adults, only women | Low | Only Turkey | Wide time span Allowing cross analyses |
| THS | 2010, 2012, 2014, 2016, 2019 | Yes (upon request and purchase) | Adults, both gender | High | Only Turkey | Wide time span Allowing cross analyses Wide coverage Detailed content |

| Table 8 - Advantages and | drawbacks of surveys on | tobacco use in Turk | ev |
|--------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|-------|
| Lusie o Lusianages and | | | ·•• . |

Source: TEPAV compilations

Note: Best alternatives in each column are shaded in gray. THS micro data for 2019 is not available as of July 2020.

52. Within the set of 30 countries that have conducted a GATS survey at least once, Mexico, Russia, and Ukraine are selected as benchmark countries to compare with Turkey, based on a filtering approach. The 30 countries for which GATS micro data are available are depicted in Figure 17. Among these 30 countries, benchmark countries to compare with Turkey's tobacco smoking trends are selected using the methodology laid out in Figure 18. In order to keep track of

tobacco prevalence changes over time, countries that have data for at least two years are selected first. Accordingly, out of these 30 countries, only eight countries- India, Mexico, Philippines, Russia, Turkey, Ukraine, Uruguay, and Vietnam- have data for more than one year.^{vi} These eight countries are investigated based on their similarities as to their average income, population size, and geographic proximity to Turkey. With regards to income groups, Mexico and Russia, as upper-middle-income countries, are similar to Turkey. Regarding population size, as Turkey has more than 80 million citizens, Mexico, Philippines, Russia, Ukraine, and Vietnam, are somewhat similar with populations varying from 45 million to 145 million. Furthermore, according to geographic proximity, Russia and Ukraine are chosen since these two countries are in the same region as Turkey. In addition to these criteria, countries that currently have similar smoking prevalence rates as Turkey, countries in which tobacco smoking has increased over time, countries which are better off, as their tobacco smoking has decreased over time, are also grouped. In the end, Mexico, Russia, and Ukraine meet the criteria at least three times out of six; and as a result are selected as benchmark countries for further comparisons.



Figure 17 - Countries to have participated in a GATS survey, as of April 4, 2020

Source: CDC, WHO, TEPAV visualizations

^{vi} The latest survey data for Bangladesh and Brazil are not available. Thailand's latest survey data is for 2011, whereas other countries have data for at least 2015, i.e., Turkey - 2016. Hence, Bangladesh, Brazil, and Thailand are not categorized among the countries that have "data available for at least two years."



Figure 18 - Benchmark countries selection process and criteria set

Source: CDC, WHO, World Bank, TEPAV calculations

B.3.1. Smoking prevalence rates and demographic information from GATS

53. According to GATS, in 2016, 31.6 percent of adults (19.2 million) in 15 years and older are tobacco smokers in Turkey. In general, tobacco smoking status has three categories: "daily consumption," "less than daily consumption," and "not at all". Occasional users who smoke tobacco products on a less-than-daily basis have a small share in overall smoking prevalence, and the vast majority of tobacco smokers are in fact daily users. Accordingly, in 2016, 29.6 percent of adults were daily smokers, 1.99 percent were occasional smokers (less than daily consumption), and 68.4 percent were non-smokers in Turkey. The daily smoking prevalence rate of 27.4 percent in 2008 decreased to 23.8 percent in 2012. As such, the 29.6 prevalence rate for 2016 does not indicate a decline in prevalence rates in Turkey over the years. In fact when the prevalence rates of daily smokers and less than daily smokers for the years 2008, 2012, and 2016 are scrutinized as shown in Figure 19, it can be said that from 2012 to 2016 those who were less than daily smokers might have become daily smokers, with less than daily smokers having decreased to 2.0 percent from 3.3 percent, while daily smokers have increased from 23.8 percent to 29.6 percent in the respective years.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey (2008, 2012, 2016)), TEPAV calculations

54. The diverse backgrounds of Mexico, Russia, and Ukraine, which possess different dynamics

in tobacco smoking, provide intriguing benchmark comparisons for Turkey. According to the latest available years for each benchmark country, 31.6 percent, 30.3 percent, 22.8 percent, and 16.4 percent of adults were estimated to be smoking in Turkey, Russia, Ukraine, and Mexico, respectively. The smoking prevalence rates of Mexico and Turkey were lower for their respective earlier years, but is seen to have increased in their respective latter years from which the change is estimated, making them examples of worse off countries, with increasing tobacco prevalence rates. On the other hand, Ukraine and Russia have successfully decreased their tobacco smoking rates. In Ukraine, which had the closest prevalence rate to Turkey in the past, the rates are in decline. In 2010, the prevalence rate in Ukraine was 28.3 percent, and in 2017 this rate has gone down to 22.8 percent, showing an overall 5.5 percent improvement. For Russia, the prevalence rate declined from 39.1 percent in 2009 to 30.3 percent in 2016, indicating a remarkable decline of 8.8 percent in less than a decade. Out of the benchmarks nations, only Russia used to have a higher prevalence rate than Turkey, but with the decline in its prevalence rate, Russia today has a similar rate to that of Turkey. So, Mexico has the lowest prevalence rate among benchmark countries, trailed by Ukraine. While Russia used to have the highest prevalence rate, according to the latest data, Turkey has taken that position among benchmark countries (see Figure 20).





Source: CDC, GATS micro data and fact sheets⁵⁴, TEPAV calculations

Note: Respective survey years for countries are provided within the parentheses. * Current tobacco smoking consists of both daily and not daily smoking ratios.

55. Daily tobacco smoking is much more common among men than women in Turkey. On the other hand, the percentages of occasional smokers are almost similar for men and women (2.3 percent and 1.7 percent, respectively) for the year 2016. However, 41.8 percent of adult men and 17.5 percent of adult women are daily smokers in Turkey. Considering the population size, seven out of ten daily smokers in Turkey are men. Regarding occasional smokers, with a more balanced distribution, 57.3 percent of all occasional smokers are men, while 42.7 percent were women. Overall, daily tobacco smoking is much more common among men in all benchmark countries, with more than seven out of ten smokers being men. Yet, the women prevalence rate is the highest in Turkey among all benchmark nations, as women prevalence rates are 3.5 percent, 7.0 percent, 11.3 percent, 17.5 percent in Mexico, Ukraine, Russia, and Turkey, respectively. Even though the total smoking prevalence is higher in Turkey than Russia, men smoking prevalence rates shetween Ukraine and Turkey, the men prevalence rates are closer to one another (see Figure 21).



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

56. The daily tobacco smoking prevalence rate for women is increasing more rapidly in Turkey compared to men. As seen in the global trends, a significant difference between the tobacco use prevalence rate between women and men is observed in Turkey. This difference in Turkey is shown in Figure 22 from a time-series perspective via combining survey results from GATS as well as THS surveys. Both GATS and THS surveys point out that there has been a significant increase in women's smoking rate over the years. According to the GATS survey, the smoking prevalence rate of women increased from 11.6 percent to 17.5 percent, with a change rate of 50.6 percent between 2008 and 2016, while the change rate for men is 4.6 percent in the same period. Similarly, according to the THS survey, the rate of change in the smoking prevalence among women between 2010 and 2019 was 21.7 percent, while the rate of change for men in the same period was much smaller at 6.0 percent.



Figure 22 - Daily smoking prevalence rates by gender throughout years for different data sources in Turkey, +15 population, %, 2008-2019

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2008, 2012, 2016), TurkStat, TEPAV calculations Note: The respective change rate between years is shown within arrows.

57. Those who are between the ages 18-55 have the highest prevalence rates in all benchmark countries with rates varying across countries. Yet, Turkey faces a much higher prevalence

rate for those aged 15-35, implying an even higher prevalence rate in the future unless tobacco control policies are targeted to that age cohort. In general, smoking prevalence is more common among individuals aged between 25-55 in all benchmark countries, except Mexico. In Mexico, similar prevalence rates were observed across different age groups. Turkey deviates from other countries in its high prevalence rates for individuals aged 15-35 (see Figure 23). Considering these facts, as Russia used to have the highest overall smoking prevalence rate in the past among benchmark countries, the lower prevalence rates currently being witnessed among the youth may indicate further decreases in their rates in the future. On the other hand, the high prevalence rates among youth in Turkey foreshadow high rates in the future. If these individuals continue their smoking habits, Turkey is expected to face higher prevalence rates in the future.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

58. In Turkey, the highest prevalence rates belong to individuals between the ages of 18 and 55. Yet, it is necessary to take into consideration that 12 percent of minors are also smokers, and despite preventive policies, an increase in the prevalence rate of minors is observed. The minimum legal age for purchasing tobacco products is 18 years in Turkey as it is the case in 72 countries out of 79 countries that have available information on that topic.⁵⁵ Nonetheless, in 2016, the daily tobacco smoking rate for youth between the ages of 15 and 17 was 12 percent. In other words, one out of ten minors aged 15-17 were smoking daily in Turkey (see Figure 24). In addition, an increase in the daily tobacco smoking rate among youth between the ages of 15 and 17 is observed throughout the years (see Figure 25). Furthermore, there is a rather unusual difference between prevalence rates of those aged 15-17 and 18-24 as observed in Figure 24. Since GATS surveys are conducted during household visits, this may have limited the willingness of the minors to report their smoking habits. The discrepancy between prevalence rates of those aged 15-17 and 18-24 may be due to the survey's self-reporting basis. Nevertheless, the highest prevalence rates belong to individuals aged 18-55 years in Turkey. Notably, more than one out of three people are daily smokers in these ages.





Figure 24 - Shares of various age groups that smoke in Turkey, +15 population, %, 2016

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

Figure 25 - Daily smoking prevalence rates for youth between the ages of 15 and 17 throughout years and different data sources in Turkey, %, 2008-2019



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2008, 2012, 2016), TurkStat, TEPAV calculations

In Turkey, the share of students between the ages of 13 and 15 who use any type of tobacco 59. product is seem to have alarmingly increased over time. This trend weakens the possibility of an expected decrease in tobacco consumption in the future if new policy interventions are not targeted for this particular group in Turkey. As shown in Figure 26, in Turkey, 8.4 percent of students aged 13-15 years were tobacco users in 2003. In 2005, a survey was conducted for the same age interval covering only Institutions of Child Protective Services in Turkey. This survey reveals a much more alarming figure as the tobacco use prevalence rate for these students was estimated to be 26.3 percent. Given GYTS survey's national waves in Turkey in the following years, the tobacco use prevalence rate was 11.9 percent, 16.8 percent, and 17.9 percent in 2009, 2012, and 2017, respectively for this age cohort. Besides, as observed among adults from GATS surveys, GYTS surveys also indicate that boys are more likely to use tobacco products than girls. In particular, in 2017, 23.2 percent of boy students aged 13-15 years are tobacco users, while the prevalence rate among girl students aged 13-15 years is 12.1 percent. In a nutshell, while the tobacco use prevalence rate of students aged 13-15 years is dangerously increasing in Turkey, it can also be predicted that this rate may be higher among students under the government social protection services.





Source: CDC, GYTS Fact Sheets⁵⁶, TEPAV calculations

Note: * 2005 GYTS Survey was conducted via cooperation with the Institutions of Child Protective Services in Turkey. A census sample was taken of all institutionalized students in the qualifying forms in the Turkey-Institutions of Child Protective Services. For the years 2003, 2009, 2012, and 2017, geographic survey coverage was national.

60. More than half of adult daily smokers started smoking daily before becoming of legal age in Turkey. Considering the distribution of daily smokers with respect to their starting ages, as depicted in Figure 27, a remarkable 15.7 percent of daily smokers in Turkey reported that they had started to smoke when they were younger than 15 years old. Moreover, 36.6 percent of daily smokers stated that they had started to smoke when they were aged 15-17. By summing up these two numbers, we can see that in 2016, 52.4 percent of daily smokers in Turkey began to smoke before becoming of legal age. The same analysis conducted for 2012 yields similar results.⁵⁷ Hence, in the last couple of years, tobacco control policies limiting the access of minors to tobacco products in Turkey have not achieved their desired targets.



Figure 27 - Starting age for smoking daily in Turkey, % of current daily smokers, 2016

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

61. Turkey is the country with the highest share of tobacco smokers that have started smoking before the legal age among the benchmark countries. In Figure 28, the share of daily smokers who began smoking when they were younger than 18 is compared with benchmark nations as the minimum legal age for purchasing tobacco products is 18 years in all of these countries.⁵⁸ Accordingly, just 4 percent of the adult population in Mexico that continue to smoke till today started smoking when they were younger than 18. For Ukraine and Russia, this ratio is 10 percent and 13 percent, respectively. Notably, in the adult population of Turkey, 15 percent of them started when under the age of 18.

Figure 28 - Share of the daily tobacco smokers that began smoking under the age of 18 in benchmark countries, +15 population, %, 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

62. Figure 29 shows the starting ages of daily smokers for two genders. It is observed that the starting age for daily smoking among men and women differ, but the rates are significant, and indicate the necessity of tobacco control policies targeting these groups. In particular, 46.5 percent of women start daily smoking when they are aged between 18 and 24 and 39.9 percent start earlier. For comparison, 37.2 percent of men start daily smoking when they are aged between 18 and 24 and 57.7 percent start earlier. Accordingly, the average starting age for smoking daily is younger for men than for women. On the other hand, women are less likely to smoke when they are under 18 years old than men. It should also be noted that in Turkey the percentage of women daily smokers who started smoking daily before turning 18 is much higher than in many countries in the world. These figures indicate that the universally accepted tobacco control policies, such as the measures recommended in MPOWER may be necessary but not sufficient, and that country-specific control policies that target certain groups need to considered in reducing smoking prevalence in a country.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

63. Even though there are slight differences between men and women in the reasons behind starting tobacco use, the impact of friends, desire, and curiosity were listed among the main reasons. In Turkey, 34 percent of men tobacco users stated that their main reason for starting tobacco use was the effect/impact of friends while desire received a 27 percent share, and curiosity had a 20 percent share. Among women tobacco users, the primary motivation was the impact of friends with 30 percent, desire with 21 percent, and curiosity with 18 percent. From another perspective, personal problems and family problems are more often stated as reasons among women than among men (see Figure 30).



No special

reason

Men Women

Personal

problems

For fun

Figure 30 - Reasons behind starting tobacco use for individuals by gender in Turkey, +15

Source: TurkStat, TEPAV visualizations

Impact of

friend

Desire

Curiosity

In Turkey, the level of education is positively correlated with smoking prevalence. As shown 64. in Figure 31, tobacco prevalence rates vary across education level. The lowest prevalence of tobacco smoking, with 11.0 percent, was found among the people who had not finished any formal schooling. The highest prevalence rate, at 38.2 percent, was among university graduates. Prevalence of smoking among graduates of elementary, primary, secondary, and high schools were 25.4 percent, 27.6 percent, 32.8 percent, and 35.3 percent, respectively. Hence, according to the GATS 2016 survey, the prevalence of smoking increased with the level of education in Turkey, where 4 out of 10 university graduates were smokers. In particular, the prevalence rate of smoking among university graduates was 27.3 percent, 23.6 percent, and 38.2 percent in 2008, 2012, and 2016, respectively, which indicates that prevalence rate for university graduates is increasing in Turkey over time.59





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

65. Unlike the case in Turkey, the level of education and smoking prevalence rate are negatively correlated in benchmark countries. The overall smoking prevalence rate among university graduates in Turkey, measured at 38.2 percent, is 8.7 percent higher than the rate among those with less education, as depicted in Figure 32. In Russia and Ukraine, the ranking between the two education groups is reversed: The smoking prevalence rates in the less educated group were much higher than the rates in university graduates in the respective countries. However, in Mexico, university graduates have a higher prevalence rate than non-university graduates, but the difference between the two groups is much smaller around 1.5 percent. Accordingly, Turkey's different positioning in this topic should be taken into consideration in the context of tobacco

Family

problems

control policies especially policies related to warnings about the dangers of tobacco.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

66. In Turkey, although the share of current smokers among both men and women vary across categories, we can see clearly that the daily smoking prevalence rate increases with education only for women; no clear pattern exists for men. The smoking prevalence rate of men does not vary considerably with respect to education level; however, this is not the case for women. In particular, the percentage of daily smokers among women who did not graduate from any type of schooling was significantly lower than other groups, at a 7 percent prevalence rate, as opposed to 32 percent among men with the same level of education. The prevalence of daily smoking for women who graduated from elementary, primary, secondary, high school, and university were 12 percent, 14 percent, 19 percent, 26 percent, and 35 percent respectively, displaying an upward trend. In contrast, no such trend exists for men, as smoking prevalence rates among men did not vary as much, fluctuating slightly between 40 percent and 42 percent. As the education level increases, the prevalence rate significantly increases among women, reaching almost the rate among university graduate men (see Figure 33). Furthermore, from a time-series perspective, another noteworthy trend is detected. In particular, the prevalence rate for women with higher education has increased from 16 percent to 35 percent in the last decade while such an increase is not observed for less educated groups.⁶⁰





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

67. Among university graduates, the similarity of daily smoking prevalence rates for men and

women that is observed in Turkey, is not observed in the other benchmark countries. In the case of Turkey, while university graduate men had a 40 percent daily smoking prevalence rate, university graduate women had a 35 percent prevalence rate, indicating a small difference between the two genders. On the contrary, in Mexico, Ukraine, and Russia, as it was observed among all adults, men possessing a university degree were much more likely to smoke than their women counterparts holding a university degree (see Figure 34).

Figure 34 - Daily smoking prevalence rates of at least university graduates by gender among benchmark countries, +15 population, %, 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

68. The daily smoking prevalence rates among adult students are high in Turkey. The daily tobacco smoking prevalence rate among adult students is 27.4 percent in Turkey, which is lower than the overall daily smoking prevalence rate in the country. Yet, in benchmark countries, students are much less likely to smoke compared to the non-student populations in the respective countries. For instance, in Russia, the daily smoking prevalence rate among the non-student adults was 27.2 percent, and it was just 10.1 percent among adult students. Similar differences between student and non-student populations are also valid in Ukraine and Mexico (see Figure 35). In detail, as gender breakdown is investigated in Figure 36, it is observed that the daily smoking prevalence rate among women students is 23 percent in Turkey. Considering that the overall smoking prevalence rate in the country among adult women is 17.5 percent, it can be inferred that women students are more likely to smoke than non-student women. In addition, as the overall daily smoking prevalence rate among adult men in Turkey is 41.8 percent, 31 percent daily smoking prevalence rate among men students show a similar pattern to other countries where students are less likely to smoke than non-students.

Figure 35 - Daily smoking prevalence rates according to student/non-student status of individuals in benchmark countries, +15 population, %, 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

69. From a regional perspective, Western Marmara, Istanbul, and Eastern Marmara regions have the highest tobacco smoking prevalence rates in Turkey. The Western Black Sea region has the lowest prevalence rate in Turkey, among other regions, with 19.3 percent. Following that region, the Eastern Black Sea, Western Anatolia, Central Anatolia, and North-Eastern Anatolia have prevalence rates of 20.3 percent, 20.9 percent, 25.2 percent, and 25.5 percent, respectively. Furthermore, those residing in urban centers are more likely to smoke. In 2016, the daily smoking prevalence rate was 23.7 percent in rural areas, while in urban centers, it was 30.1 percent. In particular, the Western Marmara, Istanbul, and Eastern Marmara regions have higher prevalence rates with 39.1 percent, 35.7 percent, and 35.6 percent, respectively- considerably higher than the Turkish average prevalence rate (see Figure 37).



Figure 37 - Ratio of daily tobacco smokers by regions in Turkey, +15 population, 2016

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

70. In Turkey, over half of all daily smokers smoked tobacco within 30 minutes of waking up; in Ukraine and Russia a larger share of daily smokers report smoking within a shorter time, signaling higher addiction to tobacco. In Russia, 24 percent of daily smokers smoked within 5 minutes after waking up, and in Ukraine 21 percent did so. In Turkey, only 16 percent of daily smokers smoked within 5 minutes after waking up. In a duration of 30 minutes after waking up, the shares of those who have smoked are 51 percent, 64 percent and 69 percent in Turkey, Russia, and Ukraine, respectively (see Figure 38). As the timing of the first cigarette smoked after waking up can be inferred as a sign of higher tobacco (nicotine) dependency of the person, the lower tendency among Turkish smokers to smoke as soon as possible provides more maneuver area for future cessation policies in Turkey.

Figure 38 - The distribution of time before first cigarette smoked after waking up by daily smokers in benchmark countries, +15 population, %, 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

B.3.2. Smoking prevalence rates according to product groups from GATS

71. Manufactured cigarettes are by far the most common type of tobacco product consumed in all benchmark countries. Smoked tobacco products include manufactured cigarettes, handrolled cigarettes, cigars, pipes, and waterpipes, to name a few. The most commonly used tobacco product in Turkey is the manufactured cigarette. In Turkey, for 2016, the prevalence rates are 30.1 percent for manufactured cigarettes; 2.3 percent for hand-rolled cigarettes, 0.8 percent for waterpipes, and 0.1 percent for cigars. Considering the 2012 survey results, the rate for manufactured cigarettes increased in Turkey from 25.7 percent to 30.1 percent. In the case of

waterpipes, the prevalence rate declined from 2.3 percent to 0.8 percent and then to 0.3 percent in 2008, 2012, and 2016. Additionally, the prevalence rate of hand-rolled cigarettes have also decreased from 2.6 percent to 2.3 percent from 2012 to 2016. The majority of tobacco smoking was in the form of manufactured cigarettes for both sexes and in both urban and rural settings in Turkey. In Figure 39, prevalence rates for different type of tobacco products in benchmark countries are given. For all the benchmark countries, manufactured cigarettes are the most common tobacco products, the second most commonly used product type was hand-rolled cigarettes for Turkey and Ukraine. The highest prevalence for the waterpipe was in Ukraine, followed by Russia, whereas waterpipe prevalence rate is just 0.3 percent in Turkey. The intriguing finding in the Turkish data was the high prevalence rate for "any other" type of tobacco products. It is difficult to explain the 29.6 percent prevalence rate in 2016, which is a sharp increase from 0 percent in 2012.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

Note: Prevalence rates include both daily and less than daily prevalence rates.

72. More than 18.3 million individuals smoked manufactured cigarettes out of the 19.2 million smokers in Turkey. In benchmark countries, Russia was the largest market for the manufactured cigarettes with 35.1 million users, followed by Turkey and Mexico. Meanwhile, 1.2 million people smoked waterpipes in Russia while only 174 thousand people smoked waterpipes in Turkey. Around 1.4 million people smoked hand-rolled cigarettes in Turkey and around 600 thousand people smoked hand-rolled cigarettes in both Russia and Ukraine (see Figure 40). Most of the hand-rolled cigarette users were men in Turkey. In particular, considering the tobacco products, 82.5 percent of the users who only smoked hand-rolled cigarettes and 69.9 percent of the smokers who only smoked manufactured cigarettes were men in Turkey. Taking geographic distributions into consideration, it is seen that the smokers who only smoke hand-rolled cigarettes mostly live in Istanbul, the Aegean, and Eastern Marmara regions of Turkey.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

Note: Prevalence rate includes both daily and less than daily prevalence rates

- **73.** Although the prevalence of waterpipe use in Turkey is estimated to be negligibly small in GATS surveys, there are some more compact studies reporting a non-negligible share of young people in Turkey experiencing waterpipe use. Several studies conducted with the participation of university students point out different shares for waterpipe users. Even though these studies found out varying rates, and they have a limited number of participants in comparison with the national surveys, the statistics presented by such surveys indicate that among university students, the share of waterpipe users might be at significant rates such as 19.2 percent and 29.3 percent.⁶¹
- **74.** In Turkey, individuals who generally used a tobacco product other than manufactured cigarettes also smoked manufactured cigarettes. Table 9 shows the shares of smokers who use products jointly. For example, 27 percent of adults in Turkey daily use only manufactured cigarettes. With this 27 percent share, manufactured cigarettes are the most popular products. 1.4 percent of adults daily use only hand-rolled cigarettes. In addition to these two groups, who are using either manufactured or hand-rolled cigarettes daily, 0.75 percent of adults use both of these products daily. In the case of waterpipes and cigars, there is no adult population group using these products exclusively, but these products are consumed jointly with the other products. For instance, 0.16 percent of adults use both manufactured cigarettes and waterpipes daily. Other than manufactured and hand-rolled cigarettes, the joint daily use of two or three products is very rare. In addition, STEPS 2017 also verifies that 97.3 percent of all daily smokers use manufactured cigarettes in Turkey.⁶²

| | | Proc | lucts | | | |
|--|----------------------------|---------------------------|-------|-----------------------|---|------------------------|
| Level of the tobacco smoking in general | Manufactured cigarettes | Hand-rolled cigarettes | | Waterpipe | Share in the overall population (+15) | Population, million |
| Daily | ✓ | | | | 27.17% | 16.544 |
| Daily | | ✓ | | | 1.40% | 0.855 |
| Daily | 1 | 1 | | | 0.75% | 0.456 |
| Daily | 1 | | | ✓ | 0.16% | 0.096 |
| Daily | 1 | 1 | | ✓ | 0.05% | 0.033 |
| Daily | 1 | | | | 0.03% | 0.019 |
| Daily | 1 | 1 | | ✓ | 0.03% | 0.017 |
| Daily | | | | | 0.01% | 0.005 |
| Prevalence rate of the related tobacco products (+15) | 30.1% | 2.3% | 0.1% | 0.3% | | |
| Population using the related tobacco products, million (+15) | 18.3 | 1.4 | 0.1 | 0.2 | | |

Table 9 - Levels of the tobacco smoking and their associated products in Turkey, 2016

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TurkStat, TEPAV calculations Note: Prevalence rates include both daily and less than daily prevalence rates.

75. Among our benchmark countries, the prevalence of e-cigarette use is the highest in Russia, and Turkey's rate is lower at 1.3 percent. The prevalence rate of e-cigarette use in Russia was 3.5 percent, in Ukraine 1.7 percent, and in Mexico only 1.0 percent. Most users of e-cigarettes were generally "less than daily users," most likely indicating that the product is consumed irregularly. With respect to the daily prevalence of e-cigarettes, both Turkey and Ukraine have 0.3 percent daily prevalence rate of e-cigarette use. While all these rates are relatively low, Russia's prevalence rate was nearly double that of Ukraine and Turkey, and triple that of Mexico (see Figure 41).

Figure 41 - Prevalence rate for e-cigarettes across benchmark countries, +15 population, 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

76. Only 2.2 percent of the adults in Turkey have ever, including just once, used an e-cigarette according to 2016 GATS survey. Only 5.4 percent of daily tobacco users in Turkey had ever used an e-cigarette. Those who used tobacco products on a less than daily basis also had a similar

rate at 5.3 percent. On the other hand, among non-smokers around 99.3 percent never tried ecigarettes (see Figure 42).





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

77. In benchmark countries, the overwhelming majority of e-cigarette users were men. Women in Mexico and Turkey were less likely to consume e-cigarettes when compared to their counterparts in Russia and Ukraine. While around 80 percent of e-cigarette users were men in Mexico and Turkey, in Russia and Ukraine about 70 percent were men (see Figure 43).





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

Note: Both daily and less than daily use levels are covered.

- **78.** In benchmark countries, the most preferred location to purchase cigarettes is stores. Turkey has the highest rate of smokers buying cigarettes from stores (92.3 percent of smokers). This is followed by Russia with 84.4 percent, Ukraine 72.0 percent, and Mexico 62.9 percent. Only 0.4 percent of Russians, and 0.1 percent of Turks bought cigarettes from duty-free shops. The most common way of buying cigarettes in Turkey (87.9 percent), Russia (87.0 percent), and Ukraine (87.0) was in the form of packs. Meanwhile a significantly smaller share of smokers in Mexico (48.9 percent) bought in packs, while over 50 percent of cigarette consumers bought cigarettes in the form of individual sticks (see Table 10).
- **79.** According to GATS data, the overwhelming majority of cigarettes bought in Turkey are legal. In Turkey as per law, cigarette packaging must have a tax stamp and health warning. 90.5 percent of individuals purchasing cigarettes in Turkey stated that they saw a tax stamp and around 93.4 percent said the packaging had pictorial health warnings (see Table 10). The reason behind not seeing a tax stamp or the pictorial health warning could indicate that the cigarettes are illegally exchanged, in addition to the possibility that the consumer ignores or does not pay attention to

packaging. More research is needed to better understand illicit trade of tobacco products and their alternatives in Turkey.

Table 10 - Indicators related to cigarette buying behaviors in benchmark countries, %tobacco smokers, +15 population, 2016

| Share of the adult smokers | Turkey | Mexico | Russia | Ukraine |
|--|--------|--------|--------|---------|
| The last time you purchased cigarettes for yourself, where did you buy them? Stores | 92.3 | 62.9 | 84.4 | 72.0 |
| The last time you purchased cigarettes for yourself, where did you buy them? Duty-free shop | 0.1 | - | 0.4 | - |
| The last time you bought cigarettes for yourself, how many cigarettes did you buy? Packs | 87.9 | 48.9 | 78.4 | 87.0 |
| The cigarette package you usually use have any tax stamp | 90.5 | - | - | - |
| The cigarette package you usually use has pictorial health warnings in Turkish | 93.4 | - | - | - |

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

²⁷ World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "Tobacco Control and the Sustainable Development Goals"; Aungkulanon et al., "Smoking Prevalence and Attributable Deaths in Thailand: Predicting Outcomes of Different Tobacco Control Interventions"; United Nations Statistics Division, "Global Indicator Framework for the Sustainable Development Goals and Targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Global NCD Target: Reduce Tobacco." ²⁸ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition."

²⁹ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Smoking 2000-2025 Second Edition."

³⁰ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Türkiye Sağlık Arastırması."

³¹ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Türkiye Sağlık Araştırması Mikro Veri Seti 2019: Meta Veri."

³² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Public Use Data File Codebook: Turkey 2016."

³³ World Health Organization (WHO), "Global Adult Tobacco Survey"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Smoking and Tobacco Use: Global Tobacco Control."

³⁴ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Türkiye Sağlık Araştırması."
 ³⁵ World Health Organization (WHO), "Global Adult Tobacco Survey Data, Turkey."

³⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Smoking and Tobacco Use: Global Tobacco Control"; World Health Organization (WHO), "NCD Microdata Repository."

³⁷ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData)."

³⁸ Ibid.

³⁹ World Health Organization (WHO), "STEPwise Approach to Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance."

⁴⁰ World Health Organization (WHO), "Noncommunicable Disease Risk Behaviors Among Adults in the South-East Asia Region: Findings from STEPS and GATS."

⁴¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "STEPwise Approach to Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance (Steps): Turkey."

⁴² T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Afet ve Acil Durum Yönetimi Başkanlığı (AFAD), T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, and World Health Organization (WHO), "Health Status Survey of Syrian Refugees in Turkey. Non-Communicable Disease Risk Factors Surveillance among Syrian Refugees Living in Turkey."

⁴³ Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "Turkish Fertility Survey 1978. First Report Volume 1: Methodology and Findings"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "1983 Turkish Population and Health Survey"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "1988 Turkish Population and Health Survey"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "1993 Turkey Demographic and Health Survey"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "1998 Turkey Demographic and Health Survey"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "Turkey Demographic and Health Survey 2003"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "Turkey Demographic and Health Survey 2008"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "Turkey Demographic and Health Survey 2013"; Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies, "2018 Turkey Demographic and Health Survey."

⁴⁴ OECD, "Non-Medical Determinants of Health: Tobacco Consumption"; Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Türkiye Sağlık Araştırması."

⁴⁵ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Tobacco Use in Turkey"; Bilir et al., "Tobacco Control in Turkey"; NPAmatem Bağımlılık Merkezi, "Tütün Bağımlılığı."

⁴⁶ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Health Services Utilization Survey in Turkey"; Bilir et al., "Tobacco Control in Turkey."

⁴⁷ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "National Burden of Diseases Study"; Bilir et al., "Tobacco Control in Turkey."

⁴⁸ World Health Organization (WHO), "STEPwise Approach to Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance."

⁴⁹ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Adrese Dayalı Nüfus Kayıt Sistemi."

⁵⁰ T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Göç İdaresi Genel Müdürlüğü, "Temporary Protection."

⁵¹ UNHCR, "UNHCR Refugee Data Finder."

⁵² UNHCR, "Operations: Turkey."

⁵³ World Health Organization (WHO), "STEPwise Approach to Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance (Steps): Turkey"; T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Afet ve Acil Durum Yönetimi Başkanlığı (AFAD), T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, and World Health Organization (WHO), "Health Status Survey of Syrian Refugees in Turkey. Non-Communicable Disease Risk Factors Surveillance among Syrian Refugees Living in Turkey."

⁵⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Ukraine National Fact Sheet 2010"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Mexico National Fact Sheet 2009"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Russian Federation National Fact Sheet 2009"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Russian Federation National Fact Sheet 2016"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Fact Sheet 2016"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Fact Sheet 2008"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Ukraine National Fact Sheet 2017"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Mexico National Fact Sheet 2015"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Ukraine National Micro Data 2017"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Ukraine National Micro Data 2010"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Mexico National Micro Data 2009"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Mexico National Micro Data 2015"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Russian Federation National Micro Data 2016"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Russian Federation National Micro Data 2009."

⁵⁵ Euromonitor International, "Passport Statistics."

⁵⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2003"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2005"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2009"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2009"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2012"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2012"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2012"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2012"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2017."

⁵⁷ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2016."

⁵⁸ Euromonitor International, "Passport Statistics."

⁵⁹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2008"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2012"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2012"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2016."

60 Ibid.

⁶¹ Cakmak and Cinar, "Turkish Adolescent Perceptions About the Effects of Water Pipe Smoking on Their Health"; Sahin and Cinar, "Perceptions of Turkish University Students About the Effects of Water Pipe Smoking on Health."

⁶² World Health Organization (WHO), "STEPwise Approach to Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance (Steps): Turkey."

C.Health Effects and Related Burden

C.1.Summary

80. From a public health perspective, the major challenge in policy making, given the proven adverse health consequences of smoking, is to design effective policies to keep people away from smoking and to provide those who have become addicted with help in quitting **smoking.** This chapter reviews analysis and information on health effects and economic burden of consumption of the products of the tobacco industry. Tobacco use constitutes a significant health concern in Turkey, where the overwhelming majority of tobacco usage is in the form of conventional cigarettes. Given the fact that smoking cigarettes has been identified as the most harmful risk to human health in Turkey, and given that the government's role in healthcare services is quite significant in Turkey, the health aspect of tobacco control policies is all the more important for Turkey. The harm induced by second-hand smoking, asymmetric healthcare cost of smokers on the public health system, and the imperfect and asymmetric information of the public about the health and economic consequences of consuming tobacco products have been associated with market failures and negative externalities and internalities.⁶³ Furthermore, tobacco use may cause an indirect loss in the labor force due to diseases and deaths attributable to tobacco use. One of the challenges in assessing the effectiveness of tobacco control policies in Turkey is taking into consideration the burden to the public via expenditures on treating the diseases, and cost of foregone labor due to tobacco-related illnesses. Further research is needed to compare tax revenues from tobacco products and the health expenditures on the treatment of patients with tobacco-related illnesses in Turkey. Such an analysis would require compiling data on health expenditures (on medication, hospitalization, procedures performed) borne by the government to treat the patients with particular tobacco-related diseases. Another important issue is that, given that nicotine is highly addictive, smokers who cannot quit will continue to face the severe health consequences. In Turkey, as explained in part B of this report, the majority of smokers are not interested in quitting. The underlying reasons behind this tendency need to be understood with further, more detailed research.

C.2. Conventional Tobacco Products

- **81.** Using tobacco or being exposed to second-hand smoking is known to be harmful to human health and constitutes a risk factor in various death causes. In 1964, the Surgeon General of the United States released the first report on the health consequences of smoking.⁶⁴ That report marked an important step to reduce the adverse impact of tobacco use on health worldwide. Since then, more than thirty reports by the Surgeon General have helped us better understand the adverse health effects of tobacco smoke. These reports have relied on the best evidence available at the time of writing. Back in 1964, we had only a few causal links as scientific evidence. Over time, a large and robust body of evidence has accumulated on the increased risk of a number of diseases causally linked to smoking or being exposed to smoke.⁶⁵
- 82. Using tobacco or being exposed to second-hand smoking constitutes a risk factor in early death and disability. Cause of death can be defined by the underlying root cause that resulted in death. In contrast, risk factors are defined as behaviors or conditions that increase the likelihood

of a person experiencing an adverse health incident such as an illness or death.⁶⁶ Within this framework, tobacco consumption or exposure to second-hand smoking are defined as behavioral risk factors associated with many causes of mortality and morbidity such as chronic respiratory diseases, neoplasms, cardiovascular diseases, respiratory infections, tuberculosis, and neurological disorders.⁶⁷ Considering that tobacco is not a direct cause of death but a risk factor, it is quite difficult to empirically compile official statistics on tobacco-related diseases and deaths since the reported statistics do not associate tobacco use or second-hand smoking as separate (individual) risk factors. Accordingly, further analytical work is utilized to quantify the economic burden of diseases and deaths in which tobacco constitutes a risk factor.^{vii 68}

83. One of the most common risks associated with deaths both in the world, and in Turkey, is tobacco use. The risk factor attribution, which is the causal association with an increased probability of an adverse health outcome, is estimated covering both (i) the direct impacts on the individuals who are using tobacco products and (ii) indirect effects on the individuals exposed to second-hand smoking. Accordingly, the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study estimates that, in 2017, more than 8.1 million deaths were globally attributable to tobacco use considering both direct impacts on the users and indirect impacts on the passive smokers. In particular, in the case of health consequences related to second-hand smoking, over 1.2 million deaths are attributable to passive smoking. Accordingly, tobacco use with its direct and indirect health consequences is the third most harmful risk factor to result in deaths in the world.⁶⁹ In Turkey, almost 85 thousand deaths were attributable to tobacco use in 2017, up from 78 thousand in 2000. Besides, with 85 thousand tobacco attributable deaths, Turkey is the 16th country with the highest number of deaths attributable to tobacco use. Considering all risk factors, tobacco is estimated to be the second most common risk factor related to mortality in Turkey (see Figure 44).



Figure 44 - Number of estimated deaths attributable to each risk factor in Turkey, thousand, 2017

Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017", TEPAV calculations

84. In 2017, the number of deaths attributable to tobacco use in Turkey, 105 per 100 thousand people, is almost the same as the world average at 106 per 100 thousand people (see Figure 45). Even though there is a decline throughout the years in the prevalence of deaths attributable to tobacco use both for the world and Turkey, tobacco is still one of the most important public health problems and preventable causes of mortality.

^{vii} Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health also utilizes the estimates rather than raw statistics in the case of tobacco attributable deaths and diseases as it was demonstrated in the respective report of the Ministry.



Figure 45 - Number of estimated deaths attributable to tobacco use in Turkey and the world,

Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017", TEPAV calculations

- 85. In order to fully assess the economic burden of diseases, factors such as the age at which deaths occur and non-fatal negative consequences, should also be taken into consideration. One metric serving this aim is the concept of DALYs. The Years of Life Lost (YLLs) metric attaches a higher weight to deaths at a younger age and lower weight to deaths at an older age and takes the age at which death occurs into account.⁷⁰ Considering that the tobacco is not only causing premature deaths but also precipitating non-fatal negative health consequences, Years Lived with Disability (YLDs) metric quantifies the "years of life lived with any short-term or long-term health loss." Combining years of life lost due to premature mortality and years of life lived with health loss yields the Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) metric, which helps decision-makers to compare the impact of different diseases and injuries not just in terms of early death but also in terms of suffering.⁷¹
- 86. As of 2017, tobacco use is the leading risk factor associated with the highest number of deaths and disability in Turkey. The relative ranking of tobacco attributable disease burden, as measured in DALYs, increased from second to first between 2007 and 2017 in Turkey (see Figure 46). Tobacco use is classified as a behavioral risk and is among the top 10 leading risks in Turkey and there are two more behavioral risks: dietary risks, and child and maternal malnutrition, which are ranked lower in the list. In addition, tobacco use is estimated to lead to much higher disease burden than other behavioral risks associated with addiction, such as alcohol or drug use.

Figure 46 - Estimates for the top 10 risk factors that lead to the highest number of deaths and disability according to DALY metric in Turkey, 2000 and 2017

| 2000 ranking | | | 2017 ranking | |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------|----|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Child and n | naternal malnutrition | 1 | **1 | Tobacco |
| Tobacco | | 2 | • 2 | High body-mass index |
| High systol | ic blood pressure | 3 | + | High systolic blood pressure |
| Dietary risks 4 | | 4 | 4 | High fasting plasma glucose |
| High body-mass index | | 5 | | Dietary risks |
| High fasting plasma glucose | | 6 | | Air pollution |
| Air pollutic | on | 7 | 7 | Child and maternal malnutrition |
| High LDL o | cholesterol | 8 | •• 8 | High LDL cholesterol |
| Occupational risks | | 9 | ••9 | Occupational risks |
| Impaired kidney function | | 10 | •• 10 | Impaired kidney function |
| | Metabolic risks | | Environmental/ occupational risks | Behavioral risks |

Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017", TEPAV calculations

It is estimated that the highest burden of tobacco use in Turkey (as measured by DALYs) 87. occurred due to its risk of causing ischemic heart disease; tracheal, bronchus, lung cancer; Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD); low back pain; stroke; and diabetes mellitus (see Table 11). In particular, considering mortality in which tobacco constitutes a risk, ischemic heart disease and tracheal, bronchus, and lung cancer resulted in the highest burden in Turkey, with number of deaths around 22 thousand and 21 thousand, respectively. Following these two causes that may lead to death, COPD and low back pain are next two causes that generate high DALYs and the most extensive non-fatal damage to human health in Turkey. Considering the combined impact of deaths and disabilities, 75 percent of DALYs attributable to tobacco use in Turkey is due to increased risk of having ischemic heart disease; tracheal, bronchus, and lung cancer; COPD; low back pain; and stroke. Moreover, tobacco-related risks are estimated to be responsible for 76 percent and 74 percent of tracheal, bronchus, lung cancer, and larynx cancer diseases, respectively. Another important piece of information in Table 11 is that as many as 11.3 thousand deaths are attributable to second-hand smoking in Turkey in 2017. The leading causes of death related to exposure to second-hand smoking are ischemic heart disease; tracheal, bronchus, and lung cancer. In addition, the leading three causes that generate the highest DALYs related to second-hand smoking are ischemic heart disease; and COPD; and diabetes mellitus. Furthermore, except for lower respiratory infections, falls, and otitis media among the listed causes in Table 11, are diseases categorized as NCDs.

| Table 11 · | Burden of diseases at | tributed to tobacco u | se and second-hand | smoking in T | `urkey, |
|------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|---------------------|---------|
| 2017 | | | | | |

| | Risk Factors | | | | | | | | | |
|---|--|--------|---------|---------|---------|--|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| | | | Tobacco | | | Second-Hand Smoking | | | | |
| Disease/Death Causes | Risk factor attribution to DALYs | Deaths | YLLs | YLDs | DALYs | Risk factor attribution to DALYs | Deaths | YLLs | YLDs | DALYs |
| Ischemic heart disease | 35% | 21,771 | 525,345 | 20,092 | 545,437 | 3% | 3,972 | 83,358 | 623 | 83,981 |
| Tracheal, bronchus, and lung cancer | 76% | 20,974 | 498,809 | 4,647 | 503,455 | 3% | 1,426 | 33,729 | 319 | 34,048 |
| Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease | 50% | 14,667 | 244,012 | 166,705 | 410,717 | | 2,370 | 36,934 | 36,246 | 73,180 |
| Low back pain | 20% | | | 197,661 | 197,661 | | | | | |
| Stroke | 22% | 6,317 | 145,206 | 35,406 | 180,612 | | 1,158 | 23,237 | 4,014 | 27,251 |
| Diabetes mellitus | 18% | 2,192 | 43,559 | 100,096 | 143,654 | | 1,231 | 22,378 | 47,186 | 69,564 |
| Lower respiratory infections | 26% | 2,936 | 65,936 | 1,265 | 67,201 | 7% | 1,001 | 25,742 | 777 | 26,519 |
| Alzheimer's disease and other dementias | 16% | 3,487 | 44,742 | 12,084 | 56,826 | | | | | |
| Stomach cancer | 22% | 1,787 | 41,226 | 481 | 41,707 | | | | | |
| Colon and rectum cancer | 17% | 1,430 | 32,436 | 1,180 | 33,616 | | | | | |
| Pancreatic cancer | 26% | 1,331 | 31,438 | 266 | 31,704 | | | | | |
| Leukemia | 19% | 1,146 | 27,888 | 577 | 28,464 | 5% | | | | |
| Larynx cancer | 74% | 1,095 | 25,024 | 926 | 25,951 | 5% | | | | |
| Bladder cancer | 44% | 1,123 | 22,946 | 1,810 | 24,756 | | | | | |
| Aortic aneurysm | 52% | 934 | 23,516 | | 23,516 | | | | | |
| Asthma | 12% | 260 | 5,177 | 16,661 | 21,837 | | | | | |
| Liver cancer | 22% | 738 | 16,992 | 161 | 17,153 | | | | | |
| Breast cancer | 6% | 270 | 8,341 | 676 | 9,016 | | 129 | 3,942 | 325 | 4,268 |
| Peripheral artery disease | 41% | 260 | 5,285 | 1,795 | 7,080 | 9% | | | | |
| Upper digestive system diseases | 3% | 171 | 3,653 | 3,109 | 6,762 | | | | | |
| Blindness and vision impairment | 2% | | | 3,755 | 3,755 | | | | | |
| Falls | 2% | 100 | 1,549 | 1,937 | 3,486 | | | | | |
| Rheumatoid arthritis | 10% | 18 | 474 | 2,635 | 3,109 | | | | | |
| Atrial fibrillation and flutter | 8% | 70 | 1,299 | 1,654 | 2,953 | | | | | |
| Otitis media | 7% | 0 | 0 | 1,186 | 1,186 | | 0 | 0 | 1,186 | 1,186 |
| Others | | 1,759 | 45,508 | 4,217 | 49,725 | | | | | |

Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017", TEPAV calculations

Note: The cells with the lowest values in each column are shaded in light gray. The shading turns from light grey to dark grey as the value increases within the respective column.

88. Tobacco use is still one of the biggest avoidable causes of death and disability in Turkey; unfortunately, not much has changed in this regard. Every year, more than 100 thousand deaths, in other words one-fourth of all deaths in Turkey can be attributed to tobacco-related diseases.⁷² The statistics on the contribution of active and passive use of tobacco in total health burden in Turkey reveal that in the 15 years between 2002 and 2017 not much has changed in the health burden of tobacco and that the burden is still very high. According to the statistics in those years, the share of tobacco use (active and passive) in attributable YLL was around 20 percent

(the highest share in 2017 in the list of risk factors selected by the Ministry of Health); the share in attributable YLD was around 6 percent; and the share in attributable DALYs was around 13 percent (the highest share in both years in the list of selected risk factors).⁷³ One study estimated that if cigarette smoking prevalence continues at the rates in 2008 GATS, by 2050 smoking will be associated with over 127 thousand premature deaths annually. However, if with effective implementation of tobacco control legislation adopted in 2008 and additional future interventions total prevalence rate could be decreased to 25 percent in 2020, 20 percent in 2030, 15 percent in 2040 and 10 percent in 2050, the number of smokers could be reduced to about 8 million by 2050 and the number of lives saved could be more than 40 thousand in 2050.⁷⁴

89. In addition to being harmful, the asymmetric and imperfect information regarding the health and economic consequences of tobacco use requires policymakers to consider the health aspects as a separate dimension in tobacco control policies. Tobacco products contain nicotine that is a highly addictive psychoactive ingredient.⁷⁵ The addictive qualities of nicotine mean that the decision to start smoking has more long-term implications than most people realize at the time of initiation. Moreover, the initial decision to smoke is often made by teenagers, who may not fully grasp the risks posed by tobacco use. In addition, even though a clear link was established between tobacco use and various negative health consequences in the literature, many consequences of tobacco consumption may take years to become noticeable.⁷⁶ Besides, it should be taken into consideration that the diseases associated with tobacco may also occur due to other risk factors. Thus, the time gap between the action and its consequences and the existence of other possible risk factors make it more difficult for consumers to precisely estimate the severe health effects of tobacco consumption and/or exposition to second-hand smoking. Accordingly, public authorities have a responsibility to inform people about the direct and indirect health consequences of tobacco consumption.

C.3. Alternative Products Sold by the Tobacco Industry

- **90.** The well-established scientific evidence on the adverse health effects of conventional tobacco products was accumulated over a long period, as a result of laborious research effort. Conventional tobacco products have been used for many centuries.⁷⁷ Scientific evidence on adverse health consequences of tobacco has started to be publicized since the early 1950s.⁷⁸ It should not be forgotten that the time when initial scientific evidence starts to build up in academic and scientific circles is a time when uncertainty, incomplete information, and unanswered questions abound. A sizable collection of reliable evidence needs to accumulate before the initially dubious arguments can be clarified, as it was for the case of tobacco use until the late 1950s.⁷⁹ Notably, the evidence on the addictive nature of nicotine faced a similar process during which contradictory arguments were made, until the final verdict was reached.⁸⁰ Similarly, the first conclusive evidence on the dangers of second-hand smoking became available three decades later than the first argument on the negative consequences of first-hand smoking was made.⁸¹
- 91. Different types of alternative products offered to consumers are on the scope of health impact assessment since they have divergent impact channels (such as through tobacco, nicotine, and aerosols) on human health. E-cigarettes are the most common form of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS) and Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENNDS), but there are also other forms, such as e-cigars or e-pipes.⁸² Even when ENDS and ENNDS do

not contain tobacco, they contain an aerosol inhaled by the user. In addition, e-cigarettes may or may not contain nicotine, depending on whether they are ENDS or ENNDS. HTPs are products that contain both tobacco and nicotine and are different from e-cigarettes in the way they operate: HTPs heat tobacco while e-cigarettes heat a liquid.⁸³ As a common feature of HTPs and e-cigarettes, and unlike conventional cigarettes, these products generate aerosols inhaled by the user. Accordingly, in the case of e-cigarettes and HTPs, the health effects of inhaled aerosols are also the subjects of analysis in the related literature.⁸⁴

- In contrast to the long-term scientific experience with conventional tobacco products, 92. alternative products are fairly new on the market, and hence more time is needed for clear scientific evidence on long-term effects to build. Unlike conventional cigarettes, modern ecigarettes and HTPs have been commercially on the global market only since 2000s and 2010s, respectively.⁸⁵ Accordingly, scientific and academic researchers can only examine the effects of short-term rather than long-term exposures. Moreover, unlike conventional tobacco products, there are no public data sources for quantifying the health impacts of these alternative products. For the time being, individual articles and reports of international organizations and some national organizations, and systematic reviews of these published documents, constitute the source of information for the health effects of alternative products. Some publications report results on longer-term health benefits. A report by National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM) states as conclusive evidence that "in addition to nicotine, most e-cigarette products contain and emit numerous potentially toxic substances". The committee suggested that "e-cigarettes are not without physiological activity in humans, but the implications for long-term effects on morbidity and mortality are not yet clear. Use of e-cigarettes instead of combustible tobacco cigarettes by those with existing respiratory disease might be less harmful."viii 86 The report by the Royal College of Physicians warned that e-cigarettes are currently not made to medicines standards and that they are more hazardous than NRT's, but they also estimated that long-term use is unlikely to exceed 5 percent of the harm from combustibles.⁸⁷
- **93.** It is noteworthy that recent scientific evidence suggests one potential benefit of ENDS: they have a lower amount of harmful substances. The NASEM report that reviews existing scientific evidence clarifies some of the questions about the health effects of e-cigarettes. As conclusive evidence the report states that "completely substituting e-cigarettes for combustible tobacco cigarettes reduces users' exposure to numerous toxicants and carcinogens present in combustible tobacco cigarettes". As substantial evidence, the report states that "except for nicotine, under typical conditions of use, exposure to potentially toxic substances from e-cigarettes is significantly lower compared with combustible tobacco cigarettes". Regarding health effects, the committee suggested that "use of e-cigarettes instead of combustible tobacco cigarettee by those with existing respiratory disease might be less harmful." Moreover, "there is moderate evidence from observational studies that more frequent use of e-cigarettes is associated with an increased likelihood of cessation." ⁸⁸

94. Relative health impacts of alternative products compared to the conventional ones are also being studied to assess the extent of harm reduction offered by the "Harm Reduction

^{viii} This report provides an extensive list of evidence on e-cigarettes categorized by the level of precision: Conclusive, substantial, moderate, limited, insufficient, and no evidence.

Products" (HRPs). Replacing a more harmful product/habit with a less harmful one is the rationale behind harm reduction strategies. The provision of nicotine that smokers are addicted to without the harmful components of tobacco smoke is the main idea behind tobacco harm reduction.⁸⁹ In recent years, several researchers have suggested e-cigarettes and HTPs as reduced harm products that are relatively safer suppliers of nicotine that constitute a less risky alternative product for smokers who do not/could not quit.90 In some studies, estimates of the extent of harm reduction were large, meaning that ENDS are not marginally but substantially less harmful than combustible cigarettes. Moreover, improvements were reported among those who substituted ENDS with cigarettes in illnesses such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.⁹¹ Naturally, it may be too early to provide a clear answer to the direct or second-hand exposure of long-term impacts of these products, as emphasized in several publications most of which have been disseminated by the WHO.⁹² There are also other health concerns regarding these products, such as the possibility that they tempt non-smokers, minors, and vulnerable groups to start using these products, especially ones that contain nicotine, and may have a gateway effect to smoking.⁹³ The NASEM report states substantial evidence that e-cigarettes increase the risk of ever using combustibles among youth.⁹⁴ There is also evidence, though, that e-cigarettes are mostly used by smokers who are trying to reduce harm to themselves or others, or to quit smoking.95

95. The recent outbreak in the USA shows how important the regulation of alternative products is from a public health perspective. There was an outbreak of E-cigarette, or Vaping, product use-Associated Lung Injury (EVALI). The number of emergency department visits related to the outbreak continue to decline, after sharply increasing in August 2019 and peaking in September. A total of 68 deaths were confirmed as of February 18, 2020. Patient reports and product tests reveal that the EVALI cases were associated with tetrahydrocannabinol (THC)-containing products obtained from informal sources such as friends, family, or in-person or online dealers. Vitamin E acetate, an additive in some THC-containing e-cigarette, or vaping, products, was identified as the primary cause of EVALI cases. Vitamin E acetate is a vitamin that is usually harmless when ingested or applied to skin, but may interfere with normal lung functioning when inhaled. Following the outbreak, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommended that people not use THC- containing vaping products, and that Vitamin E acetate, or any other substances not intended by manufacturers, should not be added to vaping products.⁹⁶ This experience shows the importance of regulating these products from a public health perspective. In the case of Turkey, (as will be explained in part D of this report) since these products are not legally available on the market, the current situation with the smuggled and/or contraband products that never undergo any health testing and that are not subject to any medical standards may pose additional severe risks to human health.

96. In addition to the studies focusing on absolute and relative risks of alternative products, there are also mixed findings on the usefulness of these products as a cessation aid. The evidence of cessation effect is mixed: While some studies have reported limited effectiveness in cessation, others in the literature have found that ENDS have helped smokers in quitting or reducing smoking.⁹⁷ Some countries like the UK employ alternative products as part of their publicly offered cessation services.⁹⁸ Yet there are also counterarguments that state that these products cannot be promoted as a cessation aid until adequate evidence is built up.⁹⁹ Also, there are some concerns regarding whether dual use is a transitional stage to relapse to earlier levels of

smoking.¹⁰⁰ In the case of Turkey, since neither e-cigarettes nor HTPs are legally available on the market, they are not part of any public cessation services and/or suggestions.

C.4. Economic Burden

- **97.** Economic costs of tobacco and alternatives include the treatment costs of diseases and the cost of lost human capital due to early death and suffering.¹⁰¹ As pointed out in the previous sub-chapters, conventional tobacco products and/or alternative products sold by the tobacco industry are associated with adverse short and long-term health consequences. In general, direct healthcare costs of tobacco-related diseases, losses in productivity, costs of social assistance, as well as the costs of fire and accidents, research and education, and inestimable costs resulting from pain and suffering are defined as the societal cost categories.¹⁰² As it was the case with quantifying lost years and suffering, analytical methods are needed to measure the economic value of these burdens to an economy.¹⁰³
- **98.** In Turkey, due to the lack of open-source data, the estimation of the economic burden of the tobacco industry requires further analytical studies. First of all, even if diseases and deaths attributable to conventional tobacco use are quantifiable, the same metrics are not available for alternative products in Turkey. Given that the prevalence rate of use for these alternative products is very small in Turkey as pointed out in Chapters A and B, the current healthcare costs can be negligible compared to the costs of conventional products that have high prevalence rate of use. In the case of conventional tobacco products, there are relatively recent estimates available for the burden of diseases in terms of early deaths and suffering.¹⁰⁴ Yet, information on the health expenditure of treatments for the detailed list of diseases is not publicly available; instead only some estimates are available for aggregated categories of diseases.
- 99. Although the total economic burden of tobacco use is not easily quantifiable in Turkey, considering the current structure of the healthcare system, an educated guess yields that most of the economic burden of tobacco use is on the public sector. The role of the public sector in tobacco-attributable economic costs may vary significantly among countries given the differences in the extent of public sector involvement in providing healthcare. The estimated total health spending is disaggregated by its source into three domestic financing categories (government, out-of-pocket, and prepaid private), and Development Assistance for Health (DAH).¹⁰⁵ On average, governments bear 61 percent of total health spending. Moreover, as income level increases the share of government as a source of finance also increases (see Figure 47). In the case of Turkey, it is estimated that 77 percent of health spending is financed by the government/public sector in 2017. There are countries such as Norway and Germany where the government funds 85 percent and 84 percent of the total health spending, respectively. Nonetheless, Turkey can be categorized as one of the countries with the highest healthcare burden on the government. Yet, in Turkey, the share of total health expenditure in the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) is at a relatively low level at 4.4 percent in 2018, while the same figure is 8.8 percent for OECD countries on average.¹⁰⁶




Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). "Global Health Spending 1995-2017", TEPAV calculations

63

⁶³ U.S. National Cancer Institute and World Health Organization, "Monograph 21: The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control."

⁶⁴ U.S Department of Health Education and Welfare, "Smoking and Health: Report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General of the Public Health Service."

⁶⁵ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "The Health Consequences of Smoking - 50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General."

⁶⁶ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Country Profiles."

⁶⁷ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017"; World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report: Mortality Attributable to Tobacco."

⁶⁸ World Health Organization (WHO), "Global Health Risks: Mortality and Burden of Disease Attributable to Selected Major Risks"; World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Global Report: Mortality Attributable to Tobacco"; T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Sağlık İstatistikleri Yıllığı 2018"; T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Sağlık İstatistikleri Yıllığı 2019."

⁶⁹ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017." ⁷⁰ World Health Organization (WHO), "Years of Life Lost (Percentage of Total)."

⁷¹ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Rethinking Development and Health: Findings from The Global Burden of Disease Study"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs)"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Global Health Risks: Mortality and Burden of Disease Attributable to Selected Major Risks."

⁷² Çetinkaya and Marquez, "Tobacco Taxation in Turkey : An Overview of Policy Measures and Results." ⁷³ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Sağlık İstatistikleri Yıllığı 2018"; T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Sağlık İstatistikleri Yıllığı 2019."

⁷⁴ Yürekli et al., "The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Taxation in Turkey."

⁷⁵ World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco Fact Sheet"; Benowitz, "Pharmacology of Nicotine: Addiction, Smoking-Induced Disease, and Therapeutics."

⁷⁶ Turcanu, Obreja, and Salaru, "Costs, Health Effects and Cost-Effectiveness of Tobacco Control Strategies in the Republic of Moldova"; U.S. National Cancer Institute and World Health Organization, "Monograph 21: The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control."

⁷⁷ Musk and De Klerk, "History of Tobacco and Health."

⁷⁸ Canadian Cancer Society, "History of Tobacco Control"; Musk and De Klerk, "History of Tobacco and Health."

⁷⁹ World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco Explained: The Truth about the Tobacco Industry...in Its Own Words."

80 Ibid.

⁸¹ Mackay and Eriksen, "Tobacco Atlas First Edition."

 ⁸² World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco: E-Cigarettes Q&A."
⁸³ World Health Organization (WHO), "Heated Tobacco Products: Information Sheet Second Edition."
⁸⁴ World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco"; Legislative Council Secretariat of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China Research Office, "Fact Sheet: Health Effects of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Product"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco Fact Sheet."

⁸⁵ Legislative Council Secretariat of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China Research Office, "Fact Sheet: Health Effects of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Product"; Consumer Advocates for Smokefree Alternatives Association (CASAA), "Historical Timeline of Vaping and Electronic Cigarettes."

⁸⁶ National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine (NASEM), "Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes."

⁸⁷ UK Royal College of Physicians, "Nicotine Without Smoke: Tobacco Harm Reduction."

⁸⁸ National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine (NASEM), "Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes."

⁸⁹ UK Royal College of Physicians, "Nicotine Without Smoke: Tobacco Harm Reduction."

⁹⁰ Sweanor, "Perspectives: Is It the Nicotine or the Tobacco?"

⁹¹ Farsalinos and Polosa, "Safety Evaluation and Risk Assessment of Electronic Cigarettes as Tobacco Cigarette Substitutes: A Systematic Review"; Farsalinos et al., "Characteristics, Perceived Side Effects and Benefits of Electronic Cigarette Use: A Worldwide Survey of More than 19,000 Consumers."

⁹² World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco"; Legislative Council Secretariat of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China Research Office, "Fact Sheet: Health Effects of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Product"; Fernández, Fu, and Martínez-Sánchez, "Exposure to Aerosol from Smoking-Proxy Electronic Inhaling Systems: A Systematic Review"; Pisinger, "A Systematic Review of Health Effects of Electronic Cigarettes"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Heated Tobacco Products (HTPs) Market Monitoring Information Sheet"; National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine (NASEM), "Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco Fact Sheet."

⁹³ World Health Organization (WHO), "Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS/ENNDS)."

⁹⁴ National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine (NASEM), "Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes."

⁹⁵ UK Royal College of Physicians, "Nicotine Without Smoke: Tobacco Harm Reduction."

⁹⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Outbreak of Lung Injury Associated with E-Cigarette Use, or Vaping."

⁹⁷ Halpern et al., "A Pragmatic Trial of E-Cigarettes, Incentives, and Drugs for Smoking Cessation"; Grana, Popova, and Ling, "A Longitudinal Analysis of Electronic Cigarette Use and Smoking Cessation"; Bullen et al., "Electronic Cigarettes for Smoking Cessation: A Randomised Controlled Trial"; Caponnetto et al., "Efficiency and Safety of an Electronic Cigarette (ECLAT) as Tobacco Cigarettes Substitute: A Prospective 12-Month Randomized Control Design Study"; Hajek et al., "A Randomized Trial of E-Cigarettes versus Nicotine-Replacement Therapy"; Levy et al., "Potential Deaths Averted in USA by Replacing Cigarettes with E-Cigarettes."

⁹⁸ GOV.UK, "Evidence Review of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Products 2018: Executive Summary"; Public Health England, "E-Cigarettes: A New Foundation For Evidence-Based Policy and Practice"; Legislative Council Secretariat of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China Research Office, "Fact Sheet: Health Effects of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Product."

⁹⁹ World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco: E-Cigarettes Q&A"; Legislative Council Secretariat of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China Research Office, "Fact Sheet: Health Effects of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Product"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Marketers of Electronic Cigarettes Should Halt Unproved Therapy Claims"; National Institute on Drug Abuse, "Vaping Devices (Electronic Cigarettes) DrugFacts."

¹⁰⁰ Pisinger, "A Systematic Review of Health Effects of Electronic Cigarettes"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS/ENNDS)."

¹⁰¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco Fact Sheet."

¹⁰² Țurcanu, Obreja, and Șalaru, "Costs, Health Effects and Cost-Effectiveness of Tobacco Control Strategies in the Republic of Moldova."

¹⁰³ Goodchild, Nargis, and D'Espaignet, "Global Economic Cost of Smoking-Attributable Diseases"; U.S. National Cancer Institute and World Health Organization, "Monograph 21: The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control"; Petit and Nagy, "Fiscal Policy: How to Design and Enforce Tobacco Excises?"

¹⁰⁴ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017." ¹⁰⁵ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Global Health Spending 1995-2017"; Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), "Financing Global Health 2017."

¹⁰⁶ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Sağlık Harcamaları İstatistikleri"; OECD, "Health Expenditure."

D.Public Policies

D.1.Summary

- 100. In this chapter, Turkey's tobacco control policy measures are reviewed and analyzed; in addition, tobacco endgame strategies are reviewed as they are discussed in the literature. The presentation of policy timeline in Turkey is followed by a comparative evaluation of tobacco control policies in Turkey, separately examining price and non-price policies. Tobacco taxation in Turkey has raised tax revenues, but it has not been successful in reducing prevalence rate. On non-price tobacco control policies (such as the provision of cessation services), it is emphasized that more research is needed on their economic evaluation, whether they have been cost effective or not. Since more than half of the current smokers do not want to stop using tobacco products, there is a need for innovative policies to ensure that new generations do not start tobacco usage at all, in order to be able to decrease addiction rates in the future. Also, more work needs to be done on implementation, enforcement, and compliance issues regarding regulations (such as clean air laws and the bans on sales to minors to keep youth away from smoking). Clearly, policies that may have worked in other countries have not worked in Turkey; therefore, emphasis is placed on the importance of designing country-specific regulations. Despite the availability of such a comprehensive international legal tool as the WHO FCTC and MPOWER for the development and enactment of tobacco control policies, the effectiveness of their implementation in the countries that adopted them have not all been up to expectations.
- **101.** In recent years, the public health community has been discussing tobacco endgame strategies that can be used to augment existing strategies. The concept of tobacco endgame suggests moving beyond tobacco control toward a tobacco-free future and envisions a phase-out and significantly restricted availability of commercial tobacco products. The strategies proposed so far have potential benefits as well as risks. Most of the proposals have not been implemented; therefore, it is difficult to evaluate their practicality or legality. There are concerns that an over-emphasis on novel approaches may reduce the efforts toward existing policies that have proven successful but may seem less exciting (such as taxation). Other concerns are that endgame proposals may empower the state to take private property or restrict freedoms. There are also concerns that product changes may unintentionally impose health risks on tobacco users.
- **102. Currently, Turkey has no endgame strategy.** The Strategic Plan of the Ministry of Health announces many tobacco-related targets for the year 2023. According to this strategy document, the country aims to reduce by 2023 tobacco usage rate among students in ages 13-15 to 10 percent, the share of those in ages 15-34 who initiate smoking before 18 to 50 percent, the share of tobacco users in ages 15 and older to 24 percent, and the daily consumption among smokers in ages 15 and older to 12 cigarettes.¹⁰⁷ To end tobacco use in the near future, Turkey needs more ambitious targets. It is unknown whether any of the endgame strategies proposed in the literature have been considered in Turkey to supplement the already existing tobacco control strategies.

D.2. Timeline of Tobacco Control Policies

103. In Turkey, where the history of tobacco use dates back to the 16th century, the production and regulations of tobacco and tobacco products were the state's business before establishing the Republic of Turkey. Production and trade of tobacco had been controlled and favored by the Ottoman Empire since taxes were levied on tobacco farmers in 1646.¹⁰⁸ In particular, state control became more apparent with the establishment of a monopoly in 1872.¹⁰⁹ In the upcoming years, the first tobacco factories were established in İstanbul, İzmir, Samsun, and Adana between 1884 and 1895.¹¹⁰ As a result of the deteriorating financial situation of the Ottoman government, the management of the state monopoly was taken over by a consortium in 1879.¹¹¹ In 1883, the privilege of tobacco monopoly was transferred to a foreign-financed company- Regie Company.¹¹² When the Turkish Republic was established, all the assets of the Regie Company were transferred to the Turkish government in 1923.¹¹³

- 104. In the early years of the Republic of Turkey, production and trade of tobacco and tobacco products had been nationalized by the government. With the liberalization policies in the 1980s, the industry became more market-oriented, and the role of the government has changed from producer to regulator. In the early Republican period, production and trade of tobacco and tobacco products were nationalized, and a state monopoly initially named "The Public Directorate of Monopolies," later renamed as "TEKEL" was established.¹¹⁴ Under this new national monopoly, laws, and regulations regarding the cultivation, transportation, processing, and trade of tobacco and tobacco products were developed and enacted.¹¹⁵ Until the 1980s, Turkey was a closed, import-substituting, planned economy, with the most economic activity carried out by state economic enterprises. During the 1980s, as the overall economy was liberalizing, TEKEL was transformed into a state-economic enterprise and started importing foreign cigarettes.¹¹⁶ In the upcoming years, TEKEL was renamed as "Tobacco and Tobacco Products, Salt and Alcohol Enterprises General Directorate" in 1987, and cigarette production was liberalized, allowing local and foreign companies to manufacture cigarettes in Turkey.¹¹⁷ In 2002, TEKEL was transformed into an incorporate company, and its market regulatory responsibilities were transferred to a new body called "The Tobacco and Alcohol Regulatory Authority (TAPDK)."¹¹⁸ In 2008, liberalization in the production and trade of tobacco products was completed. In the same year, TEKEL was overtaken by British American Tobacco.¹¹⁹ Therefore, especially since the 1990's, tobacco production and marketing strategy in Turkey has changed dramatically with the elimination of barriers to the entry of international companies into the Turkish tobacco market, privatization of production, reduction in the size of tobacco farming areas, and the shift of agricultural subsidies to alternative crops.
- 105. Health-related aspects of using tobacco and tobacco products started to be addressed in Turkey in the 1990s. In particular, the first tobacco and health symposium was held in 1992, with the participation of parliamentarians and the media.¹²⁰ "The National Coalition on Tobacco and Health" was established with 11 institutions working on tobacco and health issues in 1995.¹²¹ More interestingly, the cornerstone of tobacco policy design regarding health aspects in Turkey was the law directed at warning the public about the harms of tobacco and tobacco products use, Tobacco Law No 4207 on "Preventing the Hazards of Tobacco Products" enacted in 1996.¹²²
- 106. Health-related aspects were started to be internationally addressed by the WHO FCTC as FCTC became the international legal instrument that obligates countries to implement tobacco control policies considering adverse health impacts.¹²³ The WHO was established on 7 April 1948, and Turkey is one of its members. In particular, the main objective of the WHO "is the attainment by all peoples of the highest possible level of health."¹²⁴ The efforts to restrain the global tobacco pandemic, using WHO's treaty-making power, started to be discussed only after the late 1970s.¹²⁵ In the end, WHO FCTC became a legally binding international instrument in

2005. Currently, 182 countries ratified the treaty. 182 parties, which constitute more than 90 percent of the world population, have obligations regarding tobacco consumption's direct and indirect adverse health impacts on human health.¹²⁶

- **107.** During the 2000s, measures taken towards reducing the prevalence of tobacco use were strengthened with the incorporation of the FCTC into Turkish legislation, and practice. In particular, WHO FCTC was signed by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health (MoH) in 2004. As a policy milestone, the WHO FCTC entered into force in 2005 in Turkey.¹²⁷ Accordingly, commissions were gathered to work on further requirements from the WHO FCTC on national tobacco control programs. The "National Tobacco Control Committee," formed by the MoH, prepared in 2006 an "Action Plan for the Period 2008-2012," which mainly aimed to reduce the prevalence of tobacco use among adults and adolescents.¹²⁸ In 2008, "Amendment of the Law on Preventing the Hazards of Tobacco Products" was enacted.¹²⁹ Today, FCTC parties have obligations for following substantive policy articles defined in the FCTC. In addition to this short summary, in this chapter, Turkey's policy toolbox with its measures, successes, and deficiencies are evaluated considering Turkey's performance in these respective articles.
 - Article 5 General obligations
 - Article 6 Price and tax measures to reduce the demand for tobacco
 - Article 8 Protection from exposure to tobacco smoke
 - Article 9 Regulation of the contents of tobacco products
 - Article 10 Regulation of tobacco product disclosures
 - Article 11 Packaging and labelling of tobacco products
 - Article 12 Education, communication, training and public awareness
 - Article 13 Tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship
 - Article 14 Demand reduction measures concerning tobacco dependence and cessation
 - Article 15 Illicit trade in tobacco products
 - Article 16 Sales to and by minors
 - Article 17 Provision of support for economically viable alternative activities
 - Article 18 Protection of the environment and the health of persons
 - Article 19 Liability
 - Article 20 Research, surveillance and exchange of information
 - Article 22 Cooperation in the scientific, technical and legal fields and provision of related expertise.¹³⁰

108. Furthermore, the WHO declared six main policy areas, abbreviated as MPOWER, as the key summary indicators of tobacco control policies that are related to controlling different areas and aspects of tobacco use. MPOWER policy measures include both price and non-price measures in which "raising taxes" can be considered a price measure while others are non-price measures. Today, around 5 billion people are subject to at least one complete MPOWER measure in the world, whereas only two countries have adopted all MPOWER related measures at the highest level.¹³¹ Turkey is one of these two countries; moreover, it is the first country that adopted all MPOWER measure at the highest level.^{ix 132} In particular, evaluating each MPOWER measure provides a comprehensive insight into countries' performances in tobacco control policies.

^{ix} Brazil became the second country that has adopted all MPOWER measures at the highest level in 2019.

Individual sections of the MPOWER policy toolbox are listed below. Accordingly, Turkey's current performance in tobacco control policies in the respective policy area with factors that may shape the policy design is presented in the following headings with references to MPOWER classification. Moreover, for each heading, Turkey's position with respect to the FCTC articles are also evaluated.

- (M) Monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies
- (P) Protecting people from tobacco smoke
- (O) Offering help to quit tobacco use
- (W) Warning about the dangers of tobacco
- (E) Enforcing bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship
- (R) Raising taxes on tobacco

D.3.Price-Related Tobacco Control Policies

109. In this sub-chapter, tobacco taxation tools and factors that may affect Turkey's tax policy design process are elaborated. In particular, Turkey's tax framework on tobacco products, the impact of taxation tools on the final price of tobacco products, and consequently, the effect of these tools on the affordability of tobacco products are shared. Additionally, findings on other factors which may shape policy design are presented. In this context, analyses on tax revenue generation capability of tobacco consumption, inflationary pressures of tax increases, consumers' possible reactions to tax increases, the threat of a demand shift to contraband products in the short-run in the context of illicit trade, and public support are presented.

D.3.1. Overview of tobacco taxation framework

- 110. Tobacco products are more heavily taxed than other goods in many countries due to the link between tobacco consumption and various adverse health consequences.¹³³ As summarized in Chapter 3, there are direct and indirect adverse health consequences of tobacco use on human health. Accordingly, health effects and related economic burdens have traditionally been the primary economic rationale for taxing tobacco products more heavily than other goods.¹³⁴ Besides, Article 6 of the WHO FCTC, "Price and tax measures to reduce the demand for tobacco," highlights the importance of tax policies and calls on governments to implement tax policies to combat the tobacco pandemic.¹³⁵ Consequently, 182 FCTC parties, including Turkey, have an obligation under Article 6 to implement tax policies.¹³⁶
- 111. Most countries levy excise taxes on tobacco products to trigger a relative increase in the prices of tobacco products.¹³⁷ Increasing tobacco prices is an effective measure in deterring people from starting to smoke and encouraging smokers to quit.¹³⁸ Nonetheless, governments usually raise taxes and not prices considering that market economies should not directly regulate market prices.¹³⁹ Taxing tobacco products. In this context, in 2018, 97 percent of FCTC parties, which report their implementation reports on time with sufficient information on cigarette taxes, levy some form of excise tax.¹⁴⁰
- **112.** Countries may employ different tax regimes for tobacco products, including ad valorem and specific excise components. Notably, excise taxes directly targeting tobacco products can be applied as ad valorem taxes (as a percentage of price) and/or as specific taxes (fixed monetary

amounts per quantity sold). While some countries impose excise taxes solely as specific or ad valorem, some countries such as Turkey adopt a mixed system consisting of both specific and ad valorem terms. In particular, according to the 2018 Global Progress Report, 14 percent of FCTC parties implement ad valorem excises alone, 30 percent of FCTC parties prefer only specific taxes, and the majority of the countries with a 56 percent share levy mixed excise tax systems (see Table 12).¹⁴¹ In addition, in most countries, tobacco products are subject to a Value Added Tax (VAT), which is applied to almost all products and not only to tobacco products.¹⁴² The challenge for policymakers is to choose the type of excise tax and the rate to meet the public health goals and generate higher tax revenues as different types of taxes have different outcomes. In the end, the literature on the optimal choice between various tax components has identified that the decision should depend on the market characteristics.¹⁴³

113. Except for South-East Asia and Western Pacific regions, most countries levy a mixed tax system on cigarettes. Table 12 shows that 60 percent of countries in South-East Asia, and 71 percent of countries in the Western Pacific only levy specific excise taxes. Notably, 65 percent of the countries in the America region and 89 percent of European countries charge both specific and ad valorem components. Indeed, the European Union (EU) countries are obliged to implement a mixed system under the EU Directive 2011/64/EU. Moreover, there has been a move away from an ad valorem regime to a mixed tax system over the years in the world.¹⁴⁴



| Table 12 - | Type of | cigarette | excise | regimes | by | regions, | 2018 |
|-------------------|---------|-----------|--------|---------|----|----------|------|
| | | 0 | | 0 | • | <u> </u> | |

| | Туре | of excise tax, % | , 0 | Number of countries | Total number of countries | |
|-----------------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|--|
| Regions | Specific only | Ad valorem only | Both specific and ad valorem | that levy excise tax in any form | reporting sufficient information on tobacco taxes | |
| Africa | 30.77 | 23.08 | 46.15 | 26 | 26 | |
| Eastern Mediterranean | 31.25 | 31.25 | 37.50 | 16 | 19 | |
| Europe | 7.89 | 2.63 | 89.47 | 38 | 38 | |
| Americas | 21.74 | 13.04 | 65.22 | 23 | 23 | |
| South-East Asia | 60.00 | 20.00 | 20.00 | 5 | 6 | |
| Western Pacific | 71.43 | 9.52 | 19.05 | 21 | 21 | |
| World | 30.23 | 13.95 | 55.81 | 129 | 133 | |

Source: WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018", TEPAV calculations Note: The cells with the lowest values in each row are shaded in light gray. The shading turns from light grey to dark grey as the value increases within the respective row.

114. Currently, there are two main tax items on tobacco consumption in Turkey: VAT and

Special Consumption Tax (SCT), an excise tax including both ad valorem and specific components. First of all, as emphasized in Chapter A, cigarettes constitute an overwhelming 99.8 percent of the retail sales of the tobacco industry in Turkey.¹⁴⁵ Thus, without overriding FCTC's intended coverage on tax policies on all tobacco products, further analyses in this report are mostly conducted on cigarettes, unless otherwise stated. Before 2002, cigarettes sold in Turkey were subject to a variety of taxes, such as contribution to tobacco fund, defense industry fund, education fund, grazing ground fund, veterans fund, additional tax, and VAT at different places in the distribution chain.¹⁴⁶ In 2002, the SCT was introduced as an excise tax targeting several goods, including tobacco products. From that year on, four tax components on tobacco products have been used in Turkey: (i) SCT 1 - specific excise tax in TL, (ii) SCT 2 - minimum specific excise tax in TL, (iii) SCT 3 - ad valorem excise tax in percentage terms, and (iv) VAT in percentage terms. The VAT has always been applied in the same manner and at the same rate, but there have been changes in the rules about applying the excise tax components. Table 13 presents the full regulation timeline of cigarette taxation, as well as the rates applied and implementation rules in Turkey after the introduction of SCT in 2002.

115. In particular, through the years, Turkey has restructured its tobacco taxation policy several times. As seen in, after the introduction of SCT in August 2002, only the ad valorem tax component was implemented until February 2004. In February 2004, a fixed tax amount per package was introduced. In particular, the fixed amount had depended on the content of the cigarettes. After July 2005, this fixed amount was repealed, and a conditional tax structure (as explained in the next paragraph) was introduced. Since January 2013, one more specific tax component was added (in the form of a fixed amount per package), but this time the tax did not depend on the content of the cigarettes. With this re-definition, the tax structure reached its current format. Except for the abolishing and reintroducing of minimum specific excise between January and May 2019, there were changes in the tax rates but not in the structure after that date. All of the changes before the Presidential System was initiated in Turkey were made by Cabinet Decrees. On the other hand, since some tax components are in fixed monetary terms rather than percentage terms, regular updates are needed in order to offset the effects of changes in prices, which can cause an erosion in the effectiveness of taxation in reducing consumption. For this reason, policymakers in Turkey revised legislation, allowing the specific components of SCT to be automatically adjusted twice a year in January and July according to the producer price index, starting from 2013 without a need for a Cabinet Decree.¹⁴⁷ However, these regular updates did not happen after 2017; only some occasional adjustments were made. Moreover, no adjustment was made in 2017 (see Table 13). As a side note, the current tax structure share in Table 13 is also implemented for other tobacco products such as cigars, cigarillos, moist snuffs in Turkey.^{x 148}

^x 2402.20, 2402.90.00.00, 024.03, and 24.03.99.10.00.00 coded items according to HS classification under the SCT legislation (III)-B list are taken into consideration.

Table 13 - Regulation timeline of the cigarette* taxation in Turkey after 2002 with theSpecial Consumption Tax (SCT)

| | Excise Duties (Special Consumption Tax) | | | | | | |
|------------------------------|---|---|---|-------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | | Both are applied | The higher one is applied | | | | |
| Implementation Start Date | VAT, % (**) | Specific Excise, TL, Per Package, SCT1 | Minimum Specific Excise, TL, Per Stick, SCT2 | Ad Valorem Excise, %, SCT3 | | | |
| August 2002 ¹⁴⁹ | 15.25 | | | 49.50 | | | |
| January 2003 ¹⁵⁰ | 15.25 | | | 55.30 | | | |
| February 2004 ¹⁵¹ | 15.25 | 0.025, 0.050, 0.080 (***) | | 55.30 | | | |
| August 2004 ¹⁵² | 15.25 | 0.350, 0.450, 0.600, 1.000 (***) | | 28.00 | | | |
| August 2004 ¹⁵³ | 15.25 | 0.350, 0.535, 1.000 (***) | | 28.00 | | | |
| January 2005 ¹⁵⁴ | 15.25 | 0.350, 0.534, 1.000 (***) | | 28.00 | | | |
| February 2005 ¹⁵⁵ | 15.25 | 0.376, 0.800, 1.350 (***) | | 28.00 | | | |
| July 2005 ¹⁵⁶ | 15.25 | | 0.0600 | 58.00 | | | |
| March 2006 ¹⁵⁷ | 15.25 | | 0.0600 | 58.00 | | | |
| February 2007 ¹⁵⁸ | 15.25 | | 0.0700 | 58.00 | | | |
| November 2007 ¹⁵⁹ | 15.25 | | 0.0750 | 58.00 | | | |
| January 2008 ¹⁶⁰ | 15.25 | | 0.0775 | 58.00 | | | |
| July 2008 ¹⁶¹ | 15.25 | | 0.0775 | 58.00 | | | |
| June 2009 ¹⁶² | 15.25 | | 0.1025 | 58.00 | | | |
| December 2009 ¹⁶³ | 15.25 | | 0.1325 | 63.00 | | | |
| February 2011 ¹⁶⁴ | 15.25 | | 0.1325 | 63.00 | | | |
| October 2011 ¹⁶⁵ | 15.25 | | 0.1450 | 69.00 | | | |
| October 2011 ¹⁶⁶ | 15.25 | | 0.1450 | 65.00 | | | |
| January 2013 ¹⁶⁷ | 15.25 | 0.0900 | 0.1575 | 65.25 | | | |
| July 2013 ¹⁶⁸ | 15.25 | 0.0922 | 0.1613 | 65.25 | | | |
| January 2014 ¹⁶⁹ | 15.25 | 0.1300 | 0.1875 | 65.25 | | | |
| July 2014 ¹⁷⁰ | 15.25 | 0.1366 | 0.1971 | 65.25 | | | |
| January 2015 ¹⁷¹ | 15.25 | 0.1866 | 0.1971 | 65.25 | | | |
| July 2015 ¹⁷² | 15.25 | 0.1968 | 0.2103 | 65.25 | | | |
| January 2016 ¹⁷³ | 15.25 | 0.2468 | 0.2210 | 65.25 | | | |
| July 2016 ¹⁷⁴ | 15.25 | 0.2546 | 0.2280 | 65.25 | | | |
| December 2016 ¹⁷⁵ | 15.25 | 0.3246 | 0.2280 | 65.25 | | | |
| March 2018 ¹⁷⁶ | 15.25 | 0.3246 | 0.2429 | 65.25 | | | |
| June 2018 ¹⁷⁷ | 15.25 | 0.4200 | 0.2800 | 63.00 | | | |
| January 2019 ¹⁷⁸ | 15.25 | 0.4200 | - | 67.00 | | | |
| May 2019 ¹⁷⁹ | 15.25 | 0.4200 | 0.2679 | 67.00 | | | |
| July 2019 ¹⁸⁰ | 15.25 | 0.4539 | 0.2895 | 67.00 | | | |
| August 2019 ¹⁸¹ | 15.25 | 0.4539 | 0.3899 | 67.00 | | | |
| May 2020 ¹⁸² | 15.25 | 0.4539 | 0.4569 | 67.00 | | | |

Source: 8305 Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu, Deloitte Verginet, T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Resmi Gazete, TÜRMOB, TEPAV compilations

Note: * 2402.20 coded item according to HS classification under the SCT legislation (III)-B list is shared. ** The actual VAT rate is 18 percent; here, the share of VAT in the retail price is expressed. *** For these specific years, even though the applied tax is referred to as "Minimum Specific Excise" in the regulation and initially announced per stick, the implementation rule was different from the current "Minimum Specific Excise" rate. In particular, "Minimum Specific Excise" between February 2004 and February 2015 was charged on all cigarettes, as of today's "Specific Excise." to follow the current terminology, "Minimum Specific Excise" taxes between February 2004 and February 2005 are reported under the column titled "Specific Excise" in the table. *** These specific excises were applied according to different criteria over time. In the regulation in February 2004, the tax amount was based on the retail price. In August 2004, January 2005, and February 2005, the amount was based on the share of oriental tobacco. The higher the proportion of oriental tobacco, the lower was the specific tax.

116. In particular, the current tax components on cigarettes in Turkey can be explained in detail as follows:

- <u>VAT:</u> Imposed on all cigarettes as 18 percent of the retail sales price (implying a 15.25 percent share of the retail price the consumer pays).
- <u>SCT1 Specific Excise Tax:</u> Implemented on all cigarettes. Unlike the VAT, it is charged as a fixed TL amount per package. Currently, it is 0.4539 TL per package.
- <u>SCT2 Minimum Specific Excise Tax or SCT3 Ad Valorem Excise Tax:</u> SCT2 is charged as a fixed amount per stick. SCT3 is charged as a percent of the retail price. Currently, SCT2 is 0.4569 TL per stick, corresponding to 9.1380 TL for a pack of 20 sticks. SCT3 is implemented as 67 percent of the retail sales price. The tax charged is the higher of the two.
- **117.** Turkey's current excise system imposes a conditional framework for tax components on differently priced cigarettes. A clarifying example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices in Turkey is presented in Table 14. Let's suppose that there are two different cigarette brands: "Brand A" and "Brand B," which have RSPs as 18 TL and 12 TL, respectively. Since SCT2 component is a fixed amount per stick, the relevant tax amount is 9.138 TL per pack for both brands. The ad valorem excise tax (SCT3), 67 percent of the retail price, is 12.06 TL and 8.04 TL for the two brands, respectively. Since 12.06 (SCT3) is greater than 9.138 (SCT2), the ad valorem component (SCT3) will be applied to "Brand A." on the contrary, since 9.138 is greater than 8.04, the minimum specific excise tax (SCT2) component will be applied to "Brand B." As a result of the imposition of a specific tax (SCT1) on both brands regardless of the sales price and the conditional framework between SCT2 and SCT3, the imposed tax components on the two brands will be different.

Table 14 - An example to show the tax components on cigarettes with different prices inTurkey, as of July 6, 2020

| | l | Rates | |
|--------|---|---|-----------------------------------|
| VAT | SCT1- Specific Excise Tax, per package | SCT2- Minimum Specific Excise Tax, per stick | SCT3- Ad Valorem Excise Tax |
| 15.25% | 0.4539 TL | 0.4569 TL | 67% |
| | | | |



Source: 8305 Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu, Deloitte Verginet, T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Resmi Gazete, TÜRMOB, TEPAV compilations and calculations

Note: Applied tax amounts are highlighted with light blue.

- **118.** The conditional tax system allows the regulator to set tax rates relatively higher in the lowerend of the price spectrum and consequently puts higher pressure on companies to increase prices on the lower-priced brands in Turkey. The imposition of a minimum tax amount (via choosing the higher of SCT2 and SCT3), combined with the specific tax (SCT1) leads to a variation in the tax burden of different cigarette segments in Turkey. The intended aim of such an approach is to regulate the gap in the sales prices between premium and low priced alternatives. Hence this approach enables interventions to limit the possible switching down behavior of the consumers, from higher-priced cigarettes to lower-priced ones in response to a hike in taxes, and thus prices, instead of decreasing smoking or quitting.¹⁸³
- **119.** The current conditional tax structure also enables an indirect regulation to set the minimum retail price in Turkey. With the implementation of SCT1, a fixed tax amount per package is charged regardless of the retail price of the cigarettes in Turkey. Furthermore, the rule about choosing the higher of the SCT2 and SCT3 components generates a threshold price below which the SCT2 applies and above which the SCT3 applies. Such an approach indirectly sets a minimum price on cigarettes, assuming that the retail price will at least cover the tax. The minimum price can be calculated as follows, by assuming that the price is composed only of taxes: (SCT1+SCT2*20)*(1+VAT). Accordingly, as of June 2020, the taxation scheme yields a minimum price of 11.32 TL.^{xi} The intended aim of such an approach is to circumvent the sale of cigarettes at a low price and to discourage uptake among youth and limit the maneuver of the smokers to switch down to cheaper brands.¹⁸⁴
- **120.** Turkey has been increasing the tax burden on tobacco products over the years. In 1994, before introducing the SCT, the total tax burden on retail cigarette prices in Turkey was around 44 percent. In 2000 it went up to 77 percent.¹⁸⁵ With the introduction of the SCT framework in Turkey, the total tax burden initially declined to 64 percent, after which the tax burden on tobacco

^{xi} Calculation is based on Table 13.

products has been rising. In particular, Figure 48 illustrates how the tax burden depends on the retail price and how the burden has changed over time after the introduction of SCT. In particular, the tax burden on three different prices are shown in the figure: the average price, an above-average priced brand, and a hypothetical low price halfway between the minimum price implied by the tax regime and the threshold price below which the SCT2 will apply. Currently, the total tax burden on an above-average priced and average cigarette is 84.8 percent. The overall tax burden on a cigarette with a hypothetical low price is much higher at 92.1 percent.





Source: 8305 Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu, Deloitte Verginet, online newspapers, T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Resmi Gazete, TurkStat, TÜRMOB, TEPAV calculations

Note: * For the period between 1994 and 2004, TurkStat presented the monthly prices of different commodities under the Consumer Price Index statistics. Camel (small), Maltepe (small and long), Marlboro (small and long), Parliament, Samsun (small and long), Tekel 2000, Bafra, Birinci, Bitlis, and Yeni Harman are the cigarette brands with monthly prices within this dataset. While some of these brands are not currently on the market, Camel, Marlboro, Parliament, and Tekel 2000 are still available. Among these brands, the current prices of Marlboro and Parliament are higher than the average cigarette prices announced by TurkStat. Between these two brands, the market share in terms of sold sticks is higher for Marlboro, according to Euromonitor statistics. Accordingly, with its above-average price, availability of time-series information, and high market share, Marlboro (short) is considered as a representative above-average priced brand. The time series of above-average priced cigarettes starts in August 2002. After January 2005, the price information for Marlboro (small) is manually gathered via online searches on newspapers. Between August 2004 and June 2005, the amount of the specific minimum excise tax was tied to the share of oriental tobacco within the cigarettes, with a lower tax amount charged to cigarettes with a higher share of oriental tobacco. For the above-average price brand, the highest amounts of taxes were considered in calculating tax burdens for this period. ** TurkStat data for average cigarette prices is available after January 2013. *** The time series of hypothetical low priced cigarettes starts in July 2005 because of data limitations. Since "Minimum Specific Tax" was not employed between January 2019 and April 2019, the threshold price (hence the hypothetical low price) is not calculated for this period.

121. Today, Turkey has been one of the countries with the highest tax burden on tobacco products. As one of its tobacco control policies, the WHO has suggested that taxes should be set so that they account for at least 70 percent of the retail prices.¹⁸⁶ According to 2018 statistics, out of 184 countries, only 57 countries have a total tax burden on cigarettes equivalent to more than

70 percent of their retail prices. Turkey has been among the top 20 countries on this list.¹⁸⁷ Moreover, the global median total tax burden on the most popular tobacco products was 63 percent in 2018.¹⁸⁸ In detail, the African region has the lowest median tax burden at 34 percent, and the Europe has the highest median tax burden at 78 percent. In line with the most up-to-date information, the total tax burden on cigarettes in Turkey is higher than the 80.3 percent average in the EU countries, which are listed among the countries with the highest tax burdens. Yet, there are still six EU countries -the UK (91.6 percent), Estonia (90.3 percent), Finland (89.9 percent), Ireland (85.3 percent), Bulgaria (85.1 percent), and Greece (84.8 percent)- that have a higher tax burden on cigarettes than Turkey.^{xii} ¹⁸⁹ Furthermore, taken all tobacco control policies and respective articles in the FCTC, Article 8 (Protection from exposure to tobacco smoke); Article 11 (Packaging and labelling of tobacco products); Article 12 (Education, communication, training and public awareness); Article 16 (Sales to and by minors); and Article 5 (General obligations) have average implementation rates between 66 percent and 88 percent. While the average implementation rate for Article 6 stands at only 64 percent, and it indicates that tax policies in the combat to tobacco pandemic are globally underutilized.¹⁹⁰

D.3.2. Price of tobacco products and affordability

122. Cigarette prices are increasing in Turkey in line with the increase in tax burden. Consumption decisions are affected by the sales prices of the products. To analytically evaluate the effectiveness of taxation on curbing tobacco consumption, prices of the two groups of cigarettes: above-average priced cigarettes and low-priced cigarettes are taken into consideration. In this context, nominal prices of cigarettes are converted to real prices by deflating them monthly; then, yearly averages are represented in Figure 49. In each group, the real price is set to 1 in the initial year, and a real price index is created by rescaling prices relative to initial year prices. As seen in Figure 49, the real price index has been increasing in Turkey in both groups. Therefore, cigarettes are much more expensive today than they were in the early 2000s in Turkey.



Figure 49 - Real price index for the two groups of cigarettes in Turkey

Source: 8305 Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu, Deloitte Verginet, Euromonitor, online newspapers, T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Resmi Gazete, TurkStat, TÜRMOB, TEPAV calculations

^{xii} Until the end of the transition period, the UK is still subjected to the EU legislation. Therefore, the UK is in the EU countries' list for the time being. Taxes on cigarettes in the EU per 20-cigarette pack, as of March 2019, are taken into consideration. The unit of analysis is the weighted average retail sale price.

123. Despite the increase in cigarette prices, cigarette prices in Turkey remain relatively low compared to the OECD countries. The median price of the most sold brand cigarette pack with 20 sticks is 7.85 international dollars at Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) among OECD countries. With a cigarette price at 8.5 international dollars at PPP, the price in Turkey is higher than but close to the OECD average. Nonetheless, considering the high tax rate in Turkey, the prices of cigarettes in Turkey remain relatively lower than those in other countries of the OECD, even after adjusting for PPP. In particular, Turkey carries the fifth-highest tax burden on cigarettes among OECD countries.¹⁹¹ Yet, Figure 50 indicates that even though Turkey has a higher tax burden than Ireland, Australia, the UK, Norway, Canada, Hungary, Iceland, Israel, the Netherlands, and Poland, Turkey has lower cigarette prices than these listed countries.

Figure 50 - Price of a 20-cigarettes pack of the most sold brand in OECD countries, international dollars at PPP, 2018



Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use", TEPAV calculations

124. Even though the increase in the tax burden yields an increase in cigarette prices, the rise in income has limited the effectiveness of tax increases in Turkey. Despite the high tax burden on tobacco products, the tobacco prevalence rate is increasing in Turkey, as laid out in Chapter B. Although contradictory at first sight, the outcome is not inconsistent with economic theory. In particular, consumption decisions are based on final prices, not on taxes paid. They are also based on disposable income. Therefore, it is necessary to analyze the effect of tobacco taxes on consumption by taking the affordability of tobacco products into account. To evaluate affordability, the number of cigarettes that can be purchased by GDP per capita in a given year is calculated. By setting the number in the initial year to 1 and rescaling the number of cigarettes in different years relative to the number in the initial year, an affordability index is generated. As depicted in Figure 51, the affordability index indicates that above-average priced cigarettes are more affordable each year, except for 2010 in Turkey. For instance, a person whose income is equal to GDP per capita can purchase 2,367 versus 3,240 packs of above-average priced cigarettes in 2002 and 2019, respectively (corresponding to a sizable increase in the affordability index from 1.00 to 1.37). The pattern in the affordability of low-priced cigarettes is different. Comparing 2005 to 2019, affordability has somewhat declined, since 5,649 versus 5,438 packs of low-priced cigarettes can be purchased by GDP per capita in these two years (corresponding to a small decline in the affordability index from 1.00 to 0.96). Clearly, despite the high tax burden on these products (higher than 90 percent of the retail price), there was no significant long-term decline in the affordability of low-priced cigarettes in Turkey. To sum up, despite the high tax burden and the

continual increase in excises, above-average priced cigarettes have become more affordable, and the affordability of low-priced cigarettes has not changed much since 2005. Thus, even though policy research conducted world-wide has clearly demonstrated the effectiveness of higher tobacco product taxes and prices in reducing tobacco use, the current situation in Turkey requires a new angle to design effective policies.¹⁹² Accordingly, the latest Tobacco Control Action Plan of Turkey also puts a target in line with this motivation. In particular, one of the 32 initiatives highlighted in the Action Plan explicitly states that tax rates should be increased to offset both increase in the average income level and the minimum wages in the future taxation policies of Turkey.¹⁹³





Source: 8305 Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu, Deloitte Verginet, Euromonitor, online newspapers, T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Resmi Gazete, TurkStat, TÜRMOB, TEPAV calculations

D.3.3. Tax revenues

125. In 2019, Turkey collected 11.0 billion dollars in tobacco tax revenues, mostly thanks to SCT components. In particular, compared to the 2006 tobacco tax revenue of 7.9 billion dollars, the 2019 tobacco revenue increased substantially to 11.0 billion dollars. As there are two main tax components on tobacco products in Turkey as the VAT and SCT, SCT is the major revenue source in Turkey's tobacco taxation. In particular, out of 11.0 billion dollars, 8.9 billion dollars is tobacco excise tax revenue sourced from the SCT (see Figure 52). Considering that VAT has been at the same rate throughout the years as a percentage of the retail sales prices, comparing the collected VAT revenue with the SCT revenue over the years provides a base for analyzing whether fixed monetary terms within SCT caused any revenue decreases between the tax policy changes. In particular, Figure 53 indicates that there is not a substantial deviation between trends of SCT and VAT tax revenue collections. Hence, it can be inferred that with the respective changes, the SCT component can function as a percentage tax item without significant erosions due to its inclusion of fixed monetary elements.



Figure 52 - Tax revenues from tobacco products in Turkey, billion \$, 2006-2019

Source: IMF, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, TEPAV calculations

Note: VAT component is measured based on domestic sales of the cigarettes, but SCT covers domestic sales of all tobacco products.



Figure 53 - Trends of the tax revenue items on tobacco products in Turkey, billion \$, 2006-2019

Source: IMF, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, TEPAV calculations

Note: The VAT component is measured based on domestic sales of the cigarettes, but SCT covers domestic sales of all tobacco products.

126. Turkey collected 7.6 percent of its total tax revenue and 34 percent of its total SCT revenue from tobacco products in 2019. Besides, during 2006-2019, the share of tax revenues collected from tobacco products was almost stable, around 7 percent. On the other hand, the share of tobacco tax revenues in SCT increased from 24 percent in 2006 to almost 34 percent in 2019. Such an increase indicates the rising importance of tobacco products in the government's SCT revenues.



Source: IMF, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, TEPAV calculations

Note: The VAT component is measured based on domestic sales of the cigarettes, but SCT covers domestic sales of all tobacco products.

127. Regarding taxation, an argument focuses on the idea that if tax increases, the tax revenue could decline.¹⁹⁴ Yet, in Turkey, until now, this has not been the case. Between 2002 and 2019, Turkey raised tobacco taxes on above-average priced brand cigarettes, one of the most selling tobacco products in Turkey, by 16.0 percent. Within this period, total domestic cigarette sales volume in terms of sticks increased by 11.0 percent. Yet with the increase in prices by 15.5 percent, tobacco tax revenues increased by 70.1 percent. From another angle, increased taxes create a win-win situation for public health and the economy as prevalence rate declines and revenue increases in most countries.¹⁹⁵ In Turkey, even though increased taxes raise tax revenues, in the case of the prevalence rate, the expected outcome is not observed (see Table 15). Even though tobacco prices increased in Turkey, Turkey is still one of the countries with the lowest prices for cigarettes with respect to its tax burden (see Figure 50). Besides, prior analyses also show that despite increases in prices, cigarettes became more affordable in Turkey (see Figure 51). These two facts may hinder a possible decline in the prevalence rate. Furthermore, there are other factors that have impacts on the effectiveness of the tax increases, such as availability of substitute products at a lower price either within the domestic market or duty-frees or via illicit trade. In addition, most of the time, tax revenues after a tax increase do not immediately decline because tobacco is highly addictive and has a low price elasticity of demand.¹⁹⁶ The current situation on illicit trade and the availability of substitute products, and price elasticity of demand are elaborated in the next headings.

| | Total tax burden on diffe cigarettes, % | | ently priced | Domestic | Prevalence of daily | Total tax revenue from | |
|------|--|----------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------------|---|---|--|
| | Above-average priced brand | Average cigarette price | Hypothetical low price | cigarette sales, billion sticks | tobacco smoking among adults in Turkey, % | tobacco products, million constant TL, 1994=100 | |
| 2006 | 73.3 | | 84.1 | 107.9 | | 100.3 | |
| 2007 | 73.3 | | 84.1 | 107.5 | | 100.3 | |
| 2008 | 73.3 | | 84.1 | 107.9 | | 101.8 | |
| 2009 | 73.7 | | 84.4 | 107.6 | | 102.4 | |
| 2010 | 78.3 | | 87.5 | 93.4 | 25.4 | 120.0 | |
| 2011 | 78.8 | | 87.8 | 91.2 | | 118.5 | |
| 2012 | 80.3 | | 88.8 | 99.3 | 23.2 | 136.8 | |
| 2013 | 81.5 | 81.7 | 90.2 | 91.7 | | 135.9 | |
| 2014 | 81.9 | 82.2 | 90.4 | 94.7 | 27.3 | 134.3 | |
| 2015 | 82.4 | 82.8 | 90.9 | 103.2 | | 145.5 | |
| 2016 | 82.6 | 83.1 | 91.3 | 105.5 | 26.5 | 161.7 | |
| 2017 | 82.9 | 83.4 | 91.9 | 106.2 | | 169.2 | |
| 2018 | 81.9 | 82.6 | 91.0 | 118.5 | | 166.0 | |
| 2019 | 85.0 | 85.5 | 92.8 | 119.7 | 28.0 | 170.6 | |

Table 15 - Comparison of tax burden on cigarettes, domestic sales volume, and total taxrevenue from tobacco products in Turkey, 2006-2019

Source: 8305 Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu, Deloitte Verginet, Euromonitor, IMF, online newspapers, T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Resmi Gazete, T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, TurkStat, TÜRMOB, TEPAV calculations

Note: The cells with the lowest values in each column are shaded in light gray. The shading turns from light grey to dark grey as the value increases within the respective column.

128. Turkey does not earmark tobacco taxes for funding tobacco control policies. Yet, the current volume of tobacco taxes and total public health expenditures in Turkey indicate that tobacco tax may be an extremely efficient funding source to cover the externalities of tobacco use in Turkey. In 2018, 34 countries reported that they earmark a proportion of their tobacco taxation income for funding tobacco control activities while some countries directly channel this revenue for healthcare services.¹⁹⁷ In Turkey, there is no specific earmark tax structure.¹⁹⁸ Yet there are some initiatives stated in the Tobacco Control Program Action Plan of Turkey that indicate that an earmarked tax structure can be introduced in Turkey in the medium-term.¹⁹⁹ Besides, as emphasized in Chapter C, to assess the effectiveness of tobacco control policies in Turkey, the burden to the public via expenditures on treating tobacco-related diseases should be taken into consideration. Since further research is needed for these estimates, in order to provide an analytical base, a comparison between total public healthcare expenditure and tobacco tax revenue is shared in Figure 55. In 2018, tobacco tax revenue is equivalent to 41.8 percent of the country's total public health expenditure. In addition, according to Turkey's latest available figure in 2010, the government has a tobacco control expenditure of around 1.3 billion dollars.²⁰⁰ In the same year, total tax revenue obtained from tobacco products was 12.4 billion dollars. Thus, the comparison of these two figures yields that even though the primary and long-term objective of tobacco taxes is to curb the tobacco's negative impacts on public health and public economics, the considerable amount of tax collection from tobacco products is an important component of public revenue that has an interplay with other policy issues of governments.²⁰¹



Source: IMF, TurkStat, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, TEPAV calculations

D.3.4. Inflationary pressure

- **129.** In Turkey, cigarette prices is an important component of the Consumer Price Index (CPI); thus, cigarettes have a particular impact on inflation. Cigarette prices and the inflation rate are related in two ways. First, there is the need for an increase in the specific tax to keep up with the inflation. Then, cigarette prices play a role in the measurement of overall inflation rate in the country with its large weight in the respective consumption basket.²⁰² In particular, according to weights by main expenditure groups of CPI, alcoholic beverages and tobacco have a 6.06 coefficient out of 100 for Turkey, whereas the same category has a weight at 4.44 coefficient for the EU-27 countries.²⁰³ In particular, cigarettes as a separate item has a 5.71 coefficient in Turkey's CPI basket. In July 2020, the overall inflation rate is 11.76 percent in Turkey. In particular, with 23.14 percent annual rate of change, cigarettes have been one of the items with the highest pressure on the overall inflation.²⁰⁴ In particular, in this period, cigarettes have accounted for around 1 point influence to a total of 11.76 percent inflation.²⁰⁵ Aside from this example, cigarette prices have always been an important component of the consumption basket in Turkey due to the high smoking prevalence rates.
- **130.** Triggering an increase in the measured inflation rate due to an increase in tax rates is another public concern while adjusting tax rates in Turkey. In particular, even though Turkey has an automatic-adjustment mechanism for tax rates to keep up with the inflation rate, as stated in the previous headings, these updates were not realized in the last couple of years. In order to withdraw this automatic-adjustment process for the next 6-months, new Presidency Decrees were announced at those times. Although these decrees do not point out particular reasons for not realizing the automatic updates, the official briefs reviewed from online newspapers give us a hint for the main motivation behind these changes. For instance, in July 2017, Finance Minister announced that in order to be able to meet the inflation target and to eliminate the inflationary pressure that may come from an increase in tax rates, automatic updates are canceled for the upcoming term.²⁰⁶
- 131. These findings further reveal the need for a revision of the current automatic-adjustment mechanism in specific taxes to cover the increases in income and not just inflation.²⁰⁷ Prior

analyses clearly demonstrate that the past increases in tax rates and consecutively their impacts on final cigarette prices did not offset the increase in the income level. Hence, as cigarettes have become more affordable each year with the increase in purchasing power, the intended outcome of the increasing tax rates could not be achieved in Turkey. As suggested by WHO, the current taxation structure should be indexed to inflation and income growth to effectively reduce the consumption of tobacco products in Turkey.²⁰⁸ Yet, the current automatic updating mechanism has been interfered with in the last couple of years due to its possible inflationary pressures on the overall economy.²⁰⁹ This reminds us that tobacco control policies require a multi-objective policy setup considering that it crosscuts multiple policy areas. In that sense, when other aspects of this complex problem are taken into account, it becomes clear that taxes should not be used as the only policy tool.

D.3.5. Price elasticity and consumer response

- **132.** The effectiveness of tobacco taxes is influenced by the price elasticity of demand. The price elasticity of demand can be defined as the percentage change in the quantity consumed in response to one percent change in the product's final price. Price elasticity estimates vary from country to country. For tobacco products the estimates are in the inelastic range, meaning that the decline in consumption is less than the increase in real price.²¹⁰ In the case of Turkey, the previous estimates also reveal that the overall price elasticity of cigarette demand in Turkey was inelastic, between 0.190 to -0.90.²¹¹
- **133.** The consumption of cigarettes is not just determined by the price of cigarettes, but also by the price of other tobacco products that can substitute cigarettes. In particular, an increase in the price of one type of tobacco product may increase the demand for another kind of product that can substitute the product whose price increased. Besides, the switch in demand can be met by illegal as well as legal means. In the case of legal means, consumers may switch to cheaper cigarettes, to hand-rolled cigarettes, they may purchase products from another country, or they may buy products from duty-free sales points.²¹²
- 134. The price dispersion between differently priced cigarette brands in Turkey undermines the effectiveness of tobacco taxes. Even though there is a limited number of firms in the tobacco industry, the number of brands offered may be high.²¹³ For instance, one firm may offer differently priced 10 brands to its consumers.²¹⁴ In order to analyze the possible room for maneuver for switching down to a lower-priced cigarette, the prices of the cheapest cigarettes and the most expensive one are compared in Figure 56. To quantify the gap between the cheapest and the premium-brand prices, the share of the cheapest-brand price in the premium-brand price is taken into consideration. As seen in Figure 56, the price of the cheapest brand cigarette is 55 percent of the price of the premium one in Turkey. With 55 percent, Turkey is the third country with the highest gap between differently priced cigarettes among OECD countries. For instance, in France, the ratio is 96 percent, meaning that the cheapest and the most expensive cigarettes have similar prices. On the other hand, in recent years in Turkey the retail sales volume of premium brands has been increasing in terms of cigarette sticks sold, while the retail sales volume of mid-priced products has been decreasing (see Figure 57). This switch to a more expensive product can be due the rising affordability of premium cigarettes in Turkey, as demonstrated in the previous headings. Another reason can be switching from mid-price products to illegal ones since there is a 9 percent decline in the sold amount of mid-priced cigarettes in the last five years. Yet in the total market,

it is noteworthy to keep in mind that the total retail sales volume of cigarettes in terms of legally sold sticks is increasing at the same time.





Source: World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use", TEPAV calculations

Note: The USA is not included in the figure because of lack of the respective data within the same data source.





Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, TEPAV calculations

- **135.** Switching down to hand-rolled cigarettes with contraband raw tobacco or switching down to duty-free products constitutes another risk in tobacco control policies. Yet, analyses show that these factors may not be of much concern in Turkey. Hand-rolled cigarettes with contraband raw tobacco possess a risk that can undermine the effectiveness of tax policies and generate additional health concerns due to the unregulated sales of the contraband raw tobacco without any health inspections. On the other hand, in Turkey, hand-rolled cigarettes have a meager prevalence rate as laid out in Chapter B. Besides, the prevalence rate of hand-rolled cigarettes has a decreasing trend from 2.6 percent to 2.3 percent from 2012 to 2016.²¹⁵ From another perspective, legally sold bulk tobacco (minced tobacco for rolling) only comprises 0.5 percent of the market for tobacco products.²¹⁶ In addition, these raw tobacco products sold for rolling are also subject to the same tax structure as cigarettes in Turkey.²¹⁷ Moreover, in duty-free shops in airports, tobacco products are often sold without any excise tax burden.²¹⁸ Yet, analyses in Chapter B also point out that only 0.1 percent of Turks bought cigarettes from duty-free shops.²¹⁹
- 136. Considering that e-cigarettes or HTPs can be a substitute for cigarettes, the ban on e-cigarettes and HTPs in Turkey may limit the effectiveness of tax policy in Turkey.²²⁰ All tobacco products are subject to the same tax schedule in Turkey. Yet, e-cigarettes and HTPS,

which are not legally available on the market, are not subject to any tax policies in Turkey. In this context, a possible move of consumers to e-cigarettes containing nicotine or HTPs may undermine the intended impact of tax mechanisms in Turkey.²²¹ In addition, designing a tobacco tax system that favors products perceived to be safer while discouraging the products that are perceived as more harmful may be an option. Yet, recognizing past misrepresentations and current uncertainties that require a laborious research process to become clear, at this point, the design of such an incentive scheme may have to await clear evidence of a harm reduction benefit for the public health of the general population.²²² Furthermore, in the taxation of e-cigarettes, different frameworks have been implanted across countries.²²³ If Turkey would allow the legal sales of these products, further research would be needed to understand the cons and pros of different tax structures on these alternative products.

- 137. In addition to price elasticity and cross-price elasticity of demand, income elasticity also has a role in the effectiveness of taxation policies, as already observed in the affordability analyses in the previous headings. In particular, TEPAV's survey, conducted during the COVID-19 outbreak, confirms a strong relationship between affordability and tobacco consumption in Turkey. An increase in average incomes may increase the demand for cigarettes. The income elasticity coefficient is between 0 and 1, indicating that the relationship is less than the proportional rate.²²⁴ Since the first confirmed COVID-19 case in Turkey in March 2020, many households have lost at least part of their income or lost their jobs because of the contraction of economic activity. The following key points related to taxes and income elasticity are identified in the survey:
 - 53.4 percent of all participants experienced a loss, and only 2.3 percent experienced an increase in their household income, whereas 44.3 percent reported no change.
 - 10 percent of daily smokers switched from daily smoking to occasional smoking, and 2 percent of daily smokers quitted all together during the COVID-19 pandemic.
 - 15 percent of occasional smokers quitted smoking during the COVID-19 pandemic.
 - 77.7 percent of daily smokers who continued their daily smoking habit during the COVID-19 stated that they decreased their tobacco consumption.
 - More interestingly, participants who claimed that they had reduced their tobacco consumption during the COVID-19 period were asked about their primary motivation. Accordingly, among those who reduced consumption, income loss was the most often stated reason behind the change in behavior. 34.66 percent said that the reason was the decrease in their household income, 29.83 percent said it was to be more resistant to COVID-19, and 17.24 percent said that it was the increase in cigarette prices. 10.36 percent said that the reason was to reduce harm to others, whereas 7.9 percent had other reasons (see Figure 58).
 - Another intriguing finding in the survey was that people directly pointed out the hike in cigarette prices as one of their primary motivations to decrease their tobacco consumption during COVID-19. Yet, there was, in fact, no retail price change during the period, even though the minimum specific excise tax was raised within this period (see Figure 58).²²⁵



Figure 58 - Participants' main reasons for reducing their tobacco use during COVID-19, %

Source: TEPAV Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19, TEPAV calculations

D.3.6. Illicit trade

- **138.** Cigarettes are known as the world's most widely smuggled legal consumer product, and there is a global effort to combat illicit trade.²²⁶ Since the retail price of cigarettes is mostly dominated by tax burden rather than the cost of production, there is a motivation to buy these products via illegal means without paying the respective taxes. In addition to having a high tax burden, cigarettes are light and easy to transport compared to most other goods; which makes cigarettes attractive goods for illicit trade. In this context, The FCTC Protocol to Eliminate Illicit Trade in Tobacco Products (Protocol) came into force in September 2018 as a most current global response.²²⁷ In particular, FCTC parties expanded Article 15 dealing with illicit tobacco products into a separate international treaty with this protocol.²²⁸
- **139.** Illegal sale of tobacco and tobacco products in Turkey is a problem affecting both the producers, consumers, and the community. The overall tax burden on tobacco and tobacco products in Turkey is considerable as in many developed countries. Accordingly, a consumer with the desire to buy cheaper products by avoiding additional tax burdens may be tempted towards buying smuggled contraband and illegal products. While contraband and illegal products cause direct tax loss for the governments, these products also create unfair competition in the market. Furthermore, income obtained in an informal manner may be used as resources to support further criminal activities. Consequently, the illegal sale of tobacco and tobacco products has a direct and indirect effect on the profits of producers, the state of health of the consumers, and government revenues.
- 140. There are concerns about the effect of tax increases on tax avoidance activities and smuggling. On the other hand, Turkey's past experience indicates that tax increases did not end up with the rise in illicit trade in Turkey. According to Euromonitor International data, the illicit trade of cigarettes in Turkey has a downward trend in recent years. In 2013, nearly 113 billion sticks of cigarettes were consumed by smokers, and the share of illicit cigarette smoking in total consumption was 19.0 percent, while it declined to 7.7 percent as of 2018 (see Figure 59). Moreover, the statements of the Ministry of Trade also confirm that illicit market is limited and on the decline. In particular, the share of illicit cigarettes in the local market was estimated to be 21 percent in 2014, but by the end of 2019 indicated that this rate declined to 2 percent.²²⁹ Besides, the report by the Ministry of Interior (MoI) quoted several market researches that estimated the share of illicit trade at 11.3 percent in 2017 and 6.9 percent in 2018.²³⁰ Since statistics on illicit trade are estimations rather than actual revealed data, different data sources are needed to make final judgments. In this context, surveys characterizing demand may provide complementarity information.²³¹ First of all, as seen in Figure 59, the legal retail sales volume and smoking

prevalence rates are in the same direction, indicating a more plausible scenario for a limited volume of illicit trade. Furthermore, as seen in Table 10, 90.5 percent of individuals purchasing cigarettes in Turkey stated that they saw a tax stamp on the package, and around 93.4 percent said the packaging had pictorial health warnings, which may indicate a 7-10 percent possibility of illicit trade in 2016.



Figure 59 - Illicit trade share of consumption and tax burden on cigarettes, Turkey, %, 2004-2018

Source: 8305 Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu, Deloitte Verginet, Euromonitor, online newspapers, T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi, T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı, T.C. Resmi Gazete, TurkStat, TÜRMOB, TEPAV calculations

- **141.** In addition to the illicit cigarette trade, there are concerns about the illicit raw tobacco trade associated with hand-rolled cigarettes in Turkey.²³² In 2019, 0.94 tons of legal minced tobacco sales were made in the Turkish domestic market. Considering the average amount of tobacco per cigarette stick, the mentioned volume of tobacco may be equal to 802 million rolled cigarette sticks.^{xiii} However, when cigarette tube sales in 2019 are examined, it is seen that the sales of tubes were high enough to meet the demand of 3.7 billion rolled cigarette sticks. Accordingly, when figures of legally sold tubes and bulk tobacco are compared, it is estimated that 2.9 billion cigarette sticks might have been sold with illicit tobacco.²³³
- 142. Several policy actions have been taken to fight contraband and illegal products in Turkey. As the previous analyses pointed out, high tobacco taxes are not associated with high levels of illicit trade in Turkey. A similar coincidence is also observed in other countries with high tax rates. for instance, in the UK, where tax administration and customs are effective, and taxes are high, illicit trade fell by more than half from its peak of 20 percent in 2000.²³⁴ In particular, the respective literature argues that illicit trade is more common in countries where governance is weak, regardless of whether taxes are high or low.²³⁵ In the case of Turkey's policy milestones in combatting illicit trade, Turkey is the first country implementing a tracking-and-tracing system

xiii It was assumed that 1 cigarette stick consists of 0.85 grams of tobacco.

with digital tax stamps in 2007. Mobile scanners generate automatic reports in random inspections and compliance checks. As the digital component eliminates possible corruption, it also enables consumers to verify the authenticity of products.²³⁶ Besides, enforcement efforts were enhanced with a higher frequency of investigations and cross border controls, higher monetary and sentence penalties for involvement in illicit trade. For instance, smuggling tobacco and tobacco products can yield sentences between 3 to 10 years and 2 million TL penalty. Furthermore, there is also a dedicated phone line, "ALO 136," to report illicit trade in Turkey. In particular, prizes are given to reporters following the court verdict.²³⁷ In the case of cross border controls and investigations, according to the MoI, over 20 million packs of illegal cigarettes were confiscated in 2018.²³⁸ In addition to cigarettes, the MoI also points out that cigarette tube filled with minced tobacco has become a trend in Turkey. Accordingly, 10.5 million cigarette tubes filled with minced tobacco were confiscated in 2018. Furthermore, around 370 thousand cigars and cigarillos and 177 tons minced tobacco were seized in 2018. In addition to traditional tobacco products, the MoI also combats the illicit trade of HTPs and e-cigarettes. In particular, an increase in the smuggled ecigarettes is highlighted by the MoI. Even though online sales of conventional tobacco products are not allowed in Turkey, in the case of sales of e-cigarettes, online sales are pointed out as the primary mean. Also, the Ministry of Trade points out that most of the alternative products enter in the country via passengers bringing them from abroad.²³⁹

D.3.7. Public support

- 143. With respect to the decision to increase tobacco taxes, political considerations have to be taken into account. In particular, there may be some concerns regarding public support towards the government policies concerning the desire to protect domestic producers or domestic brands, protect domestic employment. In addition, people with lower socioeconomic status may be more responsive to tax and price changes since such changes might have a greater impact on their disposable income. Hence, a possible tax increase has a disproportionate impact on consumers with different income levels.²⁴⁰ With these motivations, public support can be a decision variable in designing tax policies.
- 144. In the case of Turkey, there is a strong but declining public support for increasing taxes on tobacco products over the years. According to GATS surveys, given the current smoking status of adults, daily tobacco smokers do favor tax increases as their support rates were 34.7 percent in 2016. Yet, occasional tobacco smokers and nonsmokers do mostly support tax increases on tobacco products. In the end, 72.5 percent of the total adult population favor tax increases on tobacco products in 2012. Although there is a decline in the share of supporters from 2012 to 2016 from 72.5 percent to 60.8 percent, more than half of the adult population still favors tax increases on tobacco products in Turkey (see Figure 60).



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2012, 2016), TEPAV calculations

D.4. Non-Price Policies for Tobacco Control

145. The non-price policies recommended in the MPOWER package can be listed as monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies; protecting people from tobacco smoke; offering help to quit tobacco use; warning about the dangers of tobacco; and enforcing bans on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship. In this sub-chapter, Turkey's non-price policies are examined, following the respective policy measure classification in the MPOWER and WHO FCTC articles.

D.4.1. Monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies

- 146. Implementation and effectiveness of tobacco control policies have been different across countries due to factors related to the political economy of tobacco control and countries' unique positions. Although tobacco control policies have been discussed around the world since the mid-20th century, it is not possible to define a standard policy package and observe a unique implementation pattern in the world. The reason is that both national and international economic and political dynamics have been decisive in the policy design process.
- 147. Considering that countries have unique conditions and different policy paths to follow, monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies using data-based analyses is an important prerequisite to implement and evaluate effective tobacco control policies. Monitoring activities can be both a verification for previous policies' outcomes and a guideline for future interventions. According to WHO, 38 percent of the world's population has been protected by strong monitoring systems, including recent, representative, and periodic surveys for both adults and youth; however, even among high-income countries, monitoring activities have not been implemented regularly, despite their adequate resources.²⁴¹ For instance, 25 percent of high-income countries fail to monitor their populations' tobacco use every five years.²⁴²
- 148. Since the end of the 1980s, national surveys to monitor tobacco use have been conducted in **Turkey.** In Turkey, monitoring of using tobacco products was first addressed in the country-wide

smoking prevalence survey conducted by the MoH in 1988.²⁴³ Later, tobacco use and prevention policies have been tracked in various datasets, spanning from 1988 to 2019. In detail, Chapter B lists available data sources that monitor tobacco use and prevention policies in Turkey. As also explained in Chapter B, the Turkish GYTS has been conducted in Turkey for monitoring youth tobacco consumption habits, which is an important data source for designing tobacco control policies considering that smoking initiation ages are very young in Turkey.

- 149. In addition, as shared in the previous headings, symposiums, coalitions, committees, and councils have been convened and have worked towards monitoring the effectiveness of the tobacco control policies in Turkey. In particular, control programs and action plans are disseminated as part of Turkey's monitoring activities. More recently, following the Circular, in 2007, the governorates were given the authority to establish "Provincial Tobacco Control Boards," and the MoH established the "Department for Controlling Tobacco and Tobacco Products, and Substance Abuse" to control tobacco and alcohol addiction. In January 2015, "the National Tobacco Control Coordination Committee" was established.²⁴⁴ In May 2018 "2018-2023 Tobacco Control Strategy Document" was entered into force.²⁴⁵ Lastly, "High Council for the Fight against Addiction" was established and convened under the leadership of the President in 2019.²⁴⁶
- **150.** Overall, in the case of monitoring policies, Turkey has a successful policy track compared to global averages. In line with the FCTC Article 20, countries have obligations to monitor tobacco use and prevention policies. Yet, the average implementation rates of Article 20 is 51 percent in 2018, which is very low compared to other articles.²⁴⁷ From the MPOWER perspective, "Monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies" is the category in which countries performed the best and reached the highest implementation scores among all aggregate MPOWER categories, with 38 percent of the population protected by the strong monitoring systems.²⁴⁸ As a result, despite the strong improvements and expanding coverage around the world, increased action is still needed in monitoring measures in the world. In particular, in addition to the availability of data sources through monitoring activities, one more problem is accessing comparable global data because of different sampling and surveying methods employed by countries.²⁴⁹ As Turkey utilizes both STEPS and GATS surveys with their standardized methodologies, this drawback is not very strict for analyses on Turkey. Also, comprehensive WHO reports on the global estimates provide a reliable base for global or regional analyses.
- **151.** Even though Turkey followed a successful path in monitoring policies, there are policy areas that need to be addressed to improve both the design and implementation processes of tobacco control policies. First of all, all national surveys results and micro data need to be made readily available to researchers. Regarding GATS, unfortunately, through TurkStat's data interface, the only available information is a press release for the 2012 survey, even though the GATS surveys were conducted in 2008, 2012, and 2016 for Turkey.²⁵⁰ Similarly, there is no upto-date information on the WHO website about the 2016 Turkish GATS survey.²⁵¹ In addition, currently, it is not possible to find the micro data for STEPS online on institutional websites. Secondly, there is a need for additional scientific research to determine the economic impact of tobacco control policies and possible gains associated with decreased tobacco-related mortality and morbidity due to the implementation of these policies in Turkey. Also, more work is needed on the estimation of expenditures for tobacco control programs and cost-effectiveness analyses of different programs. Interdisciplinary and international collaborations are also expected to be

fruitful. Thirdly, there is a need to design and monitor policies and programs tailored for particular subgroups (such as women, children, youth, teachers, physicians). Lastly, monitoring activities should be upgraded to be in line with the latest developments. In the case of Turkey, e-cigarettes are started to take place in GATS, and HTPs are still not included. In addition, since micro data for STEPS surveys are not available, and reported statistics for SuTP is not comparable with the national STEPS due to the underlying reporting differences, Turkey's current monitoring policies should be updated to integrate recent immigration waves.

D.4.2. Protecting people from tobacco smoke

- **152.** Abundant evidence shows that introducing regulations that prohibit smoking in indoor or public places proves to be a protective measure to reduce the associated health hazards to smokers and second-hand smokers. As numerically laid out in Chapter C, second-hand smoking has adverse health impacts on human health, both considering deaths and disabilities. Therefore, protecting non-smokers from second-hand smoking is an important aspect of tobacco control policies. In particular, universal protection from tobacco smoke in all indoor and public places helps smokers quit and protect children, the sick, and all workers.²⁵² Besides, by encouraging families to keep their homes smoke-free, establishing bans in public places reduces the likelihood of the youth to initiate smoking, thereby reduce the prevalence of smoking among youth.²⁵³
- 153. Since 1996, there are several policy steps that are enacted by laws to protect people from second-hand smoking in Turkey. In 1996, smoking was banned for the first time in some enclosed places.²⁵⁴ In 2008, new legislation broadened the range of places where smoking is not allowed, and forbade the sale of tobacco products within schools and on their premises.²⁵⁵ These were reinforced by launching a "Smoke-Free Air Zone" Campaign.²⁵⁶ Also, it became obligatory to hang "no smoking" signs on confined spaces, with administrative penalties imposed on those who violate non-smoking places such as public institutions.²⁵⁷ The administrative regulations gained momentum from 2009 onwards, and smoking bans were extended to businesses in entertainment services such as restaurants, cafes, and pubs in 2009.²⁵⁸ It was obligatory to display "no smoking" signs in shopping malls, as well as public areas such as train and bus stations, starting from April 2010.²⁵⁹ At the beginning of 2011, there was a responsibility reshuffling, and the authority overseeing the enforcement of penalties on violations had been shifted the local administrative authorities.²⁶⁰ In 2012 administrative penalties were issued to those who violated the law in areas where smoking was prohibited without warning.²⁶¹ The bans on tobacco products were extended to include products similar to waterpipes with or without tobacco products in 2012.²⁶² Furthermore, smoking waterpipes in closed areas were also forbidden, starting from the beginning of 2013.²⁶³ In addition, in the same year, it is prohibited to consume tobacco products in the driver's seat of private vehicles.²⁶⁴ Moreover, e-cigarettes, herbal waterpipes, and similar products were considered tobacco products, whether they contained tobacco or not, and were subject to the same regulations in 2013.²⁶⁵ Starting from 2015, regulations to safeguard the health of non-smokers within the vicinity of smokers in outdoor public areas came into effect. In this respect, the allocation of "no smoking" areas within walking distance in airports, terminals, cinemas, theatres, and public institutions became mandatory.²⁶⁶ In addition, smoke-free areas on campuses entered into effect.²⁶⁷ Then in 2017, the "Green Detector" mobile application to denounce those who violated smoking bans was launched.²⁶⁸

154. In terms of public support, policies enacted to protect people from second-hand smoking get

a high public approval in Turkey, indicating that political constraints are not very strict while developing or enforcing this policy tool in Turkey. While the number of smokers in Turkey is fairly large, the majority of adult participants in 2016 GATS support various measures to prohibit smoking in indoor and/or public places. In particular, 90.4 percent of the adult population favors the law that bans smoking in indoor workplaces and public places. In addition, considering the current smoking status, the support rate is 81.7 percent even among daily smokers (see Figure 61). Besides, a noteworthy finding is that while tax policies have strong public support at 60.8 percent, the support rate regarding protecting people from second-hand smoke is much higher (see Figure 60 and Figure 61). Furthermore, a regulation prohibiting tobacco use in outdoor places also gets a high support rate in Turkey at 77.0 percent. Even though this support rate falls to 65.2 percent among daily smokers, it can be concluded that these policy tools are welcome by the Turkish society.



Figure 61 - Public support for prohibiting smoking in certain areas in Turkey, %, 2016

155. Exposure to second-hand smoking at home and work is still very high in Turkey despite the improvements in the last couple of years. First of all, even if it is not considered as a violation of any law, exposure to second-hand smoking at home has adverse impacts on children and non-smokers, and constitutes a public health concern. In particular, as high as 16.3 percent of adults in Turkey said smoking is allowed in their homes. Compared to Russia (10.7 percent), Ukraine (6.1 percent), and Mexico (4.9 percent), exposure to second-hand smoking was the highest in Turkey. Yet, considering that this rate was 21.9 percent in 2012 in Turkey, it is seen that there is an improvement over the years. Furthermore, exposure to second-hand smoking at work had at a lower rate than the exposure at home. In particular, 6.4 percent of adults declared that in their workplaces, smoking in indoor places was allowed anywhere without exceptions in 2012 in Turkey. Even though this rate declined to 5.2 percent in 2016, this rate is still higher than the ones in benchmark countries. More interestingly, different than smoking at home, smoking in indoor working places, in fact, are strictly forbidden since 2008. And 5.2 percent declared that this law is violated in their workplaces (see Table 16).

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

| countries, %, 2012 and 2016 | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|------------------|
| Question | Response | Turkey (2012) | Turkey (2016) | Russia (2016) | Ukraine (2017) | Mexico (2015) |
| | Allowed | 21.9 | 16.3 | 10.7 | 6.1 | 4.9 |
| Which of the following best describes | Not allowed, but exceptions | 21.1 | 10.9 | 18.9 | 11.7 | 8.7 |
| the rules about smoking inside of your | Never allowed | 52.5 | 70.1 | 66.2 | 78.0 | 72.4 |
| home? | No rules | 4.5 | 2.5 | 3.8 | 4.0 | 13.9 |
| | Do not know | 0.0 | 0.2 | 0.5 | 0.2 | 0.1 |
| | Allowed anywhere | 6.4 | 5.2 | 2.8 | 3.3 | 4.1 |
| Which of the following best describes | Allowed only in some indoor areas | 8.8 | 10.0 | 22.8 | 31.1 | 8.8 |
| the indoor smoking policy where you | Not allowed in any indoor areas | 82.3 | 81.8 | 67.8 | 61.6 | 79.7 |
| work? | There is no policy | 2.3 | 2.1 | 5.4 | 3.4 | 7.1 |
| | Do not know | 0.1 | 0.8 | 1.2 | 0.6 | 0.3 |

Table 16 - Exposition to second-hand smoking at work and home among benchmark

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2012, 2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

Note: The cells with the lowest values in each row are shaded in yellow. The shade of color turns from yellow to orange as the respective value increases within the respective raw.

156. Although laws are enacted to protect people from passive smoking in public places in Turkey, there are serious problems related to the implementation. In particular, according to the GATS 2016 survey results in Turkey, 28.0 percent of adults stated that people smoked inside of a cafe, a coffee shop, or a tea houses. More interestingly, considering that this rate was 26.6 percent in 2012, the situation has deteriorated despite the laws protecting people from second-hand smoking in such places. As for the spaces where the laws enforcing the prohibition of smoking were least abided were, public transportation and restaurants with 4.5 percent and 12.7 percent, respectively. With respect to public transportation, 4.5 percent is very low compared to benchmark countries' performances that are between 8.5 percent and 24.7 percent. Yet, in the case of taxis, the exposition rate is still very high in Turkey, around 16.0 percent. In the case of restaurants, with 12.7 percent, exposition rate, is lower than those in benchmark countries; however, considering that in such places smoking in indoor areas are strictly forbidden, might not be evaluated as a success story (see Table 17).

| Question | Response | Turkey (2012) | Turkey (2016) | Russia (2016) | Ukraine (2017) | Mexico (2015) |
|--|-------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|------------------|
| Did anyone smoke inside of any | Yes | 12.9 | 12.7 | 20.0 | 24.0 | 24.6 |
| restaurants that you visited in the past | No | 86.6 | 86.5 | 78.2 | 73.7 | 75.0 |
| 30 days? | Do not know | 0.5 | 0.8 | 1.8 | 2.3 | 0.4 |
| Did anyone smoke inside of any cafes. | Yes | 26.6 | 28.0 | 7.3 | | |
| coffee shops, or tea houses that you | No | 73.2 | 71.3 | 91.0 | | |
| visited in the past 30 days? | Do not know | 0.2 | 0.6 | 1.7 | | |
| Did anyone smoke inside of any public | Yes | | 4.5 | 10.5 | 8.5 | 24.7 |
| transportation that you used in the past | No | | 95.0 | 88.8 | 90.6 | 74.9 |
| 30 days? | Do not know | | 0.6 | 0.7 | 0.9 | 0.4 |
| | Yes | 17.1 | 16.0 | | | |
| Did anyone smoke inside any taxis that you used or saw in the last 30 days? | No | 81.3 | 82.6 | | | |
| | Do not know | 15 | 14 | | | |

Table 17 - Indicators showing violations of restrictions on smoking in certain places amongbenchmark countries, %, 2012 and 2016

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2012, 2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

Note: The cells with the lowest values in each row are shaded in yellow. The shade of color turns from yellow to orange as the respective value increases within the respective raw.

157. To sum up, although Turkey enacted laws to complete tasks pointed out by FCTC and MPOWER to protect people from second-hand smoking, further research is needed to comparatively analyze the implementation steps with the best practices to increase the effectiveness of the enacted laws in Turkey. Even though there are laws to protect people from second-hand smoking in indoor and/or public places, there might be some drawbacks in the implementation of these laws in Turkey. In particular, national household surveys indicate that the restrictions on smoking in certain places are occasionally violated in Turkey. The reason behind the violations may be the lack of controls and inspections to enforce the bans. To better apply the restrictions and to protect people from tobacco smoke, Turkey should enhance its control mechanism for smoke-free public areas. In order to contribute policymaking efforts, the blueprints of implementation of laws can be comparatively studied considering technical and field aspects in the future.

D.4.3. Offering help to quit tobacco use

158. Since nicotine is a highly addictive ingredient, tobacco users may need assistance when trying to quit tobacco. Nicotine is an addictive content of tobacco products. Tobacco addiction/dependence is defined as "a cluster of behavioral, cognitive, and physiological phenomena that develop after repeated tobacco use and that typically include a strong desire to use tobacco, difficulties in controlling its use, persistence in tobacco use despite harmful consequences, a higher priority given to tobacco use than to other activities and obligations, increased tolerance, and sometimes a physical withdrawal state."²⁶⁹ More alarmingly, after smoking five packs of cigarettes, a study shows that nearly 60 percent of users became nicotine dependent.²⁷⁰ Furthermore, studies point out that only a limited portion of quitting attempts resulted in success.²⁷¹ On the other hand, risks of deaths and diseases attributable to tobacco begin to diminish after quitting tobacco use. Given these factors together, in order to curtail tobacco

consumption and alleviate the societal economic burden of tobacco use, most governments offer help to quit tobacco use.²⁷²

- **159.** There are different policy options for offering help to quit tobacco, covering behavioral and pharmacological interventions regarding "promotion of tobacco cessation" and "tobacco dependence treatment" at the population and individual level.²⁷³ In particular, behavioral interventions include leading health professionals to give advice, operating quitlines as a telephone counseling service, offering intensive behavioral supports by health experts. Nicotine Replacement Therapies (NRTs) and non-nicotine pharmacotherapies to reduce cravings and withdrawal symptoms can be provided in the case of pharmacological interventions. In line with the FCTC Article 14, "Demand reduction measures concerning tobacco dependence and cessation," recommended actions cover (i) developing evidence-based comprehensive and integrated guidelines aimed principally to those who will develop, manage and provide cessation support to tobacco users, (ii) implementing media campaigns to promote tobacco cessation at the population level, (iii) establishing and using telephone quitlines, (iv) providing diagnosis and treatment at healthcare facilities, and (iv) making medications available to be offered free, or at an affordable cost for individuals who are willing to quit.²⁷⁴
- **160.** Policy efforts for preparing guidelines and handbooks regarding tobacco dependence treatment gained momentum after the 2010s in Turkey. In Turkey, treatment and training units that support smoking cessation practices and offer help to individuals willing to quit are regulated by official handbooks and guidelines. In that manner, Fight against Tobacco Addiction Handbook (For Medical Doctors) was published by the MoH in 2010.²⁷⁵ This handbook offers medical doctors the information they should deliver to patients and the medical practices they should perform, as well as helping doctors in guiding their patients during the quitting process.²⁷⁶ In addition, the Regulatory Guideline for Tobacco Addiction Treatment and Training Units was published on Official Gazette No 28121 in 2011. This guideline provides information about the goals, scope, and legal basis of the training units. It also describes the available psychological and pharmacological treatment methods.²⁷⁷
- 161. Media and quitline tools have been deployed to both promote smoking cessation and offer help, particularly after 2008 in Turkey. After 2008, there are several prominent media campaigns and events in Turkey to raise awareness and promote smoking cessation.²⁷⁸ In addition, public service ads against tobacco use are aired to raise awareness of its adverse health effects and promote quitting tobacco. These public ads are communicated via mandatory television and radio broadcasts.²⁷⁹ According to the Tobacco Control Strategy Document and Action Plan, further enhancements are planned for tobacco cessation policies between 2018 and 2023 for raising awareness.²⁸⁰ Moreover, in 2010, ALO 171, "Smoking Cessation Hotline" became effective.²⁸¹ This national hotline can be reached by dialing 171, free of charge. Line operators help the callers to assess their addiction level, plan their quitting process, motivate them to give up and give them tips about how to resist the tobacco cravings.²⁸² The line operates 24/7, so help-seekers can call them whenever they want to get support.²⁸³ Between 2010 and 2018, more than 27 million calls are received via this hotline.²⁸⁴ According to the latest statistics, 60 percent of current smokers are aware of this hotline, and 8 percent of people who called this helpline has quit smoking.²⁸⁵
- 162. A non-profit organization is also working in coordination with MoH to offer help to quit tobacco use in Turkey. Yeşilay, a charitable organization that fights against all sorts of addictions, has a website that aims to help individuals who would like to quit. Yeşilay's

"bırakabilirsin.org" assesses addiction levels, creates quitting calendars as well as giving tips for quitting.²⁸⁶ A similar web page of MoH has been accessible since 2013.²⁸⁷ Between 2013 and 2018, 1.5 million web traffic was observed on this page.²⁸⁸ There is also the Yeşilay Counseling Center (YEDAM) and its helpline. YEDAM's helpline operators are psychologists who offer advice for assessing the addiction, planning the process, and provide tips for helping to quit. They also provide follow-up calls upon request of the caller, but quitters can also reach out to the helpline if they need help throughout the process. Yeşilay cooperates with MoH in providing these services.²⁸⁹

- 163. There are also 537 smoking cessation clinics in Turkey, offering both behavioral and pharmacological help since 2009.²⁹⁰ Individuals may get appointments by calling 171 or via the alo171.saglik.gov.tr website to reach medical professionals through cessation clinics. If the addiction level is high, ALO 171 operator may also refer the caller to a cessation clinic.²⁹¹ According to Public Health General Directorate Unit Annual Report 2019, MoH operates 537 cessation clinics where 845 certificated medical doctors and 476 healthcare professionals are employed. As of 2011, cessation drugs such as NRTs have been available in pharmacies free of charge if recommended by physicians in these cessation clinics.²⁹² In particular, 238,774 varenicline and 320,354 nicotine patches were prescribed to the patients free of charge in these cessation clinics during 2019. Also, it was recorded that since 2010, almost 900 thousand patients were prescribed with medicines free of charge to assist their quitting process via these cessation clinics.²⁹³ Patients are also monitored by the Tobacco Addiction Treatment Monitoring System (TUBATIS) and are called six times a year for follow-ups in line with their treatments in cessation clinics.²⁹⁴ Between 2009 and 2017, the total number of medical examinations is recorded to be almost 2 million.²⁹⁵ According to the latest statistics, 16.4 percent of people who get help from cessation clinics have quit smoking.²⁹⁶ In particular, it is reported that the success rate has increased throughout the years.²⁹⁷
- 164. According to Euromonitor statistics, NRT smoking cessation aids have approximately 25 billion dollars of global retail market size. With 41.2 percent, the USA is the largest buyer in the sector. Gums, patches, lozenges, and inhalators as the most common types of NRT products, with 51.7 percent market share, NRT gums are the most common ones trailed by NRT patches and NRT lozenges with 23.0 percent and 19.2 percent market shares, respectively. In the case of Turkey, the total retail market size is estimated to be 38.9 million dollars, while 32 million dollars' worth of products is NRT gums.²⁹⁸ Two cessation medications have been offered to the public free of charge in Turkey. In 2011, between January and November, the MoH in Turkey conducted a program called the "Smoking Cessation Treatment Support Program (SCTSP)" to provide individuals with free cessation medications, varenicline and bupropione.²⁹⁹ With the program, all smoking cessation clinics in the country were centralized and standardized treatment guidelines were prepared. Training was offered to physicians at the end of 2010 and in the beginning of 2011. In the overall, the SCTSP was run at 228 cessation clinics. A total of 247,435 boxes of drugs were delivered to participants.³⁰⁰ The medications were provided, examined, and stored by the departments of the MoH. No information has been found on the cost of running this program.
- 165. To sum up, Turkey has been implementing several policy tools ranging from brief advice by health professionals to, media campaigns, national toll-free quitlines, web pages to cessation clinics with free NRTs regarding the promotion of tobacco cessation and tobacco dependence treatment in the last decade. Furthermore, the government's budget for

cessation services is expected to be increased in the upcoming years. In 2019, the expenditures of the Turkish MoH for anti-tobacco activities, including raising awareness activities, are estimated to be 55.4 million TL within the budget allocated to the target of promoting and spreading a healthy life. The estimated budget for anti-tobacco activities is also expected to increase to 76.3 million TL in 2023 (see Figure 62).³⁰¹

Figure 62 - Estimated budget for "Maintaining the fight against tobacco and tobacco products and reducing their use" by MoH, million TL, 2019-2023



Source: T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2019-2023 Stratejik Planı", TEPAV visualizations

166. Despite the summarized efforts to promote tobacco cessation and provide tobacco dependence treatment, the share of successful quitters is very low in Turkey. Looking into the change in the smoking behavior of smokers, in total, 7.0 percent of the adult population in Turkey switched from being "smokers" to "non-smokers." In particular, 4.8 percent of them were past daily smokers, and 2.2 percent was past occasional smokers. In benchmark countries, 15.4 percent, 15.6 percent, and 17.5 percent of their total population were smokers in the past but not smoking anymore in Ukraine, Russia, and Mexico, respectively. A similar trend is also observed in the rate of switching from daily smoking to occasional smoking in Turkey (see Figure 63). However, there is one more issue to point out when interpreting these shares. In particular, if for a country the past smoking prevalence rate was high, like in Russia, and only a small portion of these smokers quitted, the number of quitters in the respective total adult population will be relatively high compared to a country that had a lower smoking prevalence rate to start with, but the percentage of quitters almost the same. When the historically high Turkey smoking prevalence rate is taken into consideration, the small percentage of the quitters in the total population, as observed in Figure 63, indicates that cessation has not been all that successful.



Figure 63 - Share of the adults changing their smoking status in benchmark countries, % of total adult population, 2016

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

167. Compared to the benchmark countries, current daily smokers in Turkey do not have much past quit attempts in Turkey. When smokers were asked if they attempted to quit in the last 12

months, only 22.6 percent in Turkey said they did, according to GATS 2016. For comparison, this figure was 32.6 percent in Russia, 35.7 percent in Ukraine, and 52.2 percent in Mexico. Over half of the smokers in Mexico had attempted to quit smoking, whereas, in Turkey, it was only a quarter of all smokers. On the other hand, the 2012 survey indicates that 42.6 percent had a past quitting experience. Interestingly as the 2012 survey revealed a much higher percentage than the 2016 survey, TEPAV's Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19 disclosed a similar rate to the 2012 survey at 47.6 percent as of 2020.³⁰² Nonetheless, it is vital to keep in mind that this question is asked to current smokers. Hence 42.6 percent of smokers in Turkey in 2012 who had a past quitting experience also indicates that these people could not quit smoking even though they have attempted to quit (see Figure 64).

Figure 64 - Smoking cessation attempts of current tobacco users in benchmark countries, % of current adult tobacco smokers, 2012 and 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2012, 2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

168. Furthermore, current smokers in Turkey are not very eager to quit. In particular, the share of smokers who are not interested in quitting smoking at all is 61 percent in Turkey, 40 percent in Russia, 26 percent in Ukraine, and 19 percent in Mexico. The share of smokers who are thinking of quitting within the next 12 months is 22 percent in Mexico, 20 percent in Ukraine, 19 percent in Russia, and 13 percent in Turkey. It can be said that the highest intention to quit was among smokers in Mexico, followed by Ukraine, Russia, and Turkey. Smokers in Turkey have the lowest interest in quitting (see Figure 65). Moreover, this pattern is valid for both women and men in Turkey, while 59.5 percent and 61.0 percent of women and men stated that they are not interested in quitting, according to GATS 2016.

Figure 65 - Statements of the tobacco smokers about quitting smoking in benchmark countries, %, 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

169. A more startling finding is identified in TEPAV's Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19. In particular, "reason for continuing to use tobacco products" is asked to current smokers. 53.8 percent of smokers stated that they do not want to quit, whereas 41.4
percent of smokers reported that they could not quit (see Figure 66). While evaluating this rate from a policy design perspective, it becomes clear that a particular consumer group will continue to use tobacco with their own free will, despite the public policies aimed at monitoring, warning, and helping to quit. On the other hand, the same statistic shows that 41 percent may also need help to quit. Above all, this distribution indicates that tobacco policies, unlike short-term policies, can be a policy area in which respective targets can be achieved within multiple cohorts. As a matter of fact, while more than half of the current smokers do not want to stop using tobacco products, it shows the need for policies to ensure that new generations do not start tobacco at all in order to be able to decrease addiction rates in the future.

Figure 66 - Statements of the tobacco smokers about quitting smoking in Turkey, %, 2020



Source: TEPAV Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19, TEPAV calculations

170. Even though policy documents share the availability of many cessation services that are provided to smokers who would like to quit, the majority of the smokers who were able to quit smoking did so without assistance in Turkey. While 43.7 percent of smokers quit by themselves (without receiving any help), 8.8 percent quit by using prescription medications (e.g., Zyban), 8.8 percent quit by receiving counseling (including cessation clinics), 8.2 percent received NRT, 6.2 received help from a telephone support line, and 3.7 percent used traditional medicine. This distribution might indicate that the alternatives available to those who have decided to quit are either not well-known in the society, or not known to be effective, or not readily available. The evidence indicates that many smokers in Turkey are not interested in quitting smoking, and those interested in doing so usually rely on themselves. Another study finds that only 18.2 percent of individuals who sought medical help from cessation clinics successfully quit smoking in Turkey in 2014, and only 44.3 percent of patients applied the treatment correctly.³⁰³



Figure 67 - Share of past smokers according to their methods to stop smoking tobacco %, +15 population, Turkey, 2016

Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations Note: Participants may choose more than one options.

- 171. Considering that Turkey's many cessation policies are relatively new, TEPAV's recent survey incorporated several questions on cessation behavior to assess the current usage levels of these new tools. Yet, similar to the GATS 2016 findings, the most common way of quitting smoking is still without getting any assistance in Turkey. A more recent survey than GATS was conducted in 2020 by TEPAV to assess the change in tobacco consumption behavior under COVID-19 circumstances. This survey also incorporated several questions regarding cessation attempts. In particular, 92.4 percent of past smokers reported that they had quit smoking without getting any assistance. More interestingly, 9 percent stated that they consulted ALO 171 quitline, with a higher share than the GATS 2016 survey (see Figure 68).
- 172. In addition to successful achievements of current non-smokers who were smokers previously, TEPAV's survey conducted in 2020 confirms that, current smokers are also mostly trying to quit by themselves. When smokers were asked if they attempted to quit in the past, 47.6 percent in Turkey said they did, in TEPAV's Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19. In particular, among those smokers, 82.4 percent did not get any help. 9.6 percent use NRTs but without under the supervision of any health professionals. 5.0 percent get medications under the supervision of a doctor. In addition, ALO 171 hotline is referred to as a cessation help by only 3 percent of smokers who had attempted to quit (see Figure 69).
- **173.** As e-cigarettes or HTPs are not legally available in Turkey, they were not part of the quitting attempts according to our survey conducted in 2020. Some countries, such as the UK, employ alternative products as part of their publicly offered cessation services. In Turkey, with the decision of the President announced on February 25, 2020, imports of e-cigarettes is now explicitly banned in the country.³⁰⁴ As e-cigarettes and HTPs are not legally available on the market, they are not part of any public cessation services and/or suggestions in Turkey. In this context, according to TEPAV's Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19, only 0.3 percent of successful and total quit attempts utilized a cigarette-like product such as e-cigarettes (see Figure 68 and Figure 69).

Figure 68 - Share of past smokers according to their methods of quitting smoking, %, Turkey, 2020



Source: TEPAV Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19, TEPAV calculations Note: Participants may choose more than one options.



Figure 69 - Share of current smokers according to their attempted methods for trying to quit smoking, %, Turkey, 2020

Source: TEPAV Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19, TEPAV calculations Note: Participants may choose more than one options.

174. A more detailed analysis of cessation assistance in Turkey is needed. The Guideline for Tobacco Treatment and Training Units,³⁰⁵ published in the Official Gazette of Turkey, explains the purpose, scope, and foundation of the guidelines for cessation assistance. However, in practice, there is still ambiguity regarding how exactly the guideline should be used, who are responsible from implementing it and what will be the consequences in case the guideline is not followed from the perspective of public authorities, and those seeking help. Given this ambiguity, it is not surprising that most of the smokers try to quit without getting any assistance. Due to the lack of data and the refrainment of public disclosure of the records these cessation services offered, either in form of hotline or clinics over time, an investigation of the underlying problems is currently not possible. For such an investigation, data on the number of patients applied, the number of patients who received assistance, the budget allocated to these services, the duration of patient follow-up, the specific types of treatments applied, and the success rate of patients in quitting with each cessation method, will be needed. No cost-effectiveness analyses of cessation assistance services in Turkey could be found. An article evaluates the SCTSP in Turkey on a randomly selected group of 16,473 participants, who were about 10 percent of all participants of the program. A post-program study was conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of the program. It was found that varenicline and bupropion were both effective in smoking cessation (with quit rates of 29.6 percent and 25.1 percent, respectively). Moreover, patients who continued treatment for three months were found to achieve significantly higher quit rates (nearly 50 percent), compared to those with shorter treatment durations, for both varenicline and buppopion, and to successfully maintain abstinence in the following twelve months.³⁰⁶ Further research must be done to improve the success rates of cessation clinics. In addition, there may be a need for special cessation programs targeting minors in Turkey. In particular, to our knowledge as of date, there is no strict protocol to be followed including students to cessation services if a minor student is caught while smoking within school premises.

D.4.4. Warning about the dangers of tobacco

175. As shared in Chapter 3, public authorities have a responsibility to inform people about the direct and indirect health consequences of tobacco consumption. In this context, there are

policy tools to warn people about the dangers of tobacco and raise awareness. One of the MPOWER measures, "Warning about the dangers of tobacco and mass media campaigns against tobacco" comprises of two policy tools which are, pack warnings and mass media. In particular, pack warning with its 52 percent coverage rate, is the MPOWER measure with the highest population coverage.³⁰⁷ On the other hand, the mass media policy tool, covering 24 percent of the population, globally needs more effort.

- **176.** Pack warnings are used to provide information about the tobacco-attributable risk and health consequences to persuade tobacco users to reduce or end their consumption.³⁰⁸ In line with FCTC Article 11, health warnings are mandated in most countries on tobacco products' packages. In particular, 88 percent of FCTC parties mandate health warnings on tobacco product packages. 64 percent of FCTC parties require health warnings in the form of pictures on the packaging. In particular, health warnings that contain both pictures and text are argued to be more effective than those that only include texts.³⁰⁹ Furthermore, FCTC recommends that these warnings on tobacco product packaging should be more than 50 percent of the principal display areas on the respective packaging.³¹⁰
- 177. In the case of pack warnings, as is the case in most of the tobacco control policies, initial policy actions were taken in 1996, and these actions have been accelerated over the years in Turkey. In 1996, health warnings were required on cigarette packs.³¹¹ In 2008, the regulations on health warnings became stricter by mandating that warnings should be on the two sides of the packages.³¹² In particular, it is requested that warnings have to cover 30 percent on one side of the package, and on the other side, they have to cover at least 40 percent of the cigarette package.³¹³ Between 2012 and 2019, at least 65 percent of the area of tobacco product packages and waterpipe bottles were required to be covered with a warning.³¹⁴ The law in 2019 requires health messages to cover at least 85 percent of the front and back of the packaging of all smoked tobacco products.³¹⁵ Additionally, plain packaging is required as of December 2019 at the manufacturer level and as of January 2020 at the retailer level.³¹⁶ Considering that the EU legislation mandates combined text and pictorial warnings to cover 65 percent of the package surface, with 85 percent, Turkey is one of the best practice countries in the world.³¹⁷ In addition, in Turkey, the locations of warnings must change periodically so that they continue to attract the attention of the public.³¹⁸ Lastly, the warnings must appear in the country's primary language, in Turkey, the warnings are in Turkish.319
- **178.** Turkey's legislation on pack warnings seems to get the attention of people as intended. According to WHO FCTC Health Warnings Database, in Turkey there are currently pictorial warnings on cigarette packages regarding addictive nature of tobacco products, the aesthetic consequences of tobacco consumption as wrinkles/premature aging of the skin, mortal threat, adverse direct health consequences (heart diseases, lung diseases, mouth diseases/oral cancer, stroke/brain, impotence, and sexual dysfunction), impacts of exposure to second-hand smoking on babies/fetus and children, toxins and constituents of the products, and advises on quitting and cessation.³²⁰ In particular, in Turkey, 76.4 percent of adults declared that they had noticed health warnings on cigarette packages, according to GATS findings. While 2.6 percent of adults stated that they did not see any warning on cigarette packages, the respective response got higher shares in Russia, Mexico, and Ukraine between 12.6 percent and 17.0 percent (see Figure 70). This particular situation may have twofold underlying causes. Firstly, since the smoking prevalence rate is the highest in Turkey, people can be more exposed to cigarette packages. Yet, when

compared with Russia that had a very close smoking prevalence rate to Turkey, Russia's smoking prevalence rate was 30.3 percent, and Turkey's rate was 31.2 percent in the respective surveys, there had been this difference. Accordingly, cigarette packages might be more in public view in Turkey. Secondly, health warnings utilized in Turkey might be better at getting attention compared to warnings in benchmark countries.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

179. Pack warnings seem to trigger wanting to quit in Turkey, impacting 37.3 percent of smokers, yet, the effectiveness of these warnings might have eroded over the years in Turkey. In 2016, when asked if warnings against smoking on cigarette packets triggered wanting to quit, over 50 percent of those in Russia, Turkey, and Mexico said no. In Ukraine, 58.7 percent of smokers stated that seeing a warning label made them think about quitting. For smokers in Russia and Turkey, both stated that 37 percent of them wanted to quit. In particular, the answer to the same question got a 56.2 percent positive response in encouraging quitting in Turkey in 2012. Hence, as over the years, despite the regulations on health warnings getting stricter, the decrease in the targeted outcome might be a sign of the eroded impact of these warnings in Turkey.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2012, 2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

180. The second component of the same MPOWER article is related to mass media campaigns against tobacco in line with the FCTC Article 12.³²¹ Mass media campaigns against tobacco are recommended to increase public awareness of the health risks in accordance with Article 12 of the WHO FCTC and its guidelines.³²² The objective of anti-tobacco education and counter-

advertising is to change social norms about tobacco use. In the case of mass media campaigns, "Smoke-Free Air Zone" and "Protect Your Air" slogans were used in Turkey's national media campaign.³²³ In particular, TV and radio spots, newspaper advertisements, billboards, posters, brochures, and outdoor activities were organized with the inclusion of the role models and politicians for this campaign.³²⁴

- 181. TV stands out as one of the most employed policy tools to convey anti-tobacco messages in Turkey. Public ads against tobacco consumption are communicated via mandatory television and radio broadcasts in Turkey. In particular, public service ads against tobacco consumption are aired in order to raise awareness of the adverse health effects of tobacco use and to promote quitting tobacco in Turkey. Currently, 10 public ads are on air, and 2 of them are against using cigarettes.³²⁵ Prior to that, 14 tobacco-related public ads and their variations were broadcasted, which are no longer on air.³²⁶ Of the 14 ads, 4 of them were about waterpipe smoking, and the remaining 10 were about cigarettes. Among 16 ads (2 current and 14 past ads), 10 ads provide information about negative health effects, the rest do not specify any health consequences. Rather, they communicate the idea that tobacco is not good for health. None of them provides any information about how one can quit smoking by himself. However, the ads inform the public about the availability of helplines and cessation clinics. 2 of the ads also state that in accordance with Law No 4207, people are entitled to having smoke-free zones.³²⁷ In addition, in Turkey, TV and radio stations must broadcast stimulating and educating programs on tobacco products and other harmful habits for at least 30 minutes during prime-time and at least 90 minutes per month in total.³²⁸
- **182.** In Turkey's efforts to use mass media campaigns against tobacco, TV seems to be the main channel for reaching out to people. In 2016, when asked if they had noticed any information on the dangers of smoking or that encourages quitting in different platforms, 77.4 percent of adults stated that they encountered this source of information on TV. While the internet, newspaper/magazines, radios, and billboards are other platforms in which people noticed such information, these platforms reached out to around 20-30 percent of adults. Hence, TV was the main channel for communicating the negative health consequences of smoking and giving advice on quitting in Turkey (see Figure 72).





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Turkey 2016), TEPAV calculations

183. The majority of GATS participants, and the participants in Turkey, with an incidence of 90 percent, know or believe that smoking causes some severe health problems. Essentially 90 percent or more in all benchmark countries agreed that smoking causes severe illnesses. On the

other hand, as high as 9.4 percent of those in Turkey, 5.5 percent in Russia, 4.1 percent in Ukraine, and 1.5 percent in Mexico did not think so (see Figure 73). These statistics indicate a need for further effort to inform people about the dangers of smoking. In particular, with the lowest rate of informed adults, Turkey needs extra effort to convey the adverse health consequences of tobacco use. From another perspective, an overwhelming majority of smokers stated that they do not want to quit in Turkey despite being aware of the adverse health consequences of tobacco use. Hence, even though informing society regarding the adverse health consequences of tobacco use is necessary, this policy tool is necessary but not sufficient.





Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

184. More importantly, there is a need for policy effort to raise awareness about the adverse impacts of exposure to second-hand smoking in Turkey. 83.3 percent of adults stated that they are aware that exposition to second-hand smoking causes serious illness. On the other hand, 15.6 percent of adults are unaware of the particular adverse health consequences of passive smoking. In addition, with 15.6 percent of adults, Turkey has the highest rate among all benchmark countries. In particular, 7.4 percent, 10.5 percent, and 10.9 percent of adults in Russia, Ukraine, and Mexico stated that they are not aware of the negative health consequences of passive smoking (see Figure 74). Notably, having the highest smoking prevalence rate among these benchmark countries amplifies the policy need in Turkey to convey the dangers of passive smoking.

Figure 74 - Share of adults knowing that exposure to second-hand smoking causes serious illnesses in benchmark countries, %, 2016



Source: CDC, GATS micro data (Mexico (2015), Russia (2016), Turkey (2016), Ukraine (2017)), TEPAV calculations

185. As warnings about the dangers of tobacco use are necessary but not sufficient, TEPAV's recent survey confirms that tobacco control policies should be used together. Today, there is limited scientific information on the relation between COVID-19 and tobacco use. In particular, whether the use of tobacco products increase the risk of getting COVID-19 or whether tobacco product use will negatively affect the course of the disease is not known for certain because of the lack of accumulated knowledge that requires a laborious research process. Yet, statements by the international organizations and national governments on the likely adverse impacts of tobacco use on the course of the COVID-19 pandemic raise additional health concerns for tobacco users within this particular period.³²⁹ In this context, in TEPAV's latest survey conducted in May 2020, participants were asked about their opinions on the relation between COVID-19 and tobacco use. Notably, 48.7 percent of daily smokers stated that using tobacco products increases the risk of getting COVID-19. More importantly, 60.2 percent of daily smokers shared that tobacco product use will negatively affect the course of the disease if they get COVID-19. In addition, participants were asked about their current health conditions. Participants who stated that they had certain diseases listed as the risk groups by MoH and CDC are identified as the individuals being in the risk group.³³⁰ In this context, 38.4 percent of daily smokers who were adults aged 65 years or older or had health conditions associated with a risk for COVID-19, are estimated as the ones in the risk group identified for COVID-19. Given these facts, 48.9 percent of daily smokers stated that they do not want to quit (see Table 18). Hence, this finding confirms the previous finding, knowing the adverse health consequences is not discouraging enough for some smokers. To sum up, tobacco control policies may have limited impacts alone, but these policies should be used together to maximize their returns. Yet, in order to find the right mix, the cost-effectiveness of the policy tools related to warnings about the dangers of tobacco use should also be studied. Up to now, such a study does not exist for Turkey.

Table 18 - Response of daily smokers regarding the relation between COVID-19 and tobacco, and their smoking motivation in Turkey, %, 2020

| Questions | Answers | | | | | |
|---|----------------|------|------|----------------|------------------------|-------|
| | Do not know | No | Yes | Cannot quit | Do not want to quit | Other |
| Do you think that using tobacco products increases the risk of getting COVID-19? | 22.4 | 28.9 | 48.7 | | | |
| Do you think that tobacco product use will negatively affect the course of the disease if you get COVID-19? | 16.1 | 23.8 | 60.2 | | | |
| Being in the risk group* | | 61.6 | 38.4 | | | |
| What is your reason for continuing to use tobacco products? | | | | 46.1 | 48.9 | 5.0 |

Source: TEPAV Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19, TEPAV calculations Note: The cells with the lowest values in each row are shaded in yellow. The shade of color turns from

yellow to orange as the respective value increases within the respective raw. * Participants who stated that they had certain diseases listed as the risk groups by MoH and CDC are identified as the individuals being in the risk group.

D.4.5. Enforcing bans on advertising, promotion, and sponsorship

- 186. Since exposition to Tobacco Advertising, Promotion and Sponsorship (TAPS) activities eventually lead to an increase in tobacco use, tobacco control policies include policy actions banning these activities.³³¹ In particular, as summarized in Chapter 3, the asymmetric and imperfect information regarding the health and economic consequences of tobacco use requires policymakers to consider the health aspects as a separate dimension. Yet, TAPS activities may persuade current smokers that smoking is a normal social behavior.³³² Furthermore, these activities possess the risk of creating an appeal for these products, which may also increase smoking initiation.³³³ In this context, these TAPS activities expose consumers' decision-making process to asymmetric and imperfect information, thus, public authorities have been enforcing bans on TAPS activities.
- 187. Tobacco control policy toolbox includes several measures to ensure an end to TAPS activities, incorporating enforcement measures and sanctions on the depiction of tobacco products in media channels, tobacco sponsorships, and the inclusion of a reference to a trademark, product or service in return for payments. It is recommended to ban tobacco products appearance on the traditional forms of direct advertising through television, radio, printed materials, and billboards, according to the FCTC Article 13. Furthermore, brand stretching activities covering displaying tobacco products at point of sales, tobacco industry-sponsored activities are also addressed in Article 13.³³⁴ It is also recommended to ban free distribution or promotional discounts of tobacco products within Article 13.³³⁵
- **188.** Between 1996 and 2008, Turkey enacted several laws to restrain tobacco advertisement and sponsorship activities. Warning the public on the harms of using tobacco products, and abolishing direct advertising of tobacco products was first enacted by law in 1996.³³⁶ Internet sales use advertising and promotion, and have a risk to be a point of sale to minors.³³⁷ In this context, in 2004, sales of tobacco products via electronic trade tools such as the internet, television, fax, and telephone were forbidden in Turkey.³³⁸ In 2008, the use of tobacco products in visual media,

as well as displaying logos on sales vehicles was banned as well as all kinds of sponsorships.³³⁹ At this point, nearly all aspects of tobacco advertisement activities are heavily regulated in Turkey. Also, there is strong public support to regulate advertisements of tobacco products as recorded in the 2016 GATS survey in Turkey, as 82.4 percent of adults declared that they favor a law that prohibits all advertisements for tobacco products.³⁴⁰ Similar public support is also recorded in Russia and Mexico. The share of adults who favor a law that prohibits tobacco advertisements is 78.3 percent and 84.0 percent in Russia and Mexico, respectively.^{xiv 341}

189. In Turkey, further actions were taken to regulate the information content of cigarette packages to eliminate encouraging smoking via characteristics or visual appearance of the products, between 2014 and 2019. Since using phrases like low tar, light, ultra-light, mild, extra, and ultra may mislead the public or be deceptive about the characteristics and health effects of tobacco products, it is recommended to regulate the product description, trademark, emblem, marketing image to eliminate these risks.³⁴² Accordingly, the use of phrases such as organic, natural, or low tar on cigarette packs were prohibited in 2014 in Turkey.³⁴³ As the tobacco industry has been transforming to include alternative products as presented in Chapter A, the industry has also transformed the conventional cigarettes regarding flavors and physical appearances. As Figure 75 displays, the share of flavored cigarettes in retail markets in terms of sold cigarette sticks has increased in the last couple of years. For instance, the share of flavored cigarettes was 1.5 percent in 2008 in Turkey, and it increased to 4.2 percent in 2018. Furthermore, similar trends are also seen in other countries. Compared to benchmark countries, the share of flavored cigarettes is lower in Turkey, while the respective shares are 15.2 percent, 18.9 percent, and 25.1 percent in Ukraine, Russia, and Mexico. Nonetheless, following the latest market dynamics, new legislation is enacted in Turkey to regulate tobacco product contents. In particular, in 2015, using menthol, mint, and their derivatives in the production of tobacco products was prohibited in Turkey.³⁴⁴ Yet, the menthol-flavored tobacco products were allowed to be produced until January 2019 and their sale until May 2020 at the retail level.³⁴⁵ Furthermore, a similar trend in the market dynamics is also observed for the size of the cigarettes, as seen in Figure 76. In particular, the market share of slim cigarettes has increased in Turkey, from 4 percent to 18 percent between 2016 and 2018, according to Euromonitor statistics. However, the size of cigarettes is currently not regulated.³⁴⁶



Figure 75 - Share of flavored cigarettes in the retail markets in terms of sold sticks, %, 2008 and 2018

Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, TEPAV calculations

xiv The corresponding question was not asked in Ukraine's current GATS survey.



Figure 76 - Share of slim cigarettes in the retail markets in terms of sold sticks, %, 2007-2018

Source: Euromonitor International Passport Statistics, TEPAV calculations

190. There are laws that ban the sale of cigarettes to those under the age of 18 in Turkey. Yet, despite the regulation, it is seen that children still can easily access tobacco products in Turkey. In the law introduced in 1996, the sale of cigarettes to those under the age of 18 was banned.³⁴⁷ Since 2010, mandatory legal warnings, prohibiting the sale of cigarettes to youths under the age of 18, had to be posted to all sales areas.³⁴⁸ Furthermore, selling individual sticks contravenes with many tobacco control policy tools such as taxation and monitoring. More importantly, the availability of individual sticks makes minors' access to cigarettes easier, considering their purchasing power. Accordingly, selling individual sticks are not allowed in Turkey. In addition, the current legislation in Turkey does not allow selling cigarettes in such a way that consumers can directly access products without the assistance of a sales person.³⁴⁹ These facts taken together, it is expected that access to cigarettes by minors would be restricted. Yet, GYTS 2017 survey results indicate that 61.6 percent of smokers aged between 13-15 bought cigarettes from a store, shop, or kiosk in Turkey. 71.3 percent of minor smokers were not prevented from buying cigarettes because of their age. Besides, 29.4 percent of these smokers bought cigarettes as individual sticks. Furthermore, Turkey's weak performance in limiting the minors' access to cigarettes is also confirmed by comparing these statistics with Ukraine (see Figure 77).



Figure 77 - Share of current smokers who are aged between 13-15 according to their access conditions to cigarettes, Turkey and Ukraine, %, 2017

Source: GYTS Fact Sheets, TEPAV calculations

191. Plain packaging regulation was introduced in Turkey in 2019 in tandem with global trends, as the most current legislation. As packaging is an element of advertising and promotion, logos,

colors, fonts, pictures, shapes, and materials on or in packs or on individual cigarettes can attract consumers.³⁵⁰ In particular, a plain package covers only informative and necessary detail like contact details, brand, manufacturer name, quantity of sticks, health warnings, tax stamp, and other government-mandated information within a uniform color, shape, style, and material.³⁵¹ Australia was the first WHO member state implementing plain packaging in 2012, countries like France and Ireland followed suit, and Turkey has switched to standard packaging to be effective from 2020.³⁵²

D.5. Tobacco Endgame Strategies in the World

- **192.** The public health community has been discussing for some time tobacco endgame strategies that can be used to augment existing strategies. The literature on the topic considers strategies that could be used "in addition to the expanded implementation of the proven tobacco control interventions, to accelerate declines in the use of cigarettes and other combusted tobacco products and end the epidemic of disease and premature death caused by tobacco".³⁵³ The concept of tobacco control assumes the controlled but continued presence of tobacco as a common, widely available, ordinary consumer product. On the other hand, the concept of tobacco endgame suggests moving beyond tobacco control toward a tobacco-free future and envisions a phase-out and significantly restricted availability of commercial tobacco products.³⁵⁴ Although no single definition of endgame or the end point has been developed, the idea of aiming to end, rather than control, the epidemic has become the topic of national and international meetings. One review paper defines endgame strategies as "initiatives designed to change/eliminate permanently the structural, political and social dynamics that sustain the tobacco epidemic, in order to end it within a specific time".³⁵⁵ The same paper categorizes the strategies as focusing on the product, the user, the market/supply, or larger institutional structures. The strategies proposed so far have potential benefits as well as risks. Most of the proposals have not been implemented; therefore, it is difficult to evaluate their practicality or legality. There are concerns that an over-emphasis on novel approaches may reduce the efforts toward existing policies that have proven successful but may seem less exciting (such as taxation). Other concerns are that endgame proposals may empower the state to take private property or restrict freedoms. There are also concerns that product changes may unintentionally impose health risks on tobacco users.
- **193.** The proposals for product focused endgame strategies include regulating nicotine levels to make cigarettes less addictive, redesigning cigarettes to make them less appealing, and promoting e-cigarettes. The proposal of gradually reducing nicotine levels of cigarettes aims to wean smokers off nicotine and to prevent new smokers to become addicted.³⁵⁶ The potential risks of this strategy would be unintentionally creating a perception of 'safer' or 'approved' tobacco products, introducing an additional cost of product testing and enforcement of rules, and inducing smokers to smoke more or more frequently to compensate themselves for reduced nicotine. The proposal to reduce the appeal of cigarettes includes ideas such as making cigarette smoke harder to inhale by making it harsher, and banning flavors and filters.³⁵⁷ Banning particular ingredients may always tempt producers to add other ingredients, neutralizing the effect of the ban. The promotion of e-cigarettes, if chosen as a strategy, would have to be done in the context of limited knowledge, given the variability among the products, the need for more evidence on effectiveness in quitting tobacco, and the risk of attracting non-smokers.

194. The proposals for user focused endgame strategies include designing a smoker license

scheme, requiring a prescription to purchase tobacco, and restricting sales according to the birth year. A smoker's license would enable the owner to purchase tobacco products from licensed retailers.³⁵⁸ Additional measures such as financial incentives to abandon the license, gradually raising the legal smoking age, or requiring new smokers to demonstrate knowledge of health risks may also be implemented. Some disadvantages of this strategy would be its cost of implementation, and the unintentional framing of tobacco use as a choice made by fully informed consumers.³⁵⁹ The proposal of limiting sales to pharmacies and requiring purchasers to obtain a prescription has challenges in itself, since it is not known whether health professionals would have ethical objections.³⁶⁰ Restricting sales according to year of birth aims to create tobacco free generations legally unable to purchase tobacco at any age.³⁶¹ Over time, the population will be composed of people who were born after the specified date, therefore legal tobacco sales will phase out. The demand for illegal sales is expected to decline as the smoking population ages, although it may rise initially. An objection to the proposal is that it prevents people from taking informed risks; however, constraints are often placed on free choice, especially when the choice involves negative internalities or externalities. On the other hand, the primary effect of such a ban would be more on the minors than on adults. It could help solve the under-age smoking problem by restraining the choice of minors regarding smoking.

195. The proposals for market/supply focused endgame strategies include licensing, outlet restrictions, display bans and price controls; banning combustibles; favoring cleaner nicotine products over combustibles; imposing a quota on tobacco manufacture and imports; and imposing price caps. The variety of restrictions proposed by researchers include restricting the number, location, and business hours of retail shops, banning duty free sales, or restricting all sales to government controlled outlets.³⁶² The cost of violating license provisions, such as violating the rules regarding illegal or under-age sales, could be raised.³⁶³ It is clear that the retail sector would oppose these regulations without being provided with other incentives. Another proposal is to ban combustibles by announcing in advance, allowing smokers to adjust.³⁶⁴ The disadvantages of such a ban are that it might be unpopular and ineffective, it would create hardship for the sociodemographic groups where smokers are concentrated, and that cessation aid may not satisfy smokers or such aid may not be readily available or affordable. Various ideas have been suggested on favoring 'cleaner' nicotine products (such as low nitrosamine smokeless tobacco or pharmaceutical nicotine) over combustibles.³⁶⁵ Combustibles could be treated differently by imposing higher taxes, restricting availability, and requiring enhanced warning labels. At the same time, the design, marketing, distribution, and use of cleaner products could be regulated in order to prevent undesired outcomes such as youth uptake, sustained nicotine addiction among smokers who might otherwise quit, or reframing smoking as a desirable activity. Tobacco companies could be permitted to market cleaner products only under strict conditions such as reducing production of combustibles. Clearly, the problem is quite complex. The proposal of imposing a quota on manufacturing and imports and gradually reducing the quota is also known as the 'sinking lid' approach.³⁶⁶ The quotas could be distributed via an auction run by the government and could be reduced gradually, thereby pushing prices up and reducing demand. In the price cap proposal, on the other hand, a regulatory body would set the highest price for cigarettes, thereby reduce the producers' profit and determine the consumer price by adjusting excise taxes. In this model, price increases would benefit the government, not the producer.³⁶⁷ Clearly, such proposals would bring extra administrative costs. Also, the feasibility and effectiveness of these proposals would be determined by the degree of political support and enforceability.

- **196.** The proposals for institutional structure focused endgame strategies include establishing a new tobacco control agency, introducing a regulated market model, a takeover of tobacco companies by the state, and regulating the industry based on performance. The new tobacco control agency is supposed to align incentives, prioritize health, and manage products, marketing, development of less harmful and less addictive products, prices and sales. The new agency could be funded by taxes on tobacco companies.³⁶⁸ Alternatively, in the regulated market model, the agency would be both regulator and the sole purchaser. The agency would also set standards for manufacturers and retailers.³⁶⁹ This strategy would maintain the cigarette industry but induce firms to produce less harmful products, which would be distributed in a better controlled manner.³⁷⁰ Another proposal envisions the purchase and management of tobacco companies by a non-profit public health focused entity.³⁷¹ A simpler approach would be to set goals for reductions in prevalence rates and let tobacco companies the goals are met.³⁷² Each of these suggestions could improve the control of the supply side, but only if they were implemented well and supported by a committed government.
- 197. Some of the above-mentioned strategies have been considered, as supplements to the conventional measures, by governments in some countries to reach tobacco endgame goals. Advancing to the final stage of the tobacco epidemic has been receiving growing international interest. A number of countries (New Zealand, Sweden, and Ireland) aim at their tobacco endgames by 2025. Some other countries have picked different end dates (for example, Denmark 2030, Scotland 2034, and Finland 2040).³⁷³ Finland was the first country to boldly legislate a tobacco endgame strategy. In 2010, the country adopted a Tobacco Act, later expanding it to include the eradication of other nicotine containing products. The action plan of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health -"Roadmap towards a Smoke-Free Finland"- includes measures both to prevent people from starting to smoke and to help smokers give up the habit, and it aims to eliminate the use of tobacco products in the country by the end of 2040.³⁷⁴ The measures taken have been incremental and mostly demand-sided and based on FCTC guidelines; innovative supply-side measures were excluded. Since the legislation in 2010 on the eradication of tobacco, smoking rate declined impressively (in 2017-2018, 14 percent among men, 11 percent among women).³⁷⁵ The prevalence of daily smoking in the country has reduced by half in the 2000s.³⁷⁶ In the Australian state of Tasmania, a tobacco-free generation bill was proposed to the parliament in 2014. A committee was asked by the parliament to examine workability and practicality of the bill. Support for the proposal was found to be 75 percent among Tasmanian adults; across all sociodemographic subgroups the majority supports the proposal, including 72 percent of current smokers. However, several oppositions were raised and consequently debates on the bill were postponed.³⁷⁷ Sweden has a unique experience in reducing smoking rates. In Sweden, the prevalence rate of snus use by young man is as high as 30 percent. It is believed that snus has a particular role in Sweden's move away from cigarettes. Throughout the 1970's and 1980's, a shift from cigarette smoking to snus among Swedish men is thought to have resulted in a reduction in smoking-related disease rates a decade later. A study shows that snus use is negatively correlated with cigarette consumption among men in Sweden, and that it resulted in the lowest lung cancer mortality rates in Europe for most of the past 50 years.³⁷⁸ Also, Sweden displays one of the lowest oral cancer rates in the world.³⁷⁹ In Canada, the government has announced a target of less than 5 percent tobacco use by 2035. To help Canadians quit tobacco, it was decided to offer cessation support and access to more choice (traditional cessation approaches in addition to harm reduction approaches), and also to follow a more targeted approach to help certain groups that face higher

smoking rates. In 2016, a bill was introduced to the parliament to make vapor products legal for sale. A consultation board was established with input from health experts, tobacco harm reduction advocates and manufacturers. A scientific advisory board was established and commissioned a science-based review to provide recommendations on the federal legislative framework for vapor products. After a two-year process of consultation and scientific review, the bill became law in May 2018.³⁸⁰ Recently, a group of experts made a case for the adoption of a global tobacco endgame goal (a world where less than 5 percent of the adult population uses tobacco) for 2040. Although in the recent decades a number of countries have substantially reduced smoking prevalence, more intensified effort is required for the majority of countries to achieve endgame goals.³⁸¹ Currently, Turkey has no endgame strategy. The Strategic Plan of the Ministry of Health announces many tobacco-related targets for the year 2023. According to this strategy document, the country aims to reduce by 2023 tobacco usage rate among students in ages 13-15 to 10 percent, the share of those in ages 15-34 who initiate smoking before 18 to 50 percent, the share of tobacco users in ages 15 and older to 24 percent, and the daily consumption among smokers in ages 15 and older to 12 cigarettes.³⁸² To end tobacco use in the near future, Turkey needs more ambitious targets. It is unknown whether any of the strategies explained above have been considered in Turkey to supplement the already existing tobacco control strategies.

¹⁰⁷ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

¹⁰⁸ Ozcebe et al., "The Perspectives of Politicians on Tobacco Control in Turkey."

¹⁰⁹ Yurtoğlu, "Türkiye Cumhuriyeti'nde Tütün Tekeli ve Sigara Fabrikalarının Tarihsel Gelişimi (1923-1950)."

¹¹⁰ Ozcebe et al., "The Perspectives of Politicians on Tobacco Control in Turkey."

¹¹¹ Yurtoğlu, "Türkiye Cumhuriyeti'nde Tütün Tekeli ve Sigara Fabrikalarının Tarihsel Gelişimi (1923-1950)."

¹¹² Ibid.

¹¹³ Ibid.

¹¹⁴ Güdek Gölçek and Gölçek, "Erken Cumhuriyet Dönemi Tekel Uygulamaları: 1920-1950 Döneminde Tuz, İspirto ve İspirtolu İçkiler Ile Kibrit."

¹¹⁵ Ibid.

¹¹⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 60 Sayılı 20.05.1983 Tarihli İktisadi Devlet Teşekkülleri ve Kamu İktisadi Kuruluşları Hakkında Kanun Hükmünde Kararname; Bilir et al., "Tobacco Control in Turkey."

¹¹⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 87/11524 Sayılı 11.03.1987 Tarihli Tekel İşletmeleri Genel Müdürlüğü'nün "Tütün, Tütün Mamulleri, Tuz ve Alkol İşletmeleri Genel Müdürlüğü" Adı ile Yeniden Kurulması Hakkında Karar; Bilir et al., "Tobacco Control in Turkey."

¹¹⁸ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4733 Sayılı 09.01.2002 Tarihli Tütün, Tütün Mamulleri, Tuz ve Alkol İşletmeleri Genel Müdürlüğünün Yeniden Yapılandırılması ile Tütün ve Tütün Mamullerinin Üretimine, İç ve Dış Alım ve Satımına, 4046 Sayılı Kanunda ve 233 Sayılı KHKde Değişiklik Yapılmasın.

¹¹⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 008/23 Sayılı 22.4.2008 Özel Tarihli Öleştirme Yüksek Kurulunun Kararı.

¹²⁰ Bilir et al., "Tobacco Control in Turkey."

¹²¹ Ibid.

¹²² T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4207 Sayılı 26.11.1996 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesi ve Kontrolü Hakkında Kanun.

¹²³ World Health Organization (WHO), "History of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control."
 ¹²⁴ World Health Organization (WHO), "Basic Documents: Forty-Ninth Edition (Including Amendments Adopted up to 31 May 2019)."

¹²⁵ Ibid.

¹²⁶ United Nations Treaty Collection, "4. WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control"; World Health Organization (WHO), "History of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control."

¹²⁷ World Health Organization (WHO), "Turkey Impact Assessment."

¹²⁸ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Ulusal Tütün Kontrol ve Eylem Planı 2008-2012."

¹²⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 5727 Sayılı 19.01.2008 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesine Dair Kanunda Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun.

¹³⁰ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Framew. Conv. Tob. Control"; WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

¹³¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: An Overview."

¹³² World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use."

¹³³ Petit and Nagy, "Fiscal Policy: How to Design and Enforce Tobacco Excises?"

134 Ibid.

¹³⁵ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Framew. Conv. Tob. Control"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Taxation."

¹³⁶ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Parties"; World Health Organization (WHO), "Raise Taxes on Tobacco."

¹³⁷ World Health Organization (WHO), "Taxation."

¹³⁸ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

¹³⁹ World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "Tobacco Control in Practice Article 6: Price and Tax Measures to Reduce the Demand for Tobacco."

¹⁴⁰ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

¹⁴¹ Ibid.

¹⁴² Ibid.

¹⁴³ Delipalla and Keen, "The Comparison Between Ad Valorem and Specific Taxation Under Imperfect Competition"; Keen, "The Balance Between Specific and Ad Valorem Taxation."

¹⁴⁴ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

¹⁴⁵ Euromonitor International, "Passport Statistics."

¹⁴⁶ Önder, "The Economics of Tobacco in Turkey : New Evidence and Demand Estimates."Yürekli et al., "The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Taxation in Turkey."

¹⁴⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 6322 Sayılı 15.06.2012 Tarihli Amme Alacaklarının Tahsil Usulü Hakkında Kanun ile Bazı Kanunlarda Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Kanun.

¹⁴⁸ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2537 Sayılı 13.05.2020 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarları Hakkında Karar.

¹⁴⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4760 Sayılı 12.06.2002 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu.

¹⁵⁰ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2003/5141 Sayılı 08.01.2003 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununun Eki III Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallarla İlgili Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranlarının Tespitine Dair Karar.

¹⁵¹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2004/6885 Sayılı 27.02.2004 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar.

¹⁵² T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2004/7674 Sayılı 10.08.2004 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar.

¹⁵³ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2004/7792 Sayılı 29.08.2004 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanuna Ekli III Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Hakkında Karar.

¹⁵⁴ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2005/8392 Sayılı 27.01.2005 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I) ve (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Karar.

¹⁵⁵ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2005/8410 Sayılı 01.02.2005 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Karar.

¹⁵⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2005/9145 Sayılı 28.07.2005 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Kararın Yürürlüğe Konulması Hakkında Karar.

¹⁵⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 5479 Sayılı 08.04.2006 Tarihli Gelir Vergisi Kanunu, Amme Alacaklarının Tahsil Usulü Hakkında Kanun, Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu ve Vergi Usul Kanununda Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun.

¹⁵⁸ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2007/11674 Sayılı 17.02.2007 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine İlişkin 25/7/2005 Tarihli ve 2005/9145 Sayılı Kararnamenin Eki Kararda Değişiklik Yapılmasına İlişk.

¹⁵⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2007/12756 Sayılı 02.11.2007 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I) ve (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine İlişkin Karar.

¹⁶⁰ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2008/13061 Sayılı 24.01.2008 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listenin (B) Cetvelinde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine İlişkin Karar.

¹⁶¹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2008/13835 Sayılı 02.07.2008 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I) ve (III) Sayılı Listenin (B) Cetvellerinde Yer Alan Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar.

¹⁶² T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2009/15081 Sayılı 16.06.2009 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Katma Değer Vergisi ile Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranlarının Belirlenmesine Dair Karar.

¹⁶³ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2009/15725 Sayılı 31.12.2009 Tarihli Motorlu Taşıtlar Vergisi Tutarları, Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranları, Maktu ve Asgari Maktu Vergi Tutarları ile Harçlar ve Damga Vergisi Nispet ve Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar.

¹⁶⁴ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2010/1435 Sayılı 25.02.2011 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I), (II), (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesi ile Bazı Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına İlişkin Karar.

¹⁶⁵ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2011/2304 Sayılı 13.10.2011 Tarihli Kaynak Kullanımını Destekleme Fonu Kesintileri ve Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine Dair Karar.

¹⁶⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2011/2343 Sayılı 26.10.2011 Tarihli 12/10/2011 Tarihli ve 2011/2304 Sayılı Bakanlar Kurulu Kararı ile Yürürlüğe Konulan, Kaynak Kullanımını Destekleme Fonu Kesintileri ve Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan?Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Kararda Değişiklik Yapılması.

¹⁶⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2012/4116 Sayılı 01.01.2013 Tarihli Bazı Vergi Kanunlarında Yer Alan Tevkifat Nispetleri, Damga Vergisi ve Harç Oranları ile Bazı Mal ve Hizmetlere Uygulanan Çeşitli Vergi, Fon ve

Kesintilere İlişkin Oran ve Tutarların Tespit Edilmesine Dair Karar.

¹⁶⁸ Deloitte Verginet, "2013/84 Sayılı Vergi Sirküleri."

¹⁶⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2013/5761 Sayılı 01.01.2014 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Vergi ve Fonlara İlişkin Oran ve Tutarların Yeniden Tespit Edilmesine Dair Karar.

¹⁷⁰ TÜRMOB, "1.07.2014/146-1 Sirküler Rapor."

¹⁷¹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2014/7127 Sayılı 01.01.2015 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranları ile Maktu ve Asgari Maktu Vergi Tutarlarının Tespit Edilmesi Hakkında Karar.

¹⁷² TÜRMOB, 08.07.2015/132-2 Sirküler Rapor.

¹⁷³ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2015/8353 Sayılı 01.01.2016 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Katma Değer Vergisi Oranlarının, Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarlarının ve Tütün Fonu Tutarlarının Belirlenmesi Hakkında Karar.

¹⁷⁴ TÜRMOB, "12.07.2016/87-1 Sirküler Rapor."

¹⁷⁵ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2016/9567 Sayılı 01.12.2016 Tarihli Bazı Malların Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Yeniden Belirlenmesi Hakkında Karar.

¹⁷⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2018/11542 Sayılı 27.03.2018 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I), (II) ve (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarları ile Oranlarının Belirlenmesi ve Bazı Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına .

¹⁷⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2018/11999 Sayılı 30.06.2018 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarlarının Yeniden Tespit Edilmesi Hakkında Karar.

¹⁷⁸ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 554 Sayılı 05.01.2019 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarlarının Yeniden Belirlenmesi Hakkında Karar.

¹⁷⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 1013 Sayılı 01.05.2019 Tarihli Bazı Bakanlar Kurulu Kararlarında Değişiklik Yapılması ve Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarları ile Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranlarına Esas Özel Tüketim Vergisi Matrahlarının Yeniden Belirlenmesi Hakkı.

¹⁸⁰ T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı (GİB), (III) Sayılı Liste [4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununun (12/3) Maddesi Uyarınca Güncellenen Liste].

¹⁸¹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 1424 Sayılı 15.08.2019 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Hakkındaki Kararın Yürürlüğe Konulması Hakkında Karar.

¹⁸² T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2537 Sayılı 13.05.2020 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarları Hakkında Karar.

¹⁸³ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Technical Manual on Tobacco Tax Administration."

¹⁸⁴ Jeremias, "Raising Tobacco Taxes: A Summary of Evidence from the NCI-WHO Monograph on the Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control."

¹⁸⁵ Önder, "The Economics of Tobacco in Turkey : New Evidence and Demand Estimates."

¹⁸⁶ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Technical Manual on Tobacco Tax Administration."

¹⁸⁷ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use."

¹⁸⁸ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

¹⁸⁹ Asen, "Cigarette Taxes in Europe."

¹⁹⁰ van Walbeek and Filby, "Analysis of Article 6 (Tax and Price Measures to Reduce the Demand for Tobacco Products) of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control."

¹⁹¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use."

¹⁹² World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Technical Manual on Tobacco Tax Administration"; U.S. National Cancer Institute and World Health Organization, "Monograph 21: The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control."

¹⁹³ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

¹⁹⁴ World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "Tobacco Control Playbook."

¹⁹⁵ Ibid. ¹⁹⁶ Ibid.

¹⁹⁷ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

¹⁹⁸ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use: Country Profile - Turkey."

¹⁹⁹ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

²⁰⁰ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use: Country Profile - Turkey"; International Monetary Fund (IMF), "International

Financial Statistics Exchange Rates."

²⁰¹ Petit and Nagy, "Fiscal Policy: How to Design and Enforce Tobacco Excises?"

²⁰² Çakmaklı et al., "How Do Indirect Taxes on Tobacco Products Affect Inflation."

²⁰³ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Tüketici Fiyat Endeksi Ana Grup ve Madde Ağırlıkları (Türkiye)"; Eurostat, "HICP - Item Weights."

²⁰⁴ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Tüketici Fiyat Endeksleri (2003=100)."

 $^{\rm 205}$ Ibid.

²⁰⁶ Dünya Gazetesi, "Sigara Zammına Enflasyon Freni."

²⁰⁷ Ibid.

²⁰⁸ Nargis et al., "A Decade of Cigarette Taxation in Bangladesh: Lessons Learnt for Tobacco Control."
 ²⁰⁹ Karanfil, "Sigaraya Zam Yok, İçkiye Var."

²¹⁰ World Health Organization (WHO), "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 6 of the WHO FCTC"; WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Price Elasticity."

²¹¹ Önder, "The Economics of Tobacco in Turkey: New Evidence and Demand Estimates"; Tansel, "Cigarette Demand, Health Scares and Education in Turkey"; Yürekli et al., "The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Taxation in Turkey"; Atuk and Özmen, "Firm Strategy, Consumer Behavior and Taxation in Turkish Tobacco Market"; Yılmaz Uğur, "Sigara Üzerinden Alınan Vergilerin Ters Esneklik Kuralı Bağlamında Analizi: Türkiye Üzerine Bir Uygulama."

²¹² World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "Fact Sheet: Tobacco Taxation."

²¹³ Euromonitor International, "Passport Statistics."

²¹⁴ GuncelFiyatları.Com, "2020 Sigara Fiyatları Zamlı Güncel Tam Listesi."

²¹⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2012"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2016."

²¹⁶ T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, "Tütün Mamulleri İstatistikleri."

²¹⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2537 Sayılı 13.05.2020 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarları Hakkında Karar.

²¹⁸ World Health Organization (WHO), "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 6 of the WHO FCTC."

²¹⁹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2016."

²²⁰ Zheng et al., "U.S. Demand for Tobacco Products in a System Framework"; Cotti et al., "The Effects of E-Cigarette Taxes on E-Cigarette Prices and Tobacco Product Sales: Evidence from Retail Panel Data"; Pesko, Courtemanche, and Maclean, "The Effects of Traditional Cigarette and E-Cigarette Taxes on Adult Tobacco Product Use."

²²¹ Hofverberg, "Sweden: New Tax on Electronic Cigarettes and Other Non-Tobacco Nicotine Products Takes Effect."

²²² World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Technical Manual on Tobacco Tax Administration."

²²³ World Bank, "E-Cigarettes: Use and Taxation."

²²⁴ World Health Organization (WHO), "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 6 of the WHO FCTC."

²²⁵ TEPAV, "COVID-19 Sürecinde Tütün Ürünleri Kullanımı Anketi"; T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2537 Sayılı 13.05.2020 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarları Hakkında Karar.

²²⁶ Mackay and Eriksen, "Tobacco Atlas First Edition."

²²⁷ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Tobacco Taxes and Tax Administration."

²²⁸ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "The Solution to Illicit Trade."

²²⁹ T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı, "Ticaret Bakanlığı'ndan 'Elektronik Sigara'Ya Geçit Yok."

²³⁰ T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Emniyet Genel Müdürlüğü Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı, "Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele 2018 Raporu."

²³¹ Goodchild, Sandoval, and Belausteguigoitia, "Generating Revenue by Raising Tobacco Taxes in Latin America and the Caribbean."

²³² T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Emniyet Genel Müdürlüğü Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı, "Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele 2018 Raporu"; Uznay and Gümüş, "The Underminers: Booming Illicit Trade of Roll Your Own and Waterpipe Tobacco in Turkey."

²³³ T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı, "Tütün Mamulleri İstatistikleri."

²³⁴ HM Revenue & Customs, "Tackling Illicit Tobacco: From Leaf to Light."

²³⁵ World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "Tobacco Control Playbook"; Jha, De Bayer, and Heller, "Death and Taxes Economics of Tobacco Control."

²³⁶ Chaloupka, Frank et al., "Preventing and Reducing Illicit Tobacco Trade in the United States."

²³⁷ Türkiye Esnaf ve Sanaatkarlar Konfederasyonu (TESK) Bilmediğin Gerçekler Var!" Kampanyası, "Kaçakçılık Suçlarıyla Mücadele."

²³⁸ T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Emniyet Genel Müdürlüğü Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı, "Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele 2018 Raporu."

²³⁹ T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı, "Ticaret Bakanlığı 2019 Yılı Faaliyet Raporu."

²⁴⁰ Jha, De Bayer, and Heller, "Death and Taxes Economics of Tobacco Control"; World Health Organization (WHO), "The Political Economy of Tobacco Taxation."

²⁴¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use."

²⁴² Ibid.

²⁴³ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Global Adult Tobacco Survey Turkey 2012."

²⁴⁴ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Ulusal Tütün Kontrol ve Eylem Plani 2008-2012"; Bilir et al., "Tobacco Control in Turkey"; T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2006/29 Sayılı 07.10.2006 Tarihli Ulusal Tütün Kontrol Programı ile İlgili Başbakanlık Genelgesi.

²⁴⁵ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

²⁴⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 30686 Sayılı 14.02.2019 Tarihli Bağımlılık ile Mücadele ile İlgili 2019/2 Sayılı Cumhurbaşkanlığı Genelgesi.

²⁴⁷ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

²⁴⁸ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use."

²⁴⁹ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

²⁵⁰ Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK), "Küresel Yetişkin Tütün Araştırması."

²⁵¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "Turkey Global Adult Tobacco Survey Data."

²⁵² World Health Organization (WHO), "Protect People from Exposure to Second-Hand Smoke."

²⁵³ Ibid.

²⁵⁴ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4207 Sayılı 26.11.1996 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesi ve Kontrolü Hakkında Kanun.

²⁵⁵ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 5727 Sayılı 19.01.2008 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesine Dair Kanunda Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun.

²⁵⁶ Ibid.

²⁵⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2008/6 Sayılı 16.05.2008 Tarihli 4207 Sayılı Kanun Hükümlerinin Uygulanması ile İlgili Başbakanlık Genelgesi.

²⁵⁸ Gümüştekin, "Ülkemizdeki Tütün Kontrol Çalışmaları: Tütün ve Diğer Bağımlılık Yapıcı Maddelerle Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı Bilgi Notu."

²⁵⁹ Ibid.

²⁶⁰ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 6111 Sayılı 25.02.2011 Tarihli Bazı Alacakların Yeniden Yapılandırılması ile Sosyal Sigortalar ve Genel Sağlık Sigortası Kanunu ve Diğer Bazı Kanun ve Kanun Hükmünde Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun.

²⁶¹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 6354 Sayılı 12.07.2012 Tarihli Sağlık Bakanlığı ve Bağlı Kuruluşlarının Teşkilat ve Görevleri Hakkında Kanun Hükmünde Kararname ile Bazı Kanun ve Kanun Hükmünde Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Kanun.

²⁶² Ibid.

²⁶³ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 28541 Sayılı 27.01.2013 Tarihli Tütün Mamulleri ve Alkollü İçkilerin Satışına ve Sunumuna İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Yönetmelikte Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Yönetmelik.

²⁶⁴ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 6487 Sayılı 11.06.2013 Tarihli Bazı Kanunlar ile 375 Sayılı Kanun Hükmünde Kararnamede Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun.

²⁶⁵ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "86696344/010 Sayılı Kanun Değişikliği."

²⁶⁶ Gümüştekin, "Ülkemizdeki Tütün Kontrol Çalışmaları: Tütün ve Diğer Bağımlılık Yapıcı Maddelerle Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı Bilgi Notu."

²⁶⁷ Ibid.

²⁶⁸ Ibid.

²⁶⁹ World Health Organization (WHO), cOrganization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article 14 - 2013 Edition".

²⁷⁰ Ursprung and DiFranza, "The Loss of Autonomy Over Smoking in Relation to Lifetime Cigarette Consumption."

²⁷¹ Cohen et al., "Debunking Myths about Self-Quitting: Evidence From 10 Prospective Studies of Persons Who Attempt to Quit Smoking by Themselves."

²⁷² WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

²⁷³ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use"; World Health Organization (WHO), "World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article 14 - 2013 Edition."

²⁷⁴ Ibid.

²⁷⁵ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Temel Sağlık Hizmetleri Genel Müdürlüğü, "Tütün Bağımlılığı İle Mücadele El Kitabı (Hekimler İçin)."

²⁷⁶ Ibid.

²⁷⁷ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 28121 Sayılı 23.11.2011 Tarihli Tütün Bağımlılığı Tedavi ve Eğitim Birimleri Hakkında Yönetmelik.

²⁷⁸ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

²⁷⁹ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Kamu Spotları."

²⁸⁰ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

²⁸¹ T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Strateji ve Bütçe Başkanlığı, "On Birinci Kalkınma Planı (2019-2023)."

²⁸² T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Strateji ve Bütçe Başkanlığı; T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü, "Sigara Bırakma Hizmetleri."

²⁸³ T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Strateji ve Bütçe Başkanlığı, "On Birinci Kalkınma Planı (2019-2023)."

²⁸⁴ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü, "Sigara Bırakma Hizmetleri."

²⁸⁵ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

²⁸⁶ YEŞİLAY, "Bırakabilirsin.Org."

²⁸⁷ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü, "Sigara Bırakma Hizmetleri."

²⁸⁸ Ibid.

²⁸⁹ YEŞİLAY, "Projeler."

²⁹⁰ Sert Karaaslan, "Sigarayı Bırakma Polikliniklerinden 2,5 Milyon Kişi Hizmet Aldı."

²⁹¹ T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Strateji ve Bütçe Başkanlığı, "On Birinci Kalkınma Planı (2019-2023)."

²⁹² World Health Organization (WHO), "Turkey Impact Assessment."

²⁹³ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü, "Sigara Bırakma Hizmetleri."

²⁹⁴ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü, "Birim Faaliyet Raporu 2019."

²⁹⁵ Gümüştekin, "Ülkemizdeki Tütün Kontrol Çalışmaları: Tütün ve Diğer Bağımlılık Yapıcı Maddelerle Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı Bilgi Notu."

²⁹⁶ T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Strateji ve Bütçe Başkanlığı, "On Birinci Kalkınma Planı (2019-2023)."

²⁹⁷ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü, "Sigara Bırakma Hizmetleri."

²⁹⁸ Euromonitor International, "Passport Statistics."

²⁹⁹ Çelik et al., "Nationwide Smoking Cessation Treatment Support Program - Turkey Project."

³⁰⁰ Ibid.

³⁰¹ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2019-2023 Stratejik Planı."

³⁰² TEPAV, "COVID-19 Sürecinde Tütün Ürünleri Kullanımı Anketi."

³⁰³ Esendagli et al., "Short-Term Results of a Registered Smoking Cessation Clinic with Patients Referred by ALO 171 Quitline."

³⁰⁴ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 2149 Sayılı 25.02.2020 Tarihli Elektronik Sigara ve Benzeri Cihazlar ile Bazı Tütün Mamulleri ve Tütün Mamulünü Taklit Eder Tarzda Kullanılan Mamullerin İthaline İlişkin Karar.

³⁰⁵ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 28121 Sayılı 23.11.2011 Tarihli Tütün Bağımlılığı Tedavi ve Eğitim Birimleri Hakkında Yönetmelik.

³⁰⁶ Çelik et al., "Nationwide Smoking Cessation Treatment Support Program - Turkey Project."

³⁰⁷ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use."

308 Ibid.

³⁰⁹ World Health Organization (WHO), "World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article 14 - 2013 Edition."

³¹⁰ Ibid.

³¹¹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4207 Sayılı 26.11.1996 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesi ve Kontrolü Hakkında Kanun.

³¹² T.C. Resmi Gazete, 5727 Sayılı 19.01.2008 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesine Dair

Kanunda Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun. ³¹³ Ibid.

²¹⁴ Ibid.

³¹⁴ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 27506 Sayılı 27.02.2010 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Zararlarından Korumaya Yönelik Üretim Şekline, Etiketlenmesine ve Denetlenmesine İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Yönetmelikte Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Yönetmelik; T.C. Resmi Gazete, 28660 Sayılı 28.05.2013 Tarihli Nargile Şişelerinin Üzerine Konulacak Sağlık Uyarılarına İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Tebliğ.

³¹⁵ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 30701 Sayılı 01.03.2019 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Üretim Şekline, Etiketlenmesine ve Denetlenmesine İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Yönetmelik.

³¹⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 7151 Sayılı 05.12.2018 Tarihli Sağlıkla İlgili Bazı Kanun ve Kanun Hükmünde Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Kanun.

³¹⁷ World Health Organization (WHO), "World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article 14 - 2013 Edition"; European Commission, "Health Warnings"; Canadian Cancer Society, "Cigarette Package Health Warnings Sixth Edition."

³¹⁸ Official Journal of the European Union, Directive 2014/40/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council.

³¹⁹ Ibid.

³²⁰ World Health Organization (WHO), "Tobacco Free Initiative: Turkey."

³²¹ WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018."

³²² World Health Organization (WHO), "Warn About the Dangers of Tobacco."

³²³ Gümüştekin, "Ülkemizdeki Tütün Kontrol Çalışmaları: Tütün ve Diğer Bağımlılık Yapıcı Maddelerle Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı Bilgi Notu."

³²⁴ Ibid.

³²⁵ T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "Kamu Spotları."

326 Ibid.

327 Ibid.

³²⁸ Radyo Televizyon Üst Kurulu (RTÜK), "Zorunlu Yayın Mevzuatı."

³²⁹ World Health Organization (WHO), "WHO Statement: Tobacco Use and COVID-19"; World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "Resources for Tobacco Use Control as Part of COVID-19 Response"; GOV.UK, "Guidance COVID-19: Advice for Smokers and Vapers"; Aslan, "Günün Konusu: Tütün Kullananların COVID-19 Riski"; Marquizo, "Tobacco Control During the COVID-19 Pandemic: How We Can Help."

³³⁰ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Coronavirus Disease 2019: People with Certain Medical Conditions"; T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Sağlık Hizmetleri Genel Müdürlüğü, "COVID-19 Hastalığı İçin Risk Grubunda Olan Kronik Hastalıklar."

³³¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article 14 - 2013 Edition."

³³² World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, "World No Tobacco Day."

³³³ World Health Organization (WHO), "Enforce Bans on Tobacco Advertising, Promotion and Sponsorship."

³³⁴ World Health Organization (WHO), "World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article 14 - 2013 Edition."

³³⁵ Ibid.

³³⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4207 Sayılı 26.11.1996 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesi ve Kontrolü Hakkında Kanun.

³³⁷ World Health Organization (WHO), "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 13 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Tobacco Advertising, Promotion and Sponsorship)."

³³⁸ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 25622 Sayılı 23.10.2004 Tarihli İnternet, Televizyon, Faks ve Telefon Gibi Elektronik Ticaret Araçları Kullanılarak Yapılan Tütün Mamulleri ve Alkollü İçki Satışlarına Dair Tebliğ.³³⁹ TEPAV, "Tobacco and Tobacco Products in Turkey: Economic Impact Assessment Using Value Chain Approach."

³⁴⁰ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2016."

³⁴¹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Russian Federation National Micro Data 2016"; Centers

for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Mexico National Micro Data 2015."

³⁴² World Health Organization (WHO), "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 11 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Packaging and Labelling of Tobacco Products)."

³⁴³ Official Journal of the European Union, Directive 2014/40/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council.

³⁴⁴ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 29313 Sayılı 01.04.2015 Tarihli Girdi Bildirim ve Toksikolojik Veri Tablolarında Yer Alan Verilerin Değerlendirilmesine İlişkin Kurul Kararında Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Tütün ve Alkol Piyasası Düzenleme Kurulunun 11/3/2015 Tarihli ve 9010 Sayılı Kararı.
³⁴⁵ Ibid.

³⁴⁶ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4207 Sayılı 26.11.1996 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesi ve Kontrolü Hakkında Kanun.

³⁴⁷ Ibid.

³⁴⁸ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 27555 Sayılı 17.04.2010 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Tüketilmemesine ve Satışına İlişkin Yasal Uyarılar Hakkında Yönetmelik.

³⁴⁹ T.C. Resmi Gazete, 4207 Sayılı 26.11.1996 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesi ve Kontrolü Hakkında Kanun.

³⁵⁰ World Health Organization (WHO), "Plain Packaging of Tobacco Products: Evidence, Design and Implementation."

³⁵¹ World Health Organization (WHO), "World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article 14 - 2013 Edition."

³⁵² World Health Organization (WHO), "Plain Packaging of Tobacco Products: Evidence, Design and Implementation"; T.C. Resmi Gazete, 30701 Sayılı 01.03.2019 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Üretim Şekline, Etiketlenmesine ve Denetlenmesine İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Yönetmelik.

³⁵³ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "The Health Consequences of Smoking - 50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General."

³⁵⁴ Thomson et al., "What Are the Elements of the Tobacco Endgame?"; Malone, "Tobacco Endgames: What They Are and Are Not, Issues For Tobacco Control Strategic Planning and a Possible US Scenario." ³⁵⁵ McDaniel, Smith, and Malone, "The Tobacco Endgame: A Qualitative Review and Synthesis."

³⁵⁶ Benowitz and Henningfield, "Establishing a Nicotine Threshold for Addiction - The Implications for Tobacco Regulation"; Henningfield et al., "Reducing the Addictiveness of Cigarettes."

³⁵⁷ Proctor, "Why Ban the Sale of Cigarettes? The Case for Abolition."

³⁵⁸ Chapman, "The Case for a Smoker's License."

³⁵⁹ Magnusson and Currow, "Could a Scheme for Licensing Smokers Work in Australia?"

³⁶⁰ Pidd, "Doctors to Prescribe Cigarettes Under Plan."

³⁶¹ Khoo et al., "Phasing-Out Tobacco: Proposal to Deny Access to Tobacco for Those Born From 2000"; Berrick, "The Tobacco-Free Generation Proposal."

³⁶² Henriksen, "Comprehensive Tobacco Marketing Restrictions: Promotion, Packaging, Price and Place."

³⁶³ Chapman and Freeman, "Regulating the Tobacco Retail Environment: Beyond Reducing Sales to Minors."

³⁶⁴ Daynard, "Doing the Unthinkable (and Saving Millions of Lives)"; Peters, "Towards an Endgame for Tobacco."

³⁶⁵ Sweanor, Alcabes, and Drucker, "Tobacco Harm Reduction: How Rational Public Policy Could Transform a Pandemic"; Gartner, Hall, and Borland, "How Should We Regulate Smokeless Tobacco Products and E-Cigarettes?"

³⁶⁶ Wilson et al., "Potential Advantages and Disadvantages of an Endgame Strategy: A 'Sinking Lid' on Tobacco Supply."

³⁶⁷ Branston and Gilmore, "The Case for Ofsmoke: The Potential for Price Cap Regulation of Tobacco to Raise £500 Million Per Year in the UK."

³⁶⁸ Thomson, Wilson, and Crane, "Rethinking the Regulatory Framework for Tobacco Control in New Zealand."

³⁶⁹ Borland, "A Strategy for Controlling the Marketing of Tobacco Products: A Regulated Market Model." ³⁷⁰ Gray, "The Future of the Cigarette and Its Market."

³⁷¹ Callard, Thompson, and Collishaw, "Transforming the Tobacco Market: Why the Supply of Cigarettes Should Be Transferred From For-Profit Corporations to Non-Profit Enterprises with a Public Health Mandate."

³⁷² Sugarman, "No More Business as Usual: Enticing Companies to Sharply Lower the Public Health Costs

of the Products They Sell."

³⁷³ van der Deen et al., "Impact of Five Tobacco Endgame Strategies on Future Smoking Prevalence, Population Health and Health System Costs: Two Modelling Studies to Inform the Tobacco Endgame." ³⁷⁴ World Health Organization (WHO), "Finland - Action Plan to Make the Country Smoke-Free by 2040."

³⁷⁵ Timberlake et al., "Strategies and Barriers to Achieving the Goal of Finland's Tobacco Endgame."

³⁷⁶ Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, "WHO's World No Tobacco Day Award to Finland - Amount of Finns Smoking Daily Has Reduced by Half in the 2000s."

³⁷⁷ Bolger, "Tasmania's Health Minister Describes as Unworkable a Bill to Outlaw Cigarette Sales to Those Born in, or After, Year 2000"; Trainer et al., "Public Perceptions of the Tobacco-Free Generation in Tasmania: Adults and Adolescents"; Barnsley, "Australia: Progress on Tasmania's Tobacco Free Generation Legislation."

³⁷⁸ Rodu and Cole, "Lung Cancer Mortality: Comparing Sweden with Other Countries in the European Union."

³⁷⁹ World Health Rankings: Live Longer Live Better, "Oral Cancer Death Rate by Country."

³⁸⁰ Government of Canada, "Overview of Canada's Tobacco Strategy"; Government of Canada, "Vaping Product Regulations."

³⁸¹ Beaglehole et al., "A Tobacco-Free World: A Call to Action to Phase Out the Sale of Tobacco Products by 2040."

³⁸² T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı."

E.Overall Evaluation and Setting out the Next Policy Research Questions

- **198.** Implementation and effectiveness of tobacco control policies have been different across countries due to factors related to the political economy of tobacco control and countries' unique positions. Although tobacco control policies have been discussed around the world since the mid-20th century, it is not possible to define a standard policy package and observe a unique implementation pattern in the world. The reason is that both national and international economic and political dynamics have been decisive in the policy design process.
- **199.** This report is a presentation of the scoping review of the market for tobacco and tobacco products and policies that aim to curb their consumption in Turkey. In that respect, the report outlines the currently available knowledge on the topic and aims to identify the gaps in knowledge that need to be filled by future research. It should be emphasized that no additional research is carried out. Rather the purpose is to carry out a comprehensive situation analysis as to the prevalence of smoking in Turkey, the control policies that are enacted to curb tobacco usage, and comparison with other countries. The analysis takes into consideration the complexity of devising policies, and thus points out that "one size fits all" in fighting a battle against addiction requires a more focused policy design. It emphasizes that policy design should pay attention to the characteristics of smokers, as well as the supply, health, public and political economy perspectives of the country under consideration.
- 200. The design of tobacco control policies is complicated since it requires the policymaker to take into account the set of interactions between several agents and the possible conflict of interest among them. Consumers choose which products to use; they gain instantaneous utility by consuming tobacco, but may face enormous health costs in the future. Governments actively intervene in the production and consumption of tobacco and tobacco products. They aim to protect the public from the direct and indirect health risks related to tobacco use. They also aim to support the national producers of tobacco and tobacco products. On the other hand, tobacco and its products contribute to the government budget as they generate a substantial amount of tax revenue; they also contribute to the trade balance if the country is a net exporter, as in the case of Turkey. Another agent is the tobacco industry with its transformative and resilient character. In response to the protection mechanisms of governments to safeguard public health and national production, tobacco companies have tried to expand their market share with innovative marketing strategies and production of alternative products. When conducting a scoping review of curbing smoking in Turkey, this report investigates the issues related to all of these agents. The report is organized around the four main dimensions of the studied topic: supply, demand, health, and public policy aspects.
- 201. Examining the supply side of the tobacco market, we find that although tobacco control policies are indispensable for governments for several reasons, in designing economic policies what is needed is a holistic approach that takes the supply side of the market into account. From a supply perspective, international producers played an important role in Turkey in shaping the employment pattern by transforming it from mostly agricultural to mostly industrial employment, in increasing the import content of tobacco products, as well as by being effective

in changing the taste preference of consumers in tobacco products. When designing regulations and policies, the possible implications on the local job and income generation capabilities should be among the key decision variables. Despite the efforts to curb tobacco use, tobacco industry is growing worldwide, and the same trend is observed in Turkey, with Turkey being one of the first 15 countries where tobacco sales are the highest. The tobacco industry generates a non-negligible 13.5 billion dollars of value in Turkey. Most of the value generation in the Turkish tobacco industry value chain is in the form of tax collection. Since the relevant taxes are collected after sales rather than during production, protecting the entire production chain becomes less crucial. The reason is that a similar amount of tax revenue can be collected just by importing rather than by producing locally. However, the employment-generation capabilities of tobacco products rather than raw tobacco itself are the two key aspects that should be taken into consideration in the design of tobacco control policies in Turkey.

- **202.** Our findings on the demand side of the market in Turkey reveals that for tobacco control policies to be more effective they should target certain demographic groups, such as the groups with higher rates of smoking prevalence and the groups with increasing rates of smoking prevalence over time. The estimated prevalence rates differ across surveys, yet the general trends regarding tobacco use in Turkey across data sources are similar enough so that it is safe to conclude that there is no decreasing trend. Given that a health indicator in one of the SDGs is related to tobacco use, these statistics show that Turkey has already diverged from the respective goal. In particular, the latest statistics (2019) on the prevalence of smoking in Turkey show that 28 percent of the adult population are daily users, one of the highest rates among OECD countries. Based on this prevalence rate, it is estimated that there are almost 18 million adult daily smokers in Turkey. A breakdown of smokers into demographic groups has generated some findings that present surprising contrasts, especially when evaluated from an international perspective.
- **203.** One finding is that women in Turkey are more likely to be smokers than women in benchmark countries, and the daily tobacco smoking prevalence rate for women is increasing more rapidly compared to men. Moreover, better educated women in Turkey are more likely to be smokers than less educated women. Another area to look into would be to analyze the reasons behind these trends. It is seen that the smoking prevalence of women are higher in high-income countries. One question would be whether the observed pattern among women is related to increasing economic independence of women or the frustration of women in not gaining independence and recognition despite the levels of education achieved.
- **204.** Contrary to expectations, the level of education is positively correlated with smoking prevalence in Turkey, whereas the level of education and smoking prevalence rates are negatively correlated in benchmark countries. The prevalence of smoking increased with the level of education in Turkey over time, and reached 38.2 percent in 2016, where 4 out of 10 university graduates are smokers. In particular, although the share of current smokers among both men and women vary across categories, we can see clearly that the daily smoking prevalence rate increases with education only for women; no clear pattern exists for men in Turkey. Taking into consideration that almost 90 percent of the population in Turkey are aware of the adverse health effects of smoking both to smokers and second-hand users, and assuming that the majority of those who are aware of health hazards are university graduates, it is imperative that the reasons

behind this increasing prevalence be investigated. From a regional perspective, Western Marmara, Istanbul, and Eastern Marmara regions have the highest tobacco smoking prevalence rates in Turkey, also those residing in urban centers are more likely to smoke. These are the regions and centers where industrial activity is much higher, where skilled workers are concentrated. Further research as to the relation between university graduates, where they seek work, where they are employed, where they reside, and the level of income or stress that induces them to smoke could highlight possible cessation methods.

- 205. Another striking finding in Turkey is the high prevalence of smoking among the youth and students, in addition to the very young age when people initiate daily smoking. 12 percent of minors, between the ages of 15 to 17, are daily smokers, and despite preventive policies, an increase in the prevalence rate of minors is observed. Similarly, it is estimated that in 2017, 23.2 percent of boy students and 12.1 percent of girl students between the ages of 13-15 are tobacco users, and it is increasing alarmingly over time. It can also be predicted that this rate may be higher among students under the government social protection services. Furthermore, more than half of adult daily smokers started smoking daily before coming of legal age in Turkey. In this context, when smokers pile up in the younger age groups, it can be an indicator of a more persistent habit, lasting longer and more difficult to tackle with unless special attention is paid and additional measures are taken. Such a picture indicates a need to scrutinize the tobacco control policies, such as the compliance to the bans on sales to minors and whether additional policies such as auditing retail tobacco outlets would help. We need to think more creatively on what type of alternatives would divert the attention of the youth from smoking and how we can engage schools and educators in the endeavor to keep youth away from tobacco, investigate the control measures that are in effect in schools and how these measures can be enhanced, and to assist them in smoking cessation if they have already initiated smoking, taking into consideration the practices in countries where youth and student smoking prevalence is much lower.
- **206.** Turkey's recent demographics, regarding the refugees and asylum seekers that have been hosted since 2010, necessitates their inclusion into data gathering as a distinct group, and new tobacco control policies need to consider the effects of these immigration waves. Combined with SuTP and other refugees and asylum seekers, there are almost 4 million refugees and asylum seekers residing in Turkey. Accordingly, these 4 million people make Turkey the world's largest hosting country of forcibly displaced populations. In the case of tobacco consumption, 2015 and 2017 STEPS surveys indicate that the prevalence rate of daily tobacco consumption was higher among SuTPs than Turkish citizens. Even though there are methodological constraints for precise comments on this particular finding, a higher prevalence rate among SuTPs indicate that current policy context should be extended to contemplate this new situation.
- **207.** Smoking constitutes a significant public health concern in Turkey; therefore, health aspects should always be a component of tobacco control policies. Tobacco use with its direct and indirect health consequences is the third most harmful risk factor that results in deaths in the world. In Turkey, almost 85 thousand deaths were attributable to tobacco use in 2017, up from 78 thousand in 2000. Considering all risk factors, tobacco is estimated to be the second most common risk factor related to mortality in Turkey. Furthermore, as of 2017, tobacco use is the leading risk factor associated with the highest number of deaths and disability in Turkey. Hence, tobacco is

still one of the most important public health problems and preventable causes of mortality in Turkey.

- **208.** The government's financial responsibility in healthcare services is quite significant in Turkey. Given the fact that smoking has been identified as the largest risk to human health in Turkey, and given the substantial responsibility of the government in healthcare services in Turkey, the health aspect of tobacco control policies is all the more important for Turkey. Although the total economic burden of tobacco use is not easily quantifiable in Turkey, considering the current structure of the healthcare system, an educated guess yields that most of the economic burden of tobacco use is on the public sector. One of the challenges in assessing the effectiveness of tobacco control policies in Turkey, is assessing the burden to the public via estimating expenditures on treating the diseases and cost of foregone labor due to tobacco-related illnesses. Further research is needed to compare tax revenues from tobacco products to the health expenditures on the treatment of patients with tobacco-related illnesses in Turkey. Such an analysis would require compiling data on health expenditures (on medication, hospitalization, procedures performed) borne by the government to treat the patients with particular tobacco-related diseases.
- **209.** In contrast to combustible tobacco products, alternative products are fairly new on the market. For the time being, individual articles and reports of international organizations and some national organizations, and systematic reviews of these published documents constitute the source of information for the health effects of alternative products such as e-cigarettes and HTPs. Currently, the alternative products are not legally available in the Turkish market. However, they are available and used in the TRNC, which is geographically and culturally close to Turkey. Given the opportunity, the TRNC can be used as a laboratory to study several important policy-related questions on e-cigarettes, such as attitudes towards e-cigarettes, dual use of e-cigarettes with combustibles, the gateway effect of e-cigarettes, cessation benefits, and changes in perception in response to news.
- **210.** Turkey has followed a successful policy track in tobacco taxation. Yet, there are still some policy issues that should be addressed to increase the effectiveness of tax policies on curbing smoking. FCTC parties, including Turkey, have an obligation under Article 6 to implement tax policies. In line with this obligation, Turkey has been increasing the tax burden on tobacco products over the years. Today, Turkey has been one of the countries with the highest tax burden on tobacco products. Accordingly, cigarette prices are increasing in Turkey in line with the increase in tax burden. Nonetheless, there are some points that impair the effectiveness of the tax policies in Turkey. First of all, cigarette prices in Turkey remain relatively low compared to OECD countries. Secondly, the rise in average income has limited the effectiveness of tax increases in Turkey. Thirdly, price dispersion between differently priced cigarette brands in Turkey undermines the effectiveness of tobacco taxes. These findings further reveal the need for a revision of the current automatic adjustment mechanism in specific taxes to cover the increases in income and not just inflation.
- 211. A transparent analytical study is needed to estimate the volume of the illicit trade in Turkey to improve the efficiency of tax policies using data-grounded insights. A considerable amount of tax revenue is collected from tobacco taxes in Turkey. Furthermore, tax revenue did not decline

with the increase in tax rates and prices. Besides, Turkey's past experience indicates that tax increases did not result in a rise in illicit trade. However, there are ongoing concerns about the future impact of tax increases on tax avoidance activities and smuggling. Yet, further analytical study is needed to estimate the size of illicit trade in Turkey since the current estimates do not share the detailed information on their methodologies, and there are concerns regarding conflicts of interest in such studies.

- 212. To contribute to upcoming updates in the tax policies, more analytical studies are needed to estimate (i) the price elasticity of demand, (ii) cross-price elasticity of demand, and (iii) impacts of tax changes on the different socioeconomic groups. In fact, in the relevant literature, there is already an abundance of analytical studies. However, these studies have become outdated, since the tax structure has profoundly changed in the last fifteen years. More analytical studies are needed to contribute to future policy design efforts. In addition, if Turkey allows the legal sales of alternative products in the future, further research will be needed to understand the cons and pros of different tax structures on e-cigarettes and HTPs.
- **213.** Even though Turkey followed a successful path in monitoring policies, there are policy areas that need to be addressed to improve both the design and implementation processes of tobacco control policies. Overall, in the case of monitoring policies, Turkey has a successful policy track. Regardless, more progress can be made in Turkey in monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies. First of all, the results and micro data of all national surveys need to be made readily available to researchers, preferably online. Secondly, more progress is needed in the number of scientific studies that determine the economic impact of tobacco control policies. Also, more work is needed on the calculation of disbursements for tobacco control programs and cost-effectiveness analyses of different prevention programs. Interdisciplinary and international collaborations are also expected to be fruitful. Thirdly, there is a need for designing and monitoring policies and programs tailored for special subgroups (such as women, children, youth, teachers, physicians).
- 214. Although laws are enacted to protect people from passive smoking in public places in Turkey, there are serious problems related to their implementation. Abundant evidence shows that protecting people from second-hand smoking reduces the associated health hazards to smokers and second-hand smokers. In Turkey, smoking is legally banned in all indoor public places, including educational facilities and their premises and businesses in the entertainment sector such as restaurants, cafes, and pubs. First of all, exposure to second-hand smoking at home and work is still very high in Turkey despite the improvements in the last couple of years. In particular, national household surveys indicate that the restrictions on smoking in certain places are occasionally violated in Turkey. The reason behind the violations is the lack of controls and inspections to enforce the bans. To better apply the restrictions and to protect people from tobacco smoke, Turkey should enhance compliance to the bans and enhance its control mechanism for smoke-free public areas. One of the reasons for non-compliance may be the unclear nomination of the relevant authorities who are responsible for seeing that the regulations and bans are adhered to, and applying the designated sanctions. Legislation should not only be written in uncomplicated language but include clear identification and nomination of the responsible bodies to maximize the effectiveness of the ban. In order to contribute to policymaking efforts, the blueprints of

implementation of laws can be studied considering technical and field aspects in the future. Another research area would be to compare the implementation of these rules and regulations enacted in Turkey with countries which have been more successful in that respect.

- 215. More progress is needed in offering help to quit smoking. Cessation of smoking is crucial since the health benefits of doing so are ample and immediate. In this context, Turkey has been implementing several policy tools ranging from brief advice by health professionals to, media campaigns, national toll-free quitlines, web pages to cessation clinics with free NRTs regarding the promotion of tobacco cessation and tobacco dependence treatment in the last decade. However, despite the free availability of these services in Turkey, the share of successful quitters is very low in Turkey, and the majority of the smokers who were able to quit smoking do so without assistance. In this context, alternatives available to those who have decided to quit are either not well-known in the society, or not known to be effective, or not readily available. Therefore, there is a clear need for more research on cessation assistance in Turkey, on its cost effectiveness, and the reasons behind successes and failures. More research is needed on the behavior, attitudes, and knowledge of health professionals related to tobacco products and their alternatives. It is important to know if they possess the most recent scientific knowledge on cessation methods. Furthermore, current smokers are not very eager to quit in Turkey. Since more than half of the current smokers do not want to stop using tobacco products, there is apparently the need for additional policies to ensure that new generations do not start tobacco at all, in order to be able to decrease addiction rates in the future. In addition, there is a need for special cessation programs targeting minors in Turkey. In particular, to our knowledge as of date, there is no strict protocol to be followed such as including students to cessation services if a minor student is caught while smoking within school premises.
- 216. Turkey still needs extra effort to convey warnings about the dangers of tobacco use, particularly in the case of passive smoking. Public education through pack warnings and mass media about the health dangers of tobacco use (smoking as well as exposure to second-hand smoke) can influence an individual's decision to start or continue smoking. Considering that the EU legislation mandates combined text and pictorial warnings to cover 65 percent of the package surface, with 85 percent, Turkey is one of the best practice countries in the world. Also, Turkey has made substantial progress in broadcasting mass media campaigns. Combined with national campaigns, TV ads are the main channel to continuously convey warning about the dangers of tobacco use in Turkey. Yet, considering that 10 percent of adults do not agree with the adverse health consequences of tobacco use, Turkey still needs extra effort to convey the warnings about the dangers of tobacco use. More importantly, there is a need for policy effort to raise awareness about the adverse impacts of exposure to second-hand smoking in Turkey since 15.6 percent of adults are unaware of the particular adverse health consequences of passive smoking. From another perspective, an overwhelming majority of smokers stated that they do not want to quit despite being aware of the adverse health consequences of tobacco use. However, what is not clear is whether such statements are merely reiterations of what people have been told or whether people actually know the expected future health costs of smoking and use it in their decisions. Accordingly, comparison of the cost-effectiveness of these campaigns both in Turkey, and in countries where smoking prevalence has gone down, together with the comparison of content and the targeted groups can be another research area for Turkey.

- 217. Turkey has a comprehensive ban on tobacco advertisement, promotion and sponsorship. Yet, more policy efforts are needed to limit the minors' access to tobacco products in Turkey. In Turkey, nearly all aspects of TAPS are heavily regulated. Nonetheless, in the case of enforcing bans, Turkey has a very weak performance in limiting the minors' access to tobacco products according to GYTS 2017 findings. Similar to policies implemented for protecting people from second-hand smoking, more studies are needed to analyze the implementation of enforced laws considering both TAPS activities and other enforcements in Turkey. Another question that is worthy of future research is how to share scientific knowledge on conventional and alternative products with the public effectively, so that people choose their behavior based on correct information.
- **218.** Despite the availability of such a comprehensive international legal tool as the WHO FCTC and MPOWER for the development and enactment of tobacco control policies, the effectiveness of their implementation in the countries that adopted them have not all been up to expectations. Turkey is the prime example of this since it is the first country to have adopted not only all the MPOWER measures, but with full compliance. The reasons for the varying performance behind the tobacco control policies implemented in the countries that have adopted these policies can be attributed to the complexity of tobacco control policy design, as well as the characteristics of the country for which these policies are developed. The Turkish case has been assessed throughout the report. More research on the economics of curbing smoking in Turkey is needed to investigate the particular problems regarding compliance with and enforcement of adopted rules and regulations.

References

- Asen, Elke. "Cigarette Taxes in Europe." Tax Foundation, 2019. https://taxfoundation.org/Cigarette-Tax-Europe-2019/.
- Aslan, Dilek. "Günün Konusu: Tütün Kullananların COVID-19 Riski." İstanbul Tabip Odası, 2020. https://www.istabip.org.tr/koronavirus/haberler/5607/gunun-konusu-tutun-lullananlarin-covid-19riski.
- Atuk, Oğuz, and Mustafa Utku Özmen. "Firm Strategy, Consumer Behavior and Taxation in Turkish Tobacco Market," 2015. https://www.tcmb.gov.tr/wps/wcm/connect/807f9f50-f750-4641-883ab8aff9579dec/wp1518.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CACHEID=ROOTWORKSPACE-807f9f50-f750-4641-883a-b8aff9579dec-m3fw6d-.
- Aungkulanon, Suchunya, Siriwan Pitayarangsarit, Kanitta Bundhamcharoen, Chutima Akaleephan, Virasakdi Chongsuvivatwong, Ratsida Phoncharoen, and Viroj Tangcharoensathien. "Smoking Prevalence and Attributable Deaths in Thailand: Predicting Outcomes of Different Tobacco Control Interventions." *BMC Public Health* 19, no. 1 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7332-x.
- Barnsley, Kathryn. "Australia: Progress on Tasmania's Tobacco Free Generation Legislation." BMJ, 2016. https://blogs.bmj.com/tc/2016/07/15/australia-progress-on-tasmanias-tobacco-freegeneration-legislation/.
- Beaglehole, Robert, Ruth Bonita, Derek Yach, Judith Mackay, and K. Srinath Reddy. "A Tobacco-Free World: A Call to Action to Phase Out the Sale of Tobacco Products by 2040." *The Lancet*, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60133-7.
- Benowitz, Neal L. "Pharmacology of Nicotine: Addiction, Smoking-Induced Disease, and Therapeutics." Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology 49 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.48.113006.094742.
- Benowitz, Neal L., and Jack E. Henningfield. "Establishing a Nicotine Threshold for Addiction The Implications for Tobacco Regulation." *New England Journal of Medicine* 331, no. 2 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199407143310212.
- Berrick, A. J. "The Tobacco-Free Generation Proposal." *Tobacco Control* 22, no. SUPPL. 1 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2012-050865.
- Bilir, Nazmi, Banu Çakır, Elif Dağlı, Toker Ergüder, and Zeynep Önder. "Tobacco Control in Turkey." Copenhagen, 2009. http://ssuk.org.tr/eski_site_verileri/pdf/TobaccoControlinTurkey.pdf.
- Bolger, Rose. "Tasmania's Health Minister Describes as Unworkable a Bill to Outlaw Cigarette Sales to Those Born in, or After, Year 2000." ABC News, 2015. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-03-24/tasmanias-health-minister-says-proposed-smoking-bill-wort-work/6344602.
- Borland, R. "A Strategy for Controlling the Marketing of Tobacco Products: A Regulated Market Model." *Tobacco Control* 12, no. 4 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.12.4.374.
- Branston, Robert J., and Anna B. Gilmore. "The Case for Ofsmoke: The Potential for Price Cap Regulation of Tobacco to Raise £500 Million Per Year in the UK." *Tobacco Control* 23, no. 1 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2011-050385.
- Bullen, Christopher, Colin Howe, Murray Laugesen, Hayden McRobbie, Varsha Parag, Jonathan Williman, and Natalie Walker. "Electronic Cigarettes for Smoking Cessation: A Randomised

Controlled Trial." *The Lancet* 382, no. 9905 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61842-5.

- Cakmak, Vahide, and Nursan Cinar. "Turkish Adolescent Perceptions About the Effects of Water Pipe Smoking on Their Health." *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention* 16, no. 18 (2016). https://doi.org/10.7314/APJCP.2015.16.18.8645.
- Çakmaklı, Cem, Selva Demiralp, Sevcan Yeşiltaş, and Muhammed A. Yıldırım. "How Do Indirect Taxes
on Tobacco Products Affect Inflation." İstanbul, 2018.
https://eaf.ku.edu.tr/sites/eaf.ku.edu.tr/files/erf_wp_1811.pdf.
- Callard, C., D. Thompson, and N. Collishaw. "Transforming the Tobacco Market: Why the Supply of Cigarettes Should Be Transferred From For-Profit Corporations to Non-Profit Enterprises with a Public Health Mandate." *Tobacco Control*, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2005.011353.
- Canadian Cancer Society. "Cigarette Package Health Warnings Sixth Edition," 2018. https://fctc.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/10/CCS-international-warnings-report-2018-English-2-MB.pdf.

—. "History of Tobacco Control," n.d. https://www.cancer.ca/en/get-involved/take-action/what-we-are-doing/tobacco-control/history/?region=on.

- Caponnetto, Pasquale, Davide Campagna, Fabio Cibella, Jaymin B. Morjaria, Massimo Caruso, Cristina Russo, and Riccardo Polosa. "Efficiency and Safety of an Electronic Cigarette (ECLAT) as Tobacco Cigarettes Substitute: A Prospective 12-Month Randomized Control Design Study." *PLOS ONE* 8, no. 6 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066317.
- Çelik, Ismail, Deniz Yüce, Mutlu Hayran, Mustafa Erman, Saadettin Kiliçkap, Turan Buzgan, Hasan Irmak, Nihat Tosun, Murat Tuncer, and Recep Akdağ. "Nationwide Smoking Cessation Treatment Support Program - Turkey Project." *Health Policy* 119, no. 1 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2014.11.017.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). "Coronavirus Disease 2019: People with Certain Medical Conditions," n.d. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/groups-at-higher-risk.Html.

—. "Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Public Use Data File Codebook: Turkey 2016," 2019. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DownloadAttachment.aspx?DatasetI D=3410.

—. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData)," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/Gtssdatasurveyresources/Ancillary/Datareports.Aspx?Caid=2.

 —. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)

 Mexico
 National
 Fact
 Sheet
 2009,"
 n.d.

 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

-----. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Mexico National Fact Sheet 2015," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

 $https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID{=}2.$

---. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Russian Federation National Fact Sheet 2009," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

—. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)RussianFederationNationalFactSheet2016,"n.d.https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

—. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)RussianFederationNationalMicroData2009,"n.d.https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=2.

. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)
 Russian Federation National Micro Data 2016," n.d.
 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=2.

 -----. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)

 Turkey
 National
 Fact
 Sheet
 2008,"
 n.d.

 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)
 Turkey National Fact Sheet 2016," n.d.
 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

----. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2008," 2011. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=2.

 —. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)

 Turkey
 National
 Micro
 Data
 2012,"
 2014.

 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=2.

----. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) Turkey National Micro Data 2016," 2017. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DownloadAttachment.aspx?DatasetI D=3410.

 —. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)

 Ukraine
 National
 Fact
 Sheet
 2010,"
 n.d.

 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)
 Ukraine National Fact Sheet 2017," n.d.
 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

 . "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS)

 Ukraine
 National
 Micro
 Data
 2010,"
 n.d.

 https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=2.

----. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey

(GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2003," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

—. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2005," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

—. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2009," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

——. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2012," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

—. "Global Tobacco Surveillance System Data (GTSSData) Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) Turkey (Ages 13-15) Fact Sheet 2017," n.d. https://nccd.cdc.gov/GTSSDataSurveyResources/Ancillary/DataReports.aspx?CAID=1.

—. "Outbreak of Lung Injury Associated with E-Cigarette Use, or Vaping," n.d. https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/severe-lung-disease.html.

—. "Smoking and Tobacco Use: Global Tobacco Control," n.d. https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/global/index.htm.

- CEPII. "BACI International Trade Database at the Product-Level," 2020. http://www.cepii.fr/cepii/en/bdd_modele/presentation.asp?id=37.
- Çetinkaya, Volkan, and Patricio V. Marquez. "Tobacco Taxation in Turkey : An Overview of Policy Measures and Results." Washington, DC., 2017. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/26387/114284-WP-PUBLIC-TT-Turkey-041117-FINAL.pdf?sequence=5&isAllowed=y.
- Chaloupka, Frank, J., Sarah Matthes Edwards, Hana Ross, Megan Diaz, Marin Kurti, Xin Xu, Mike Pesko, David Merriman, and Hillary DeLong. "Preventing and Reducing Illicit Tobacco Trade in the United States," 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/Tobacco/Stateandcommunity/Pdfs/Illicit-Trade-Report-121815-508tagged.Pdf.
- Chapman, S., and B. Freeman. "Regulating the Tobacco Retail Environment: Beyond Reducing Sales to Minors." *Tobacco Control* 18, no. 6 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2009.031724.
- Chapman, Simon. "The Case for a Smoker's License." *PLoS Medicine* 9, no. 11 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001342.
- Cohen, Sheldon, Edward Lichtenstein, James O Prochaska, Joseph S Rossi, Ellen R Gritz, Clifford R Carr, C Tracy Orleans, et al. "Debunking Myths about Self-Quitting: Evidence From 10 Prospective Studies of Persons Who Attempt to Quit Smoking by Themselves." *American Psychologist* 44, no. 11 (1989). https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2589730/.
- Consumer Advocates for Smokefree Alternatives Association (CASAA). "Historical Timeline of Vaping and Electronic Cigarettes." Consumer Advocates for Smokefree Alternatives Association, n.d. https://casaa.org/Historical-Timeline-Of-Electronic-Cigarettes/.
- Cotti, Chad D., Charles J. Courtemanche, Johanna Catherine Maclean, Erik T. Nesson, F. Michael Pesko, and Nathan Tefft. "The Effects of E-Cigarette Taxes on E-Cigarette Prices and Tobacco Product Sales: Evidence from Retail Panel Data." *NBER Working Paper*, 2020.

https://www.nber.org/papers/w26724.

- Daynard, Richard A. "Doing the Unthinkable (and Saving Millions of Lives)." *Tobacco Control*, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2008.028308.
- Deen, Frederieke S. van der, Nick Wilson, Christine L. Cleghorn, Giorgi Kvizhinadze, Linda J. Cobiac, Nhung Nghiem, and Tony Blakely. "Impact of Five Tobacco Endgame Strategies on Future Smoking Prevalence, Population Health and Health System Costs: Two Modelling Studies to Inform the Tobacco Endgame." *Tobacco Control* 27, no. 3 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053585.
- Delipalla, Sofia, and Michael Keen. "The Comparison Between Ad Valorem and Specific Taxation Under Imperfect Competition." *Journal of Public Economics* 49, no. 3 (1992): 351–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-2727(92)90073-O.
- Deloitte Verginet. "2013/84 Sayılı Vergi Sirküleri," 2013. https://www.verginet.net/Sirkuler/2013yili84.pdf.
- Dünya Gazetesi. "Sigara Zammına Enflasyon Freni," June 30, 2017. https://www.dunya.com/ekonomi/sigara-zammina-enflasyon-freni-haberi-370252.
- ECigIntelligence. "Bans for RRP Products around the World Data," 2018.
- Esendagli, Dorina Rama, Ozge Ozturk, Derya Ersel, Seha Akduman, Deniz Koksal, and Salih Emri. "Short-Term Results of a Registered Smoking Cessation Clinic with Patients Referred by ALO 171 Quitline." *European Respiratory Journal*, 2014. https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/44/Suppl_58/P4160.
- Euromonitor International. "Passport Statistics," 2021. https://www.portal.euromonitor.com/portal/statisticsevolution/index.
- European Commission. "Health Warnings," n.d. https://ec.europa.eu/health/tobacco/law/pictorial_en.
- Eurostat. "HICP Item Weights," n.d. https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=prc_hicp_inw&lang=en.
- Farsalinos, Konstantinos E., and Riccardo Polosa. "Safety Evaluation and Risk Assessment of Electronic Cigarettes as Tobacco Cigarette Substitutes: A Systematic Review." *Therapeutic Advances in Drug Safety* 5, no. 2 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1177/2042098614524430.
- Farsalinos, Konstantinos E., Giorgio Romagna, Dimitris Tsiapras, Stamatis Kyrzopoulos, and Vassilis Voudris. "Characteristics, Perceived Side Effects and Benefits of Electronic Cigarette Use: A Worldwide Survey of More than 19,000 Consumers." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 11, no. 4 (2014). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110404356.

FdiMarkets. "FDI Database," 2019.

- Fernández, Esteve, Marcela Fu, and Jose M. Martínez-Sánchez. "Exposure to Aerosol from Smoking-Proxy Electronic Inhaling Systems: A Systematic Review." Barcelona, 2016. https://www.who.int/tobacco/industry/product_regulation/BackgroundPapersENDS1_4november. pdf.
- Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. "WHO's World No Tobacco Day Award to Finland Amount of Finns Smoking Daily Has Reduced by Half in the 2000s," 2020. https://thl.fi/en/web/thlfi-en/-/who-s-world-no-tobacco-day-award-to-finland-amount-of-finns-smoking-daily-has-reduced-by-half-in-the-2000s.
Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). "FAO Database," 2020. http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/.

- Gartner, Coral E., Wayne D. Hall, and Ron Borland. "How Should We Regulate Smokeless Tobacco Products and E-Cigarettes?" *The Medical Journal of Australia* 197, no. 11 (2012). https://doi.org/10.5694/mja12.10940.
- Goodchild, Mark, Nigar Nargis, and Edouard Tursan D'Espaignet. "Global Economic Cost of Smoking-Attributable Diseases." *Tobacco Control* 27, no. 1 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053305.
- Goodchild, Mark, Rosa Carolina Sandoval, and Itziar Belausteguigoitia. "Generating Revenue by Raising Tobacco Taxes in Latin America and the Caribbean." *Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública*, 2017. https://doi.org/10.26633/rpsp.2017.151.
- GOV.UK. "Evidence Review of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Products 2018: Executive Summary," 2018. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/e-cigarettes-and-heated-tobacco-products-evidence-review/evidence-review-of-e-cigarettes-and-heated-tobacco-products-2018-executive-summary.
- ———. "Guidance COVID-19: Advice for Smokers and Vapers," 2020. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-advice-for-smokers-and-vapers/covid-19advice-for-smokers-and-vapers.
- Government of Canada. "Overview of Canada's Tobacco Strategy," n.d. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/publications/healthy-living/canada-tobacco-strategy/overview-canada-tobacco-strategy.html.

- Grana, Rachel A., Lucy Popova, and Pamela M. Ling. "A Longitudinal Analysis of Electronic Cigarette Use and Smoking Cessation." *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.187.
- Gray, Nigel. "The Future of the Cigarette and Its Market." *Lancet*, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16692-0.
- Güdek Gölçek, Şeyda, and Ali Gökhan Gölçek. "Erken Cumhuriyet Dönemi Tekel Uygulamaları: 1920-1950 Döneminde Tuz, İspirto ve İspirtolu İçkiler Ile Kibrit." *Cumhuriyet Tarihi Araştırma Dergisi* (CTAD) 15, no. 30 (2019): 253–88. http://www.ctad.hacettepe.edu.tr/15_30/9.pdf.
- Gümüştekin, Tuba. "Ülkemizdeki Tütün Kontrol Çalışmaları: Tütün ve Diğer Bağımlılık Yapıcı Maddelerle Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı Bilgi Notu." T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Havanı Koru Dumansız Hava Sahası, 2016. https://havanikoru.saglik.gov.tr/surec.html.
- GuncelFiyatları.Com. "2020 Sigara Fiyatları Zamlı Güncel Tam Listesi," 2020. https://www.guncelfiyatlari.com/sigara-fiyatlari/.
- Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies. "1983 Turkish Population and Health Survey." Ankara, 1987. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/1983_TPHS_report.pdf.
 - ——. "1988 Turkish Population and Health Survey." Ankara, 1989. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/1988_TPHS_report.pdf.
 - ——. "1993 Turkey Demographic and Health Survey." Ankara, 1994. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/93report.pdf.

—. "1998 Turkey Demographic and Health Survey." Ankara, 1999. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/1998_report.pdf.

----. "2018 Turkey Demographic and Health Survey." Ankara, 2019. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/tdhs2018/TDHS_2018_main_report.pdf.

---. "Turkey Demographic and Health Survey 2003." Ankara, 2004. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/tdhs03/TDHS_2003_main_report.pdf.

—. "Turkey Demographic and Health Survey 2008." Ankara, 2009. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/tdhs08/TDHS-2008_Main_Report.pdf.

—. "Turkey Demographic and Health Survey 2013." Ankara, 2014. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/tdhs13/report/TDHS_2013_main.report.pdf.

——. "Turkish Fertility Survey 1978. First Report Volume 1: Methodology and Findings." Ankara, 1978. http://www.hips.hacettepe.edu.tr/eng/1978_TFS_report.pdf.

- Hajek, Peter, Anna Phillips-Waller, Dunja Przulj, Francesca Pesola, Katie Myers Smith, Natalie Bisal, Jinshuo Li, et al. "A Randomized Trial of E-Cigarettes versus Nicotine-Replacement Therapy." *New England Journal of Medicine* 380, no. 7 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1808779.
- Halpern, Scott D., Michael O. Harhay, Kathryn Saulsgiver, Christine Brophy, Andrea B. Troxel, and Kevin G. Volpp. "A Pragmatic Trial of E-Cigarettes, Incentives, and Drugs for Smoking Cessation." New England Journal of Medicine 378, no. 24 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmsa1715757.
- Henningfield, Jack E., Neal L. Benowitz, John Slade, Thomas P. Houston, Ronald M. Davis, Scott D. Deitchman, and L. B. Bresolin. "Reducing the Addictiveness of Cigarettes." *Tobacco Control* 7, no. 3 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.7.3.281.

Henriksen, Lisa. "Comprehensive Tobacco Marketing Restrictions: Promotion, Packaging, Price and Place." *Tobacco Control*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2011-050416.

HM Revenue & Customs. "Tackling Illicit Tobacco: From Leaf to Light," 2015. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/ 418732/Tackling_illicit_tobacco_-_From_leaf_to_light__2015_.pdf.

- Hofverberg, Elin. "Sweden: New Tax on Electronic Cigarettes and Other Non-Tobacco Nicotine Products Takes Effect." Library of Congress, 2018. https://www.loc.gov/item/global-legalmonitor/2018-07-26/sweden-new-tax-on-electronic-cigarettes-and-other-non-tobacco-nicotineproducts-takes-effect/#:~:text=Article Sweden%3A New Tax on,cigarettes%2C took effect in Sweden.
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). "Country Profiles," n.d. http://www.healthdata.org/results/country-profiles.

—. "Financing Global Health 2017." Seattle, WA, 2018. http://www.healthdata.org/sites/default/files/files/policy_report/2018/IHME_FGH_2017_fullrepo rt.pdf.

-----. "Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study 2017," n.d. https://doi.org/10.6069/HEF2-0E04.

—. "Global Health Spending 1995-2017," n.d. http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/ihme-data/globalhealth-spending-1995-2017. ----. "Rethinking Development and Health: Findings from The Global Burden of Disease Study." Seattle, WA, 2016. http://www.healthdata.org/sites/default/files/files/policy_report/GBD/2016/IHME_GBD2015_rep ort.pdf.

International Monetary Fund (IMF). "International Financial Statistics Exchange Rates," 2021.

- Jeremias, N. Paul Jr. "Raising Tobacco Taxes: A Summary of Evidence from the NCI-WHO Monograph on the Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control." *World Health Organization (WHO)*, 2017. https://tobacconomics.org/files/research/397/Paul_World-Bank-Presentation_27-FEB-2017.pdf.
- Jha, Prabhat, Joy De Bayer, and Peter S. Heller. "Death and Taxes Economics of Tobacco Control." *Finance* & *Development* 36, no. 4 (2000). https://www.elibrary.imf.org/view/journals/022/0036/004/article-A012-en.xml.
- Karanfil, Neşe. "Sigaraya Zam Yok, İçkiye Var." *Hürriyet*, October 30, 2017. https://www.hurriyet.com.tr/ekonomi/sigaraya-zam-yok-ickiye-var-40628125.
- Keen, Michael. "The Balance Between Specific and Ad Valorem Taxation." *Fiscal Studies* 19, no. 1 (1998): 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-5890.1998.tb00274.x.
- Khoo, Deborah, Yvonne Chiam, Priscilla Ng, Aj Berrick, and Hn Koong. "Phasing-Out Tobacco: Proposal to Deny Access to Tobacco for Those Born From 2000." *Tobacco Control* 19, no. 5 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2009.031153.
- Legislative Council Secretariat of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China Research Office. "Fact Sheet: Health Effects of E-Cigarettes and Heated Tobacco Product," 2018. https://www.legco.gov.hk/Research-Publications/English/1718fs09-Health-Effects-Of-E-Cigarettes-And-Heated-Tobacco-Products-20180803-E.PdF.
- Levy, David T., Ron Borland, Eric N. Lindblom, Maciej L. Goniewicz, Rafael Meza, Theodore R. Holford, Zhe Yuan, et al. "Potential Deaths Averted in USA by Replacing Cigarettes with E-Cigarettes." *Tobacco Control* 27, no. 1 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2017-053759.
- Mackay, Judith, and Michael Eriksen. "Tobacco Atlas First Edition," 2002. https://www.who.int/tobacco/resources/publications/tobacco_atlas/en/.
- Magnusson, Roger S., and David C. Currow. "Could a Scheme for Licensing Smokers Work in Australia?" *Medical Journal of Australia* 199, no. 3 (2013). https://doi.org/10.5694/mja13.10229.
- Malone, Ruth E. "Tobacco Endgames: What They Are and Are Not, Issues For Tobacco Control Strategic Planning and a Possible US Scenario." *Tobacco Control*, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2012-050820.
- Marquizo, Adriana Blanco. "Tobacco Control During the COVID-19 Pandemic: How We Can Help." WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, 2020. https://www.who.int/fctc/secretariat/head/statements/2020/tobacco-control-during-covid-19pandemic/en/.
- McDaniel, Patricia A., Elizabeth A. Smith, and Ruth E. Malone. "The Tobacco Endgame: A Qualitative Review and Synthesis." *Tobacco Control*, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2015-052356.
- Munafò, Marcus. "Are E-Cigarettes Tobacco Products?" *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 21, no. 3 (2019). https://academic.oup.com/ntr/article/21/3/267/5041976.

Musk, Arthur William, and Nicholas Hubert De Klerk. "History of Tobacco and Health." *Respirology* 8, no. 3 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1843.2003.00483.x.

- Nargis, Nigar, A. K.M.Ghulam Hussain, Mark Goodchild, Anne C.K. Quah, and Geoffrey T. Fong. "A Decade of Cigarette Taxation in Bangladesh: Lessons Learnt for Tobacco Control." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 97, no. 3 (2019): 221–29. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.18.216135.
- National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine (NASEM). "Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes." Washington, DC., 2018. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/24952/public-health-consequences-of-e-cigarettes.
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. "Vaping Devices (Electronic Cigarettes) DrugFacts," n.d. https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/vaping-devices-electronic-cigarettes.
- NPAmatem Bağımlılık Merkezi. "Tütün Bağımlılığı," n.d. https://npistanbul.com/amatem/tutunbagimliligi.
- OECD. "Health Expenditure," n.d. https://www.oecd.org/els/health-systems/health-expenditure.htm.

—. "Non-Medical Determinants of Health: Tobacco Consumption," n.d. https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?queryid=30127.

- Official Journal of the European Union. Directive 2014/40/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council (2014). https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014L0040&from=EN.
- Önder, Zeynep. "The Economics of Tobacco in Turkey: New Evidence and Demand Estimates." Washington, DC., 2002. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/13733/multi0page.pdf?sequence=1 &isAllowed=y.
- Ozcebe, Hilal, Toker Erguder, Mehmet Balcilar, Pavel Ursu, Aaron Reeves, David Stuckler, Andrew Snell, Gauden Galea, Bente Mikkelsen, and Kristina Mauer-Stender. "The Perspectives of Politicians on Tobacco Control in Turkey." *European Journal of Public Health* 28 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/cky152.
- Pesko, F. Michael, Charles J. Courtemanche, and Johanna Catherine Maclean. "The Effects of Traditional Cigarette and E-Cigarette Taxes on Adult Tobacco Product Use." NBER Working Paper, 2019. https://www.nber.org/papers/w26017.
- Peters, Matthew. "Towards an Endgame for Tobacco." *Australian Family Physician* 41, no. 11 (2012). https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23145416/.
- Petit, Patrick, and Janos Nagy. "Fiscal Policy: How to Design and Enforce Tobacco Excises?," 2016. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/howtonotes/2016/howtonote1603.pdf.
- Pidd, Helen. "Doctors to Prescribe Cigarettes Under Plan." *The Sydney Morning Herald*, July 6, 2011. https://www.smh.com.au/lifestyle/health-and-wellness/doctors-to-prescribe-cigarettes-under-plan-20110705-1h0t8.html.
- Pisinger, Charlotta. "A Systematic Review of Health Effects of Electronic Cigarettes." *World Health Organization*, 2015. https://apps.who.int/tobacco/industry/product_regulation/BackgroundPapersENDS3_4November-.pdf?ua=1.

Proctor, Robert N. "Why Ban the Sale of Cigarettes? The Case for Abolition." Tobacco Control 22, no.

SUPPL. 1 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2012-050811.

- Public Health England. "E-Cigarettes: A New Foundation For Evidence-Based Policy and Practice," n.d. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/ 454517/Ecigarettes_a_firm_foundation_for_evidence_based_policy_and_practice.pdf.
- Radyo Televizyon Üst Kurulu (RTÜK). "Zorunlu Yayın Mevzuatı," n.d. https://www.rtuk.gov.tr/spot-filmler/3717/6964/zorunlu-yayin-mevzuati.html.
- Rodu, Brad, and Philip Cole. "Lung Cancer Mortality: Comparing Sweden with Other Countries in the European Union." Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 37, no. 5 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494809105797.
- Sahin, Sevil, and Nursan Cinar. "Perceptions of Turkish University Students About the Effects of Water Pipe Smoking on Health." *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention* 16, no. 11 (2015). https://doi.org/10.7314/APJCP.2015.16.11.4615.
- Satel, Sally. "Could China Ban Cigarette Smoking?" World Economic Forum, 2015. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2015/05/could-china-ban-cigarette-smoking/.
- Sert Karaaslan, Yeşim. "Sigarayı Bırakma Polikliniklerinden 2,5 Milyon Kişi Hizmet Aldı." Anadolu Ajansı, July 17, 2019. https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/saglik/sigarayi-birakma-polikliniklerinden-2-5milyon-kisi-hizmet-aldi/1533870.
- Sugarman, S. "No More Business as Usual: Enticing Companies to Sharply Lower the Public Health Costs of the Products They Sell." *Public Health* 123, no. 3 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2008.12.020.
- Sweanor, David. "Perspectives: Is It the Nicotine or the Tobacco?," n.d. https://www.who.int/bulletin/archives/78(7)943.pdf.
- Sweanor, David, Philip Alcabes, and Ernest Drucker. "Tobacco Harm Reduction: How Rational Public Policy Could Transform a Pandemic." *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2006.11.013.
- T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi. 4733 Sayılı Tütün, Tütün Mamülleri ve Alkol Piyasasının Düzenlenmesine Dair Kanun (2002). https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/MevzuatMetin/1.5.4733.pdf.
- T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Strateji ve Bütçe Başkanlığı. "On Birinci Kalkınma Planı (2019-2023)," 2019. https://www.sbb.gov.tr/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/OnbirinciKalkinmaPlani.pdf.
- T.C. Hazine ve Maliye Bakanlığı Gelir İdaresi Başkanlığı (GİB). (III) Sayılı Liste [4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununun (12/3) Maddesi Uyarınca Güncellenen Liste] (2019). https://www.gib.gov.tr/fileadmin/mevzuatek/otv_oranlari_tum/03_07_2019_III_sayili_liste.pdf.

—."BütçeGelirleri,"2020.https://www.gib.gov.tr/sites/default/files/fileadmin/user_upload/VI/GBG1.htm.2020.

- T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Afet ve Acil Durum Yönetimi Başkanlığı (AFAD), T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, and World Health Organization (WHO). "Health Status Survey of Syrian Refugees in Turkey. Non-Communicable Disease Risk Factors Surveillance among Syrian Refugees Living in Turkey," 2016. https://sbu.saglik.gov.tr/Ekutuphane/kitaplar/suriyeli mülteci ingilizce.pdf.
- T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Emniyet Genel Müdürlüğü Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele Daire Başkanlığı. "Kaçakçılık ve Organize Suçlarla Mücadele 2018 Raporu." Ankara, 2019.

https://www.egm.gov.tr/kurumlar/egm.gov.tr/IcSite/kom/YAYINLARIMIZ/TÜRKÇE/2018-RAPORU-TURKCE.pdf.

- T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı Göç İdaresi Genel Müdürlüğü. "Temporary Protection," n.d. https://en.goc.gov.tr/Temporary-Protection27.
- T.C. Resmi Gazete. 008/23 Sayılı 22.4.2008 Özel Tarihli Öleştirme Yüksek Kurulunun Kararı (2008). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/04/20080424-11.htm.

—. 1013 Sayılı 01.05.2019 Tarihli Bazı Bakanlar Kurulu Kararlarında Değişiklik Yapılması ve Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarları ile Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranlarına Esas Özel Tüketim Vergisi Matrahlarının Yeniden Belirlenmesi Hakkı (2019). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2019/05/20190501-1.pdf.

——. 1424 Sayılı 15.08.2019 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Hakkındaki Kararın Yürürlüğe Konulması Hakkında Karar (2019). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2019/08/20190815-16.pdf.

—. 2003/5141 Sayılı 08.01.2003 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununun Eki III Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallarla İlgili Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranlarının Tespitine Dair Karar (2003). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2003/01/20030108M1.htm.

—. 2004/6885 Sayılı 27.02.2004 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar (2004). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2004/02/20040227.htm#1.

—. 2004/7674 Sayılı 10.08.2004 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar (2004). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2004/08/20040810.htm#2.

—. 2004/7792 Sayılı 29.08.2004 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanuna Ekli III Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Hakkında Karar (2004). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2004/08/20040829M1.htm.

—. 2005/8392 Sayılı 27.01.2005 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I) ve (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Karar (2005). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2005/01/20050127-4.htm.

—. 2005/8410 Sayılı 01.02.2005 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Karar (2005). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2005/02/20050201-1.htm.

—. 2005/9145 Sayılı 28.07.2005 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Kararın Yürürlüğe Konulması Hakkında Karar (2005). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2005/07/20050728-1.htm.

—. 2006/29 Sayılı 07.10.2006 Tarihli Ulusal Tütün Kontrol Programı ile İlgili Başbakanlık Genelgesi (2006). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2006/10/20061007-8.htm.

—. 2007/11674 Sayılı 17.02.2007 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listede Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine İlişkin 25/7/2005 Tarihli ve 2005/9145 Sayılı Kararnamenin Eki Kararda Değişiklik Yapılmasına İlişk (2007). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2007/02/20070217-6.htm.

—. 2007/12756 Sayılı 02.11.2007 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I) ve (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine İlişkin Karar (2007). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2007/11/20071102-4.htm. —. 2008/13061 Sayılı 24.01.2008 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (III) Sayılı Listenin (B) Cetvelinde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine İlişkin Karar (2008). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/01/20080124-2.htm.

—. 2008/13835 Sayılı 02.07.2008 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I) ve (III) Sayılı Listenin (B) Cetvellerinde Yer Alan Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar (2008). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/07/20080702-3.htm.

—. 2008/6 Sayılı 16.05.2008 Tarihli 4207 Sayılı Kanun Hükümlerinin Uygulanması ile İlgili Başbakanlık Genelgesi (2008). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/05/20080516-10.htm.

—. 2009/15081 Sayılı 16.06.2009 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Katma Değer Vergisi ile Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranlarının Belirlenmesine Dair Karar (2009). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2009/06/20090616M1-1.htm.

—. 2009/15725 Sayılı 31.12.2009 Tarihli Motorlu Taşıtlar Vergisi Tutarları, Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranları, Maktu ve Asgari Maktu Vergi Tutarları ile Harçlar ve Damga Vergisi Nispet ve Tutarlarının Belirlenmesine İlişkin Karar (2009). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2009/12/20091231-3.htm.

— 2010/1435 Sayılı 25.02.2011 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I), (II), (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Belirlenmesi ile Bazı Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına İlişkin Karar (2011). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2011/02/20110225M2-1.htm.

—. 2011/2304 Sayılı 13.10.2011 Tarihli Kaynak Kullanımını Destekleme Fonu Kesintileri ve Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisine Dair Karar (2011). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2011/10/20111013-1-1.htm.

—. 2011/2343 Sayılı 26.10.2011 Tarihli 12/10/2011 Tarihli ve 2011/2304 Sayılı Bakanlar Kurulu Kararı ile Yürürlüğe Konulan, Kaynak Kullanımını Destekleme Fonu Kesintileri ve Bazı Mallarda Uygulanan?Özel Tüketim Vergisi ile İlgili Kararda Değişiklik Yapılması (2011). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2011/10/20111026-10.htm.

—. 2012/4116 Sayılı 01.01.2013 Tarihli Bazı Vergi Kanunlarında Yer Alan Tevkifat Nispetleri, Damga Vergisi ve Harç Oranları ile Bazı Mal ve Hizmetlere Uygulanan Çeşitli Vergi, Fon ve Kesintilere İlişkin Oran ve Tutarların Tespit Edilmesine Dair Karar (2013). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2013/01/20130101-1-1.pdf.

—. 2013/5761 Sayılı 01.01.2014 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Vergi ve Fonlara İlişkin Oran ve Tutarların Yeniden Tespit Edilmesine Dair Karar (2014). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2014/01/20140101-2.htm.

—. 2014/7127 Sayılı 01.01.2015 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oranları ile Maktu ve Asgari Maktu Vergi Tutarlarının Tespit Edilmesi Hakkında Karar (2015). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2015/01/20150101-7-1.pdf.

—. 2015/8353 Sayılı 01.01.2016 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Katma Değer Vergisi Oranlarının, Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarlarının ve Tütün Fonu Tutarlarının Belirlenmesi Hakkında Karar (2016). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2016/01/20160101-4.pdf.

—. 2016/9567 Sayılı 01.12.2016 Tarihli Bazı Malların Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarlarının Yeniden Belirlenmesi Hakkında Karar (2016). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2016/12/20161201-1.pdf.

—. 2018/11542 Sayılı 27.03.2018 Tarihli 4760 Sayılı Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanununa Ekli (I), (II) ve (III) Sayılı Listelerde Yer Alan Mallarda Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarları ile Oranlarının Belirlenmesi ve Bazı Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına (2018). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2018/03/20180327M3-1.pdf.

—. 2018/11999 Sayılı 30.06.2018 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanan Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarlarının Yeniden Tespit Edilmesi Hakkında Karar (2018). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2018/06/20180630-13.pdf.

—. 2149 Sayılı 25.02.2020 Tarihli Elektronik Sigara ve Benzeri Cihazlar ile Bazı Tütün Mamulleri ve Tütün Mamulünü Taklit Eder Tarzda Kullanılan Mamullerin İthaline İlişkin Karar (2020). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2020/02/20200225-23.pdf.

—. 2537 Sayılı 13.05.2020 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Tutarları Hakkında Karar (2020). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2020/05/20200513-16.pdf.

—. 25622 Sayılı 23.10.2004 Tarihli İnternet, Televizyon, Faks ve Telefon Gibi Elektronik Ticaret Araçları Kullanılarak Yapılan Tütün Mamulleri ve Alkollü İçki Satışlarına Dair Tebliğ (2004). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2004/10/20041023.htm#9.

—. 27506 Sayılı 27.02.2010 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Zararlarından Korumaya Yönelik Üretim Şekline, Etiketlenmesine ve Denetlenmesine İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Yönetmelikte Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Yönetmelik (2010). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2010/02/20100227-8.htm.

—. 27555 Sayılı 17.04.2010 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Tüketilmemesine ve Satışına İlişkin Yasal Uyarılar Hakkında Yönetmelik (2010). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2010/04/20100417-4.htm.

—. 28121 Sayılı 23.11.2011 Tarihli Tütün Bağımlılığı Tedavi ve Eğitim Birimleri Hakkında Yönetmelik (2011). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2011/11/20111123-1.htm.

—. 28541 Sayılı 27.01.2013 Tarihli Tütün Mamulleri ve Alkollü İçkilerin Satışına ve Sunumuna İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Yönetmelikte Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Yönetmelik (2013). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2013/01/20130127-10.htm.

—. 28660 Sayılı 28.05.2013 Tarihli Nargile Şişelerinin Üzerine Konulacak Sağlık Uyarılarına İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Tebliğ (2013). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2013/05/20130528-15.htm.

—. 29313 Sayılı 01.04.2015 Tarihli Girdi Bildirim ve Toksikolojik Veri Tablolarında Yer Alan Verilerin Değerlendirilmesine İlişkin Kurul Kararında Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Tütün ve Alkol Piyasası Düzenleme Kurulunun 11/3/2015 Tarihli ve 9010 Sayılı Kararı (2015). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2015/04/20150401-17.htm.

—. 30686 Sayılı 14.02.2019 Tarihli Bağımlılık ile Mücadele ile İlgili 2019/2 Sayılı Cumhurbaşkanlığı Genelgesi (2019). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2019/02/20190214-12.pdf.

—. 30701 Sayılı 01.03.2019 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Üretim Şekline, Etiketlenmesine ve Denetlenmesine İlişkin Usul ve Esaslar Hakkında Yönetmelik (2019). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2019/03/20190301-5.htm.

—. 4207 Sayılı 26.11.1996 Tarihli Tütün Ürünlerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesi ve Kontrolü Hakkında Kanun (1996). https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/MevzuatMetin/1.5.4207.pdf.

—. 4733 Sayılı 09.01.2002 Tarihli Tütün, Tütün Mamulleri, Tuz ve Alkol İşletmeleri Genel Müdürlüğünün Yeniden Yapılandırılması ile Tütün ve Tütün Mamullerinin Üretimine, İç ve Dış Alım ve Satımına, 4046 Sayılı Kanunda ve 233 Sayılı KHKde Değişiklik Yapılmasın (2002). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2002/01/20020109.htm.

—. 4760 Sayılı 12.06.2002 Tarihli Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu (2002). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2002/06/20020612.htm#1.

—. 5479 Sayılı 08.04.2006 Tarihli Gelir Vergisi Kanunu, Amme Alacaklarının Tahsil Usulü Hakkında Kanun, Özel Tüketim Vergisi Kanunu ve Vergi Usul Kanununda Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun (2006). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2006/04/20060408-1.htm.

—. 554 Sayılı 05.01.2019 Tarihli Bazı Mallara Uygulanacak Özel Tüketim Vergisi Oran ve Tutarlarının Yeniden Belirlenmesi Hakkında Karar (2019). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2019/01/20190105-8.pdf.

—. 5727 Sayılı 19.01.2008 Tarihli Tütün Mamullerinin Zararlarının Önlenmesine Dair Kanunda Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun (2008). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/01/20080119-1.htm.

—. 60 Sayılı 20.05.1983 Tarihli İktisadi Devlet Teşekkülleri ve Kamu İktisadi Kuruluşları Hakkında Kanun Hükmünde Kararname (1983). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/arsiv/18052.pdf.

—. 6322 Sayılı 15.06.2012 Tarihli Amme Alacaklarının Tahsil Usulü Hakkında Kanun ile Bazı Kanunlarda Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Kanun (2012). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2012/06/20120615-1.htm.

—. 6354 Sayılı 12.07.2012 Tarihli Sağlık Bakanlığı ve Bağlı Kuruluşlarının Teşkilat ve Görevleri Hakkında Kanun Hükmünde Kararname ile Bazı Kanun ve Kanun Hükmünde Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Kanun (2012). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2012/07/20120712-12.htm.

. 6487 Sayılı 11.06.2013 Tarihli Bazı Kanunlar ile 375 Sayılı Kanun Hükmünde Kararnamede
 Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun (2013).
 https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2013/06/20130611-1.htm.

—. 7151 Sayılı 05.12.2018 Tarihli Sağlıkla İlgili Bazı Kanun ve Kanun Hükmünde Kararnamelerde Değişiklik Yapılmasına Dair Kanun (2018). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2018/12/20181205-8.htm.

—. 87/11524 Sayılı 11.03.1987 Tarihli Tekel İşletmeleri Genel Müdürlüğü'nün "Tütün, Tütün Mamulleri, Tuz ve Alkol İşletmeleri Genel Müdürlüğü" Adı ile Yeniden Kurulması Hakkında Karar (1987). https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/arsiv/19397.pdf.

T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı. "2018-2023 Tütün Kontrolü Strateji Belgesi ve Eylem Planı," 2018. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/tutun-mucadele-bagimlilikdb/haberler/tutun_eylem_plani/Tutun_Kontrolu_Strateji_Belgesi_ve_Eylem_Plani.pdf.

—."2019-2023StratejikPlanı."Ankara,2019.https://sgb.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/35748/0/stratejikplan2019-2023pdf.pdf.

tepav | The Economics of Curbing Smoking in Turkey

—. "86696344/010 Sayılı Kanun Değişikliği," 2013. http://www.ssuk.org.tr/savefiles/saglik_bakanligi_genelgesi_4207_sayili_kanun_hukumlerinin_u ygulanmasi_01_08_2013.pdf.

-----. "Global Adult Tobacco Survey Turkey 2012." Ankara, 2014. https://havanikoru.saglik.gov.tr/dosya/dokumanlar/yayinlar/GATS-2012-ENG-25-07-2014.pdf.

——. "Health Services Utilization Survey in Turkey," 1993.

———. "National Burden of Diseases Study," 2003.

—. "Sağlık İstatistikleri Yıllığı 2018." Ankara, 2019. https://sbsgm.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/36134/0/siy2018trpdf.pdf.

—. "Sağlık İstatistikleri Yıllığı 2019." Ankara, 2021. https://sbsgm.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/40564/0/saglik-istatistikleri-yilligi-2019pdf.pdf.

——. "Tobacco Use in Turkey," 1988.

—. "Ulusal Tütün Kontrol ve Eylem Planı 2008-2012." Ankara, 2008. https://sbu.saglik.gov.tr/Ekutuphane/kitaplar/t15.pdf.

T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü. "Birim Faaliyet Raporu 2019." Ankara, 2019. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/birimler/izleme-degerlendirme-db/faaliyetraporu/2019_DDB_BRM_FAALYET_RAPORU.pdf.

—. "Sigara Bırakma Hizmetleri," n.d. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/tr/bagimliliklamucadelehaberler/sigara-birakma-hizmetleri.html.

- T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Sağlık Hizmetleri Genel Müdürlüğü. "COVID-19 Hastalığı İçin Risk Grubunda Olan Kronik Hastalıklar," 2020. https://dosyahastane.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/169995,cov-19hastpdf.pdf?0.
- T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Temel Sağlık Hizmetleri Genel Müdürlüğü. "Tütün Bağımlılığı İle Mücadele El Kitabı (Hekimler İçin)," 2010. https://havanikoru.saglik.gov.tr/dosya/dokumanlar/yayinlar/tutun-bagimliligi-el-kitabi-hekimler-icin.pdf.
- T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Tütün ve Alkol Dairesi Başkanlığı. "Sigara Üretimi, İthalatı, İç Satışı ve İhracatı," 2021. https://www.tarimorman.gov.tr/TADB/Belgeler/Tütün Mamulleri/A.6. Tutun_mamulleri_istatistikleri/2_sigara_uretim_ithalat_ihracat_satis.xlsx.

—. "T.C. Tütün ve Alkol Piyasası Düzenleme Kurumu Faaliyet Raporu 2017," 2018. https://www.tarimorman.gov.tr/TADB/Belgeler/Faaliyet Raporları/TAPDK_Faaliyet_2017.pdf.

—. "Tütün Mamulleri İstatistikleri," 2020. https://www.tarimorman.gov.tr/TADB/Menu/22/Tutun-Ve-Tutun-Mamulleri-Daire-Baskanligi.

T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı. "Ticaret Bakanlığı'ndan 'Elektronik Sigara'Ya Geçit Yok," 2019. https://ticaret.gov.tr/haberler/ticaret-bakanligindan-elektronik-sigaraya-gecit-yok.

—. "Ticaret Bakanlığı 2019 Yılı Faaliyet Raporu," 2020. https://ticaret.gov.tr/data/5e58fdaa13b8764dec3bf81d/TICARET_BAKANLIGI_2019YILI_FAA LIYET_RAPORU.pdf.

T.C. Ticaret Bakanlığı Gümrükler Genel Müdürlüğü. Yeni Nesil Tütün Mamülü (2019).

https://files.igmd.org.tr/doc/dokumanlar/yeni-nesil-tutun-mamulu(1).pdf.

- Tansel, Aysit. "Cigarette Demand, Health Scares and Education in Turkey." *Applied Economics* 25, no. 4 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1080/00036849300000060.
- TEPAV. "COVID-19 Sürecinde Tütün Ürünleri Kullanımı Anketi," 2020.
 - ——. "Tobacco and Tobacco Products in Turkey: Economic Impact Assessment Using Value Chain Approach," 2015.
- Thomson, George, Richard Edwards, Nick Wilson, and Tony Blakely. "What Are the Elements of the Tobacco Endgame?" *Tobacco Control* 21, no. 2 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2010.040881.
- Thomson, George, Nick Wilson, and Julian Crane. "Rethinking the Regulatory Framework for Tobacco Control in New Zealand." *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 2005. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15843834/.
- Timberlake, David S., Ulla Laitinen, Jaana M. Kinnunen, and Arja H. Rimpela. "Strategies and Barriers to Achieving the Goal of Finland's Tobacco Endgame." *Tobacco Control* 29, no. 4 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2018-054779.
- TMMOB Ziraat Mühendisleri Odası. "Tütün Raporu 2018," 2018. https://www.zmo.org.tr/genel/bizden_detay.php?kod=30641&tipi=38&sube=0.
- Trainer, Erin, Seana Gall, Abby Smith, and Kathryn Terry. "Public Perceptions of the Tobacco-Free Generation in Tasmania: Adults and Adolescents." *Tobacco Control* 26, no. 4 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053105.
- Ţurcanu, Ghenadie, Galina Obreja, and Ion Şalaru. "Costs, Health Effects and Cost-Effectiveness of Tobacco Control Strategies in the Republic of Moldova." World Health Organization (WHO), 2011. https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/157705/e96178.pdf.
- Türkiye Cumhuriyet Merkez Bankası (TCMB). "Ödemeler Dengesi İstatistikleri," 2020. https://www.tcmb.gov.tr/wps/wcm/connect/tr/tcmb+tr/main+menu/istatistikler/odemeler+dengesi +ve+ilgili+istatistikler/odemeler+dengesi+istatistikleri.
- Türkiye Esnaf ve Sanaatkarlar Konfederasyonu (TESK) Bilmediğin Gerçekler Var!" Kampanyası. "Kaçakçılık Suçlarıyla Mücadele," 2015. http://www.bilmedigingerceklervar.org/Kacakcilik-Suclariyla-Mucadele.
- Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK). "Adrese Dayalı Nüfus Kayıt Sistemi," n.d. https://biruni.tuik.gov.tr/medas/?kn=95&locale=tr.

—. "Bitkisel Üretim İstatistikleri," 2020. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=tarim-111&dil=1.

----. "Küresel Yetişkin Tütün Araştırması," n.d. http://www.turkstat.gov.tr/PreTablo.do?alt_id=1042.

—. "Sağlık Harcamaları İstatistikleri," 2019. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Saglik-Harcamalari-Istatistikleri-2018-30624.

—. "TÜİK Database," 2020. https://www.tuik.gov.tr/.

—. "Tüketici Fiyat Endeksi Ana Grup ve Madde Ağırlıkları (Türkiye)," n.d. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=enflasyon-ve-fiyat-106&dil=1.

----. "Tüketici Fiyat Endeksleri (2003=100)," n.d. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=enflasyon-ve-fiyat-106&dil=1.

----. "Türkiye Sağlık Araştırması," n.d. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=saglik-ve-sosyal-koruma-101&dil=1.

—. "Türkiye Sağlık Araştırması Mikro Veri Seti 2019: Meta Veri," 2020. https://www.tuik.gov.tr/media/microdata/pdf/turkiye-saglik-arastirmasi.pdf.

---. "Yıllık Sanayi ve Hizmet İstatistikleri," 2020. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=sanayi-114&dil=1.

TÜRMOB.08.07.2015/132-2SirkülerRapor(2015).https://turmob.org.tr/ekutuphane/detailPdf/ee9a0723-b7de-46a9-8cc9-f132a5a22719/_.(2015).

----. "1.07.2014/146-1 Sirküler Rapor," 2014. https://turmob.org.tr/ekutuphane/detailPdf/d8cb2710-388f-4116-8b51-2ac51c0d86f7/_.

——. "12.07.2016/87-1 Sirküler Rapor," 2016. https://turmob.org.tr/ekutuphane/detailPdf/c5e3b185-63b0-467a-b52e-275ca2b90f38/_.

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. "The Health Consequences of Smoking 50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General," 2014. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK179276/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK179276.pdf.
- U.S. National Cancer Institute and World Health Organization. "Monograph 21: The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control." *National Cancer Institute Tobacco Control Monograph 21.*, 2016. https://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/brp/tcrb/monographs/monograph-21.
- U.S Department of Health Education and Welfare. "Smoking and Health: Report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General of the Public Health Service," n.d. https://biotech.law.lsu.edu/cases/tobacco/nnbbmq.pdf.
- UK Royal College of Physicians. "Nicotine Without Smoke: Tobacco Harm Reduction," n.d. www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/nicotine-without-smoke-tobacco-harm-reduction.

UNHCR. "Operations: Turkey," n.d. https://reporting.unhcr.org/Turkey.

United Nations Comtrade. "UN Comtrade Database," 2020. https://comtrade.un.org/.

- United Nations Statistics Division. "Global Indicator Framework for the Sustainable Development Goals and Targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development," 2020. https://unstats.un.org/Sdgs/Indicators/Global indicator framework after 2020 review_Eng.Pdf.
- United Nations Treaty Collection. "4. WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control," 2003. https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=IX-4&chapter=9&clang=_en.
- Ursprung, W. W. Sanouri A., and Joseph R. DiFranza. "The Loss of Autonomy Over Smoking in Relation to Lifetime Cigarette Consumption." *Addictive Behaviors* 35, no. 1 (2010): 14–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.08.001.

- Uznay, Fatih, and Sevtap Gümüş. "The Underminers: Booming Illicit Trade of Roll Your Own and Waterpipe Tobacco in Turkey." *Turkish Thoracic Journal* 21, no. 4 (2020). https://doi.org/10.5152/TurkThoracJ.2019.18138.
- Walbeek, Corne van, and Samantha Filby. "Analysis of Article 6 (Tax and Price Measures to Reduce the Demand for Tobacco Products) of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control." *Tobacco Control* 28, no. 2 (2019): 97–103. https://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/28/Suppl_2/s97.
- WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. "Global Progress Report on Implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control 2018," 2018. https://www.who.int/fctc/reporting/WHO-FCTC-2018_global_progress_report.pdf.

-----. "Parties," n.d. https://fctc.who.int/protocol/overview/parties.

—."PriceElasticity,"2019.http://www.reep.uct.ac.za/sites/default/files/image_tool/images/405/Publications/Policy_Briefs/KH_BackToBasics%234_Price Elasticities_October2019.pdf.

-----. "The Solution to Illicit Trade," 2019. http://www.reep.uct.ac.za/sites/default/files/image_tool/images/405/Publications/Policy_Briefs/K H_BackToBasics%235_The Solution To Illicit Trade_October2019.pdf.

- Wilson, Nick, George W. Thomson, Richard Edwards, and Tony Blakely. "Potential Advantages and Disadvantages of an Endgame Strategy: A 'Sinking Lid' on Tobacco Supply." *Tobacco Control* 22, no. SUPPL. 1 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2012-050791.
- World Bank. "E-Cigarettes: Use and Taxation," 2019. http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/356561555100066200/pdf/E-Cigarettes-Use-and-Taxation.pdf.
- World Health Organization (WHO). "Basic Documents: Forty-Ninth Edition (Including Amendments Adopted up to 31 May 2019)." Geneva, 2020. https://apps.who.int/gb/bd/pdf_files/BD_49th-en.pdf.

—. "Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs)," n.d. https://www.who.int/data/gho/indicator-metadata-registry/imr-details/158.

----. "Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Electronic Non-Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS/ENNDS)," 2016. https://www.who.int/fctc/cop/cop7/FCTC_COP_7_11_EN.pdf?ua=1.

-----. "Enforce Bans on Tobacco Advertising, Promotion and Sponsorship," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/enforce/en/.

-----. "Finland - Action Plan to Make the Country Smoke-Free by 2040," 2014. https://www.who.int/fctc/implementation/news/news_Fin/en/.

----. "Global Adult Tobacco Survey Data, Turkey," n.d. https://www.who.int/teams/noncommunicable-diseases/surveillance/data/turkey.

—. "Global Health Risks: Mortality and Burden of Disease Attributable to Selected Major Risks." Vol. 87. Geneva, 2009. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.09.070565.

—. "Global NCD Target: Reduce Tobacco," 2016. https://www.who.int/beat-ncds/take-action/policy-brief-reduce-tobacco.pdf?ua=1.

—. "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 11 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Packaging and Labelling of Tobacco Products)," n.d. https://www.who.int/fctc/guidelines/article_11.pdf.

—. "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 13 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Tobacco Advertising, Promotion and Sponsorship)," n.d. https://www.who.int/fctc/guidelines/article_13.pdf?ua=1.

——. "Guidelines for Implementation of Article 6 of the WHO FCTC," 2014. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/145110/FCTC_COP6%285%29en.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

—. "Heated Tobacco Products: Information Sheet Second Edition," 2020. https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1271218/retrieve.

—. "Heated Tobacco Products (HTPs) Market Monitoring Information Sheet," n.d. https://apps.who.int/tobacco/publications/prod_regulation/htps-marketing-monitoring/en/index.html.

—. "History of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control," 2009. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44244/9789241563925_eng.pdf?sequence=1.

—. "Marketers of Electronic Cigarettes Should Halt Unproved Therapy Claims," n.d. https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2008/pr34/en/.

----. "NCD Microdata Repository," n.d. https://extranet.who.int/ncdsmicrodata/index.php/catalog/history/?sort_by=nation&sort_order=as c&per_page=600.

—. "Noncommunicable Disease Risk Behaviors Among Adults in the South-East Asia Region: Findings from STEPS and GATS," n.d. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/249588.

—. "Plain Packaging of Tobacco Products: Evidence, Design and Implementation," 2016. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/207478/9789241565226_eng.pdf?sequence=1.

---. "Protect People from Exposure to Second-Hand Smoke," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/protect/en.

----. "Raise Taxes on Tobacco," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/raise_taxes/en/index2.html.

—. "STEPwise Approach to Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance," n.d. https://www.who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/riskfactor/en/.

----. "STEPwise Approach to Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance (Steps): Turkey," n.d. https://www.who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/turkey/en/.

-----. "Taxation," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/economics/taxation/en/.

 https://www.who.int/tobacco/publications/en_tfi_tob_tax_chapter4.pdf.

—. "The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: An Overview," 2015. https://www.who.int/fctc/about/WHO_FCTC_summary_January2015.pdf.

———. "Tobacco: E-Cigarettes Q&A," n.d. https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/tobacco-ecigarettes.

-----. "Tobacco," n.d. https://www.who.int/health-topics/tobacco#tab=tab_1.

-----. "Tobacco Explained: The Truth about the Tobacco Industry...in Its Own Words," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/media/en/TobaccoExplained.pdf.

-----. "Tobacco Fact Sheet," n.d. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/tobacco.

----. "Tobacco Free Initiative: Turkey," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/healthwarningsdatabase/tur/en/.

---. "Turkey Global Adult Tobacco Survey Data," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/surveillance/survey/gats/tur/en/.

—."TurkeyImpactAssessment,"n.d.https://www.who.int/fctc/implementation/impact/Turkey.pdf?ua=1.n.d.

---. "Warn About the Dangers of Tobacco," n.d. https://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/warn/en/index1.html.

—. "WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control." Geneva, 2003. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42811/9241591013.pdf?sequence=1.

—. "WHO Global Report: Mortality Attributable to Tobacco." *Who Global Report*, 2012. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44815/9789241564434_eng.pdf?sequence=1&is Allowed=y.

—. "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Smoking 2000-2025 Second Edition," 2018. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/272694/9789241514170-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

—. "WHO Global Report on Trends in Prevalence of Tobacco Use 2000-2025 Third Edition." Geneva, 2019. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-global-report-on-trends-inprevalence-of-tobacco-use-2000-2025-third-edition.

—. "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use: Country Profile - Turkey." *World Health Organization*, 2019. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326043.

—. "WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic, 2019: Offer Help to Quit Tobacco Use," 2019. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241516204.

—. "WHO Statement: Tobacco Use and COVID-19," 2020. https://www.who.int/news/item/11-05-2020-who-statement-tobacco-use-and-covid-19.

—. "WHO Technical Manual on Tobacco Tax Administration," 2010. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44316/9789241563994_eng.pdf;jsessionid=1BC5 F020DEA672E846FA26A5ACB7CD7D?sequence=1.

-. "World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: Guidelines for

Implementation Article 5.3; Article 8; Articles 9 and 10; Article 11; Article 12; Article 13; Article14-2013Edition,"2013.https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/80510/9789241505185_eng.pdf?sequence=1.

---. "Years of Life Lost (Percentage of Total)," n.d. https://www.who.int/whosis/whostat2006YearsOfLifeLost.pdf?ua=1.

World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe. "Fact Sheet: Tobacco Taxation," n.d. https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/250738/140379_Fact-sheet-Tobacco-Taxation-Eng-ver2.pdf.

—. "Resources for Tobacco Use Control as Part of COVID-19 Response," 2020. https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/publications-and-technical-guidance/noncommunicable-diseases/resources-for-tobacco-usecontrol-as-part-of-covid-19-response.

—. "Tobacco Control and the Sustainable Development Goals," n.d. https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/tobacco/publications/2017/tobacco-control-and-the-sustainable-development-goals.

—. "Tobacco Control in Practice Article 6: Price and Tax Measures to Reduce the Demand for Tobacco," 2013. https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/233368/Tobacco-Control-in-Practice-Article-6.pdf.

---. "Tobacco Control Playbook." Copenhagen, 2019. https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/395687/Tobacco-Control-Playbookfinal.pdf.

----. "World No Tobacco Day," n.d. https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/tobacco/world-no-tobacco-day.

World Health Rankings: Live Longer Live Better. "Oral Cancer Death Rate by Country," n.d. https://www.worldlifeexpectancy.com/cause-of-death/oral-cancer/by-country.

YEŞİLAY. "Bırakabilirsin.Org," n.d. http://birakabilirsin.org/.

-----. "Projeler," n.d. https://www.yesilay.org.tr/tr/projeler.

Yılmaz Uğur, Candan. "Sigara Üzerinden Alınan Vergilerin Ters Esneklik Kuralı Bağlamında Analizi: Türkiye Üzerine Bir Uygulama." İstanbul Üniversitesi, 2020. http://nek.istanbul.edu.tr:4444/ekos/TEZ/ET001888.pdf.

Yürekli, Ayda, Zeynep Önder, Murat Elibol, Nejat Erk, Altan Cabuk, Mahir Fisunoglu, Sinan Fikret Erk, and J. Chaloupka, Frank. "The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Taxation in Turkey." Paris, 2010. https://www.who.int/tobacco/en_tfi_turkey_report_feb2011.pdf.

Yurtoğlu, Nadir. "Türkiye Cumhuriyeti'nde Tütün Tekeli ve Sigara Fabrikalarının Tarihsel Gelişimi (1923-1950)." *Akademik Tarih ve Düşünce Dergisi* 5, no. 17 (2018): 81–116. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/atdd/issue/40027/475958.

Zhang, Ping. "Economics of Tobacco Toolkit, Tool 5 : Understand and Evaluate the Impact of Tobacco Control Policies on Employment." Washington, DC., 2013. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/16266?locale-attribute=en.

Zheng, Yuqing, Chen Zhen, Daniel Dench, and James M. Nonnemaker. "U.S. Demand for Tobacco Products in a System Framework." *Health Economics (United Kingdom)* 26, no. 8 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.3384.

Annex 1. Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19 (Survey Questionnaire)

To whom it may concern,

Good afternoon/good evening, as the Istanbul Economic Research company, we have been conducting an opinion poll in Turkey with the participation of 1,500 individuals. Our research is a statistical one. The main objective of the study is to reveal the behavioral changes regarding the use of tobacco products during the COVID-19 period.

In accordance with the ethical principles of the research, your personal information will not be used in any way by specifically matching you as a person, but will be used only to compile general deductions. with your permission, I will ask you some questions that will take you 5 minutes. Thank you very much in advance for all your help.

Notes/explanations are given in red color for the interviewer and these explanations should not be read to the participant.

If asked, tobacco products are manufactured cigarettes, hand-rolled cigarettes, waterpipes, cigars, pipe, khi-yo, cheroot, waterpipe, chewing tobacco, snuff by keeping mouth/nose, betel quid with tobacco, and other tobacco containing products. This definition does not include electronic cigarettes.

| 1. How old are you? (Please insert a numerical value.) | | | |
|--|-------|---|--|
| | | | |
| 2. | Gend | er? | |
| | 1. 🗆 | Women | 2. 🗆 Men |
| 3. | In wh | nich province do you live? (Please enter the prov | ince's license plate number.) |
| 4. | What | is your educational level, as in the last school | s you graduated from? |
| | 1. 🗆 | Not literate | 6. \Box High school graduate |
| | 2. 🗆 | Literate without any graduation | 7. \Box Vocational school graduate |
| | 3. 🗆 | Elementary (primary) school graduate | 8. University graduate (Bachelor) |
| | 4. 🗆 | Primary education graduate | 9. \Box Master's Degree (Medical field and dental |
| | 5. 🗆 | Secondary (primary) school graduate | graduates included) 10. \Box PhD |
| 5. | What | t is your job? | |
| | 1. 🗆 | Civil servant | 5. C Retiree |
| | 2. 🗆 | Full-time private sector employee / self-em | nployed / $6. \square$ Housewife |
| | | craftsman / trader / business person | 7. Student |
| | 3. 🗆 | Periodically employed in temporary jobs (ag | griculture, 8. \Box Do not want to work |
| | 4 🗆 | construction, etc.) | 9. U Other |
| | 4. 🗆 | Not working and searching for work | |
| 6. | Do yo | ou have any of following health issues? (More t | han one option may be selected.) |
| | 1. 🗆 | Asthma | 7. Hypertension |
| | 2. 🗆 | Chronic lung diseases | 8. Hemoglobin disorders |
| | 3. 🗆 | Heart diseases | 9. \Box Diabetes |
| | 4. 🗆 | Liver diseases | $10. \Box$ Severe obesity |
| | 5. 🗆 | Chronic respiratory diseases | 11. \Box Immune deficiency |
| | 6. 🗆 | Chronic kidney disease being treated by dialysi | s 12. 🗌 Cancer |
| 7. | Duri | ng the COVID-19 period, meaning in March a | and thereafter, how has your total amount of household |
| | incon | ne changed? (Including benefits, salary, etc.) | |
| | 1. 🗆 | Increased 2. Decrea | ased $3. \square$ No change |
| | | | |

tepav | The Economics of Curbing Smoking in Turkey

| 5. Do y | | | the right of setting COVID 109 |
|--|--|---|--|
| 1 | ou think that using to | bacco products increases | the risk of getting COVID-19? |
| I. 🗆 | Yes | 2. 🗆 No | $3. \square$ Do not know |
|). Do y | ou think that tobacco | product use will negative | ely affect the course of the disease if you get COVID |
| 1. 🗆 | Yes | 2. 🗆 No | 3. \Box Do not know |
| 0 How | often did vou use tob | acco products before CC | VID-19 as in hefore March? |
| 1 | Never used (If so cor | acco products before CO | $A \square$ Had quit and continue to do so (If so que |
| $1. \square$ | Used daily | clude the survey.) | 4. \square 11ad quit and continue to do so (11 so, ques |
| 3 | Occasionally used in | ot daily | concluded. |
| 5. 🗆 | Occasionany used, in | Jt daily | 5. \Box Tried a few times |
| 1. Whie | ch statements best d | escribes your tobacco | use during the COVID-19 period, as in March |
| there | eafter? | | |
| 1. 🗆 | Never used and wil | l continue to do so (If | so,5. Only tried a few times (If so, only questions 1) |
| • | conclude the survey.) | 1 '1 | 14 are asked and survey is concluded.) |
| 2. 🗆 | Started/continue to u | se daily | 6. Had quit and continue to do so (if so, question |
| 3. 🗆 | Started/continue occa | isional use | 13, 14, and 22 are asked and the surve |
| 4. ⊔ | Quit during this perio | and continue to do so | concluded.) |
| 2. How | old were vou when vo | ou first tried tobacco? (P | lease enter a numerical value.) |
| | | × | |
| 2 In th | a nast did you use to | haaaa nuadwata uaawlaub | u on a daily basis? (De not sel te these mhe anoma de |
| S. In th | te past, ald you use to | bacco products regulariy | y on a daily basis? (Do not ask to those who answer da |
| | | | 2 \square No (Decode to constitute 15) |
| 1. 🗆 | 168 | | 2. In (Proceed to question 15.) |
| A Atw | hat ago did you bogin | using tobacco products | regularly on a daily basis? (Plasse onter a numerical v |
| | | | |
| 5 Duri | ng COVID-10 as in N | Jarch and thereafter ha | w did your tobacco product use change? (Ask if onsy |
| daily | use or occasional in que | stion 11.) | w und your tobacco product use change. (Ask il ansy |
| 1. 🗆 | Increased | Decreased | 2. \Box No change |
| < 11 | | • • • • • • | |
| 6. How | has the change in you | ir income affected your | tobacco use during the COVID-19 period? (Do not : |
| answ | ered "No change" to que | stion 7.) (Do not ask if answ | wered "No change" to question 15.) |
| Ⅰ. ⊔ | Increased use | 2. Decre | ased use $3. \square$ No changes in use |
| 7. How | has the hikes on cigar | ette prices this May affe | cted your tobacco use? (Do not ask if answered "No cha |
| to qu | estion 15.) | | · · |
| 1 🗖 | | | |
| · · □ | Increased use | $2. \square$ Decre | ased use $3. \square$ No change in use |
| | Increased use | 2. Decre | ased use 3. I No change in use |
| 8. Wha | Increased use t is the <u>main</u> reason for | 2. Decre | o use during COVID-19? (Only take one option.) (Only |
| 8. Wha | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas | 2. Decre | ased use 3. No change in use |
| 8. Wha those | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacco ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 | ased use 3. Invo change in use b use during COVID-19? (Only take one option.) (Only 4. Invo change it is harmful to those in |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacco ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 ne | ased use 3. No change in use b use during COVID-19? (Only take one option.) (Onl 4. Because it is harmful to those in surroundings |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 3. | Increased use t is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacco ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 ne tte prices | ased use 3. No change in use b use during COVID-19? (Only take one option.) (Onl 4. Because it is harmful to those in surroundings 5. Other (Please specify) |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 3. 9. Wha | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the main reason for | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacco ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 ne tte prices r increasing your tobacco | ased use 3. No change in use b use during COVID-19? (Only take one option.) (Onl 4. Because it is harmful to those in surroundings 5. Other (Please specify) |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 2 3. 3 9. Wha | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increason | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacco ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 ne tte prices or increasing your tobacco your tobacco your tobacco to guestion 15.) | ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 2 3. 3 9. Wha those | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increason Stress and transien | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacce ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 ne tte prices or increasing your tobacce ed use" to question 15.) | ased use 3. No change in use o use during COVID-19? (Only take one option.) (Onl 4. Because it is harmful to those in surroundings 5. Other (Please specify) co use during COVID-19? (Only take one option.) (Onl |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 2 3. 3 9. Wha those 1. 2 | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increason Stress and tension Increased for a time | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacce ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 ne tte prices or increasing your tobacce ed use" to question 15.) | ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 2 3. 3 9. Wha those 1. 2 2. 2 | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increase Stress and tension Increased free time | 2. Decre or reducing your tobacce ed use" to question 15.) to COVID-19 ne tte prices or increasing your tobacce ed use" to question 15.) | ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 2 3. 3 9. Wha those 1. 2 2. 2 3. 3 | Increased use It is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare It is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increason Stress and tension Increased free time Buying more tobacco | 2. Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre<td> ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch</td> | ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 2 3. 3 9. Wha those 1. 2 2. 2 3. 3 0. Wha | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increases Stress and tension Increased free time Buying more tobacco | 2. Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre < | ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch |
| 8. Wha those 1. 2. 3. 9. Wha those 1. 2. 3. | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increase Stress and tension Increased free time Buying more tobacco at is your reason for co ing in question 11. | 2. Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre Decre<td> ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch</td> | ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch |
| 18. Whather the second state is a secon | Increased use at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "decreas To be more resistant Due to reduced incor Due to hike in cigare at is the <u>main</u> reason for who answered "increase Stress and tension Increased free time Buying more tobacco at is your reason for co- sing in question 11.) Cannot quit | 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 2. Decre 3. Decre 3. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. Decre 4. | ased use 3. No change in use 3. No ch |

21. Have you ever tried quitting tobacco products before COVID-19, as in before March? Yes 2. No (Proceed to question 23.) 1. 🗆 22. With which method or methods did you try to quit tobacco products? (More than one option may be selected.) On my own without any support 6. 🗆 With the support of ALO 171 Smoking 1. 🗆 2. 🗆 On my own with the support of using nicotine Cessation Line gum, nicotine patches, nicotine spray, etc. 7. 🗆 With the support of a family doctor 3. 🗆 On my own with the use of medications for With 8. 🗆 the support of a quitting smoking psychologist/psychiatrist 9. 🗆 4. 🗆 Under the supervision of a doctor, with the With the support of another specialist doctor support of nicotine gum, nicotine patches, 10. \Box Using a cigarette-like product (such as nicotine spray, etc. electronic cigarette) 5. 🗆 Under the supervision of a doctor, with the 11. \Box By going to a private cessation clinic use of medications for quitting smoking 12. \Box Other (Please specify) 23. Have you tried quitting tobacco products during the COVID-19 period, as in March and thereafter? (To be asked to those who answered daily or occasional use in question 11.) 1. 🗆 Yes 2. 🗆 No (Conclude survey.) 24. With which method or methods did you try to quit tobacco products during the COVID-19 period, as in March and thereafter? (More than one option may be selected.) On my own without any support With the support of ALO 171 Smoking 1. 🗆 6. 🗆 On my own with the support of using nicotine 2. 🗆 Cessation Line gum, nicotine patches, nicotine spray, etc. 7. 🗆 With the support of a family doctor 3. 🗆 On my own with the use of medications 8. 🗆 With the support of a quitting smoking psychologist/psychiatrist 4. 🗆 Under the supervision of a doctor, with the 9. 🗆 With the support of another specialist doctor support of nicotine gum, nicotine patches, 10. Using a cigarette-like product (such as nicotine spray, etc. electronic cigarette) 11. □ By going to a private cessation clinic 5. 🗆 Under the supervision of a doctor, with the use of medications for quitting smoking 12. \Box Other (Please specify)

Annex 2. Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19 (Survey Demographics)

TEPAV prepared the "Survey of Tobacco Use during COVID-19" to investigate the effects of the pandemic on tobacco consumption. Usually, the most preferred survey method by TEPAV is to conduct face-to-face interviews; however, because of the restrictions brought on by the pandemic, the survey was conducted via phone calls. In particular, the Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing (CATI) method was deployed. The Istanbul Economy Research Company interviewed 1721 participants from 12 provinces (Adana, Ankara, Balikesir, Bursa, Diyarbakir, Erzurum, Istanbul, Izmir, Kayseri, Malatya, Trabzon, and Zonguldak - to represent Turkey's 12 NUTS1 regions) of Turkey between May 21st and 25th, 2020. The random sample was designed and weighted to represent the Turkish population according to education, age, and gender breakdowns. The survey had a 95 percent confidence interval and +/- 2.5 margin of error. The detailed demographic breakdown of the participants is shown in Figure 78. In addition, Turkey's population dynamics are also shared in Figure 79.





Source: TEPAV Tobacco Products Use Survey during COVID-19, TEPAV calculations



Figure 79 - Distribution of Turkish official population according to their demographics, +18 population, %, 2019

Source: TurkStat, TEPAV calculations

Annex 3. About the Economic Policy Research Foundation of Turkey (TEPAV)

Established in 2004, TEPAV, is a non-partisan, non-profit think tank based in Ankara, Turkey. TEPAV serves public and private actors in Turkey and within the outlying region by generating policy advice and building platforms for public dialogue. TEPAV's interdisciplinary research focuses on concrete policy matters and presents the results in the form of feasible policy directions by conducting data-driven policy analysis.

TEPAV has completed more than two hundred projects since its establishment. Its research experience covers numerous sectors including agriculture, industry, and services. Furthermore, heightened focus is paid towards on macroeconomic performances, economic growth, regional development, urbanization, international economic integration, competitiveness, forced immigration policies, climate and energy policies, innovation policies, health policies, and governance policies within Turkey and in countries such as Armenia, Cyprus, Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Malaysia, Palestine, Tunisia, and regions such as the Western Balkans and Arab world, among others.

Our team continues to employ different analytical approaches in these studies (e.g. value chain approach, impact assessment, benchmarking studies, case studies, data mining, foreign trade analyses, and stakeholder engagement). In this capacity, TEPAV has worked with multilateral entities such as the World Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), International Labour Organization (ILO), United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), and the European Commission as well as with large multinationals such as Google, Microsoft, Intel, Amgen, etc.

TEPAV is proud to have undertaken the organization and the coordination of Think 20 (T20) outreach group in 2015, in tandem with Turkey's G20 presidency. Owing to TEPAV's Constitution Platform Project in 2012, TEPAV was selected as one of the three best think tanks in Europe by the Think Tank Oscars in 2014, held by the Spectator magazine in the UK. Since 2015, TEPAV has been ranked among the top fifty think tanks operating in the fields of foreign policy and international relations in the World Think Tank list published by the University of Pennsylvania.

TEPAV employs fifty full-time staff consisting of researchers with expertise in academia, diplomacy, public policymaking, and strategic consultancy. As a think tank and policy institute that has conducted projects in sixty countries across the world, TEPAV maintains a deep and wide-ranging network.

